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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”). These forward-looking statements may include terminology such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” 
“due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” “positioned,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” 
and other similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends, or the negative of these terms or comparable terminations. 
These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding future operating results, potential risks pertaining to these future 
operating results, future plans or prospects, anticipated benefits of proposed (or future) acquisitions, dispositions and new facilities, growth, the capabilities 
and capacities of business operations, any financial or other guidance, expected capital expenditures and all statements that are not based on historical fact, 
but rather reflect our current expectations concerning future results and events. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current 
expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about our business and the industry in which we operate, as well as the economy, trends and other future 
conditions, and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and are subject to changes based on various factors, some of which are beyond our control. 
Therefore, we can give no assurance that the results implied by these forward-looking statements will be realized. Furthermore, the inclusion of forward-
looking information should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any other person that future events, plans or expectations contemplated 
by the Company will be achieved. The following important factors, among others, could affect future results and events, causing those results and events to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements:

•  our ability to achieve profitability, and to maintain profitability, in the future;

• high volatility in the value attributable to our business;

• the rapidly changing regulatory and legal environment in which we operate, may lead to unknown future challenges to operating our business 
or which may subject our business to added costs and/or uncertainty regarding the ability to operate;

• the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, dependence on management and conflicts of interest;

• economic dependence on regulated terms of service and power rates; 

• dependency on continued growth in blockchain and bitcoin usage; 

• our ability to keep pace with technology changes and competitive conditions;

• security and cybersecurity threats and hacks;

• dependency on third parties to maintain our cold and hot wallets that hold our bitcoin;

• changes to bitcoin mining difficulty; 

• our reliance on a limited number of key employees; 

• changes in network and infrastructure; 

• our ability to successfully integrate our newly acquired operations; 

• the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic;

• our ability to execute on our business strategy; and

• other risks and uncertainties discussed under the caption “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For a further list and description of various risks, factors and uncertainties that could cause future results or events to differ materially from those expressed 
or implied in our forward-looking statements, see the Risk Factors and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations sections contained in this 
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document, and any subsequent reports on Form 10-Q and Form 8-K, and other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Given these risks and uncertainties, the reader should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we do 
not undertake any obligation to publicly update or correct any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that subsequently occur, or of 
which we hereafter become aware. You should read this document completely and with the understanding that our actual future results or events may be 
materially different from what we expect. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.
 
Information regarding market and industry statistics contained in this report is included based on information available to us that we believe is accurate, but 
that are not produced for purposes of securities filings or economic analysis. We have not independently verified any market, industry or similar data 
presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and cannot assure you of its accuracy or completeness. Forecasts and other forward-looking information 
obtained from these sources are subject to the same qualifications and the additional uncertainties accompanying any estimates of future market size, 
revenue and market acceptance of products and services. 
 
All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and we do 
not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements. As a result, investors should not place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” “CleanSpark, Inc.” and “CleanSpark” mean CleanSpark, Inc. 
and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.

Overview 
CleanSpark, Inc. is a leading bitcoin mining company incorporated in Nevada, whose common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market. The Company, 
through itself and its wholly owned subsidiaries, has operated in the bitcoin mining sector since December 2020. The only cryptocurrency we mine is 
bitcoin.  From March 2014 to June 30, 2022, we provided advanced energy technology solutions to commercial and residential customers to solve modern 
energy challenges in the alternative energy sector. As of June 30, 2022, we deemed our energy operations to be discontinued operations due to our strategic 
decision to strictly focus on its bitcoin mining operations and divest of our energy assets.
 
We are currently working on developing a long-term sustainability and clean energy plan with respect to our bitcoin mining operations. We are using clean 
and renewable energy resources that we currently have reasonable access to in our bitcoin mining locations in order to further support our sustainability 
efforts.

Lines of Business  

Bitcoin Mining 
Through CleanSpark, Inc and our wholly owned subsidiaries ATL Data Centers LLC (“ATL”), CleanBlok, Inc. (“CleanBlok”), CleanSpark DW, LLC, and 
CleanSpark GLP, LLC, we mine bitcoin. We entered the bitcoin mining industry through our acquisition of ATL in December 2020, acquired a second data 
center in August 2021, a third data center and mining equipment in August 2022, a fourth data center and mining equipment in October 2022, and have had 
a co-location agreement with New York-based Coinmint in place since July 2021. Bitcoin mining has now become our principal revenue generating 
business activity. We currently intend to continue to acquire additional facilities, equipment and infrastructure capacity to continue to expand our bitcoin 
mining operations.
 
In August 2022, we completed the acquisition of certain real property located in Wilkes County, Georgia, and approximately 3,400 S19 and S19j Pro series 
bitcoin miners capable of providing computing power of approximately 341,000 terahash per second. The property acquired provided us with a turn-key 
data center campus capable of supporting approximately 1 exahash per second of computing power, upon closing of the acquisition. We expect to expand 
the campus to support approximately 2.6 exahash per second of computing power (collectively, the “WAHA and SPRE Assets”).
 
In October 2022, we acquired the lease for 16.35 acres of real property located in Sandersville, Washington County, Georgia, all personal property situated
on such property, and 6,349 application specific integrated circuit miners (“ASICs”) capable of providing computing power of approximately 530,000 
terahash per second from subsidiaries of Mawson Infrastructure Group, Inc. The property acquired provided the Company with a turn-key data center 
campus capable of supporting approximately 2.4 exahash per second of computing power, upon closing of the acquisition. The company expects to expand 
the campus to support approximately 7.0 exahash per second of computing power (collectively, the “Mawson Assets”).

Bitcoin was introduced in 2008 with the goal of serving as a digital means of exchanging and storing value. Bitcoin is a form of digital currency that 
depends upon a consensus-based network and a public ledger called a “blockchain”, which contains a record of every bitcoin transaction ever processed. 
The bitcoin network is the first decentralized peer-to-peer payment network, powered by users participating in the consensus protocol, with no central 
authority or middlemen, that has wide network participation. The authenticity of each bitcoin transaction is protected through digital signatures that 
correspond with addresses of users that send and receive bitcoin. Users have full control over remitting bitcoin from their own sending addresses. All 
transactions on the bitcoin blockchain are transparent, allowing those running the appropriate software to confirm the validity of each transaction. To be 
recorded on the blockchain, each bitcoin transaction is validated through a proof-of-work consensus method, which entails solving complex mathematical 
problems to validate transactions and post them on the blockchain. This process is called 
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mining. Miners are rewarded with bitcoins, both in the form of newly-created bitcoins and fees in bitcoin, for successfully solving the mathematical 
problems and providing computing power to the network.
 
Factors such as access to computer processing capacity, interconnectivity, electricity cost, environmental factors (such as cooling capacity) and location 
play important roles in mining. As of the date of this filing, our operating mining units are currently capable of producing over 5.75 exahash per second 
(“EH/s”) of computing power. In bitcoin mining, “hashrate” is a measure of the computing and processing power and speed by which a mining computer 
mines and processes transactions on the bitcoin network.  We are actively expanding our bitcoin mining business and as of the date of this filing reached 
5.75 EH/s in computing power, which exceeded our target guidance as set in August, 2022 of reaching 5.0 EH/s in computing power by December 31, 
2022. We expect to continue increasing our computing power through 2023 and beyond as we expand our infrastructure at our owned sites in the State of 
Georgia, seek strategic acquisition targets, and through strategic co-location agreements. A company’s computing power measured in Hashrate is generally 
considered to be one of the most important metrics for evaluating bitcoin mining companies.

We obtain bitcoin as a result of our mining operations, and we sell bitcoin from time to time, to support our operations and strategic growth. We do not 
currently plan to engage in regular trading of bitcoin (other than as necessary to convert our bitcoin to U.S. dollars) or to engage in hedging activities 
related to our holding of bitcoin; however, our decisions to hold or sell bitcoin at any given time may be impacted by the bitcoin market, which has been 
historically characterized by significant volatility. Currently, we do not use a formula or specific methodology to determine whether or when we will sell
bitcoin that we hold, or the number of bitcoins we will sell. Rather, decisions to hold or sell bitcoins are currently determined by management by analyzing 
forecasts and monitoring the market in real time.

Through our wholly owned subsidiaries CSRE Properties, LLC, CSRE Property Management Company LLC, CSRE Properties Norcross, LLC, CSRE 
Properties Washington, LLC and CSRE Properties Sandersville, LLC we maintain real property holdings.

Markets, Geography and Major Customers 

Bitcoin is a global store and exchange of value used by people across the world as an asset and to conduct daily transactions. Mining bitcoin supports the 
global bitcoin blockchain and the millions of people that depend on it for economic security and other benefits. Strictly speaking, there is no customer 
market for mining bitcoin but we consider our mining pool operators as customers because they compensate us for providing processing power to the 
mining pool (see Item 1A. Risk Factors- “Our reliance on a third-party mining pool service provider for our mining revenue payouts may adversely affect 
an investment in us.”). We own and operate our own facilities and do not lease mining space to other mining companies or private individuals that mine. 
Our wholly-owned mining operations are located in the State of Georgia in the United States. We also have a relationship with a facility located in New 
York State that hosts a portion of our miners.

Working Capital Items

The bitcoin mining industry is highly competitive and dependent on specialized mining machines that have few manufacturers. Machine purchases require 
large down payments and miner deliveries often arrive many months after initial orders are placed. However, over the last 12 months, we have seen a 
significant improvement in the availability and pricing for bitcoin mining machines. The current market conditions have provided opportunities to purchase 
both new and used machines on the spot-market from other miners or retail-dealers of machines for better financial terms and delivery terms, but there can 
be no guarantee that such opportunities will continue on a long-term basis. Currently, we are purchasing more mining machines through re-sellers than 
direct through manufacturers. Whether re-sellers or manufacturers have better purchase and delivery terms or more/superior inventory available is likely to 
change from time to time.  

At the time we acquired ATL in December 2020, we had approximately 3,471 bitcoin mining units with application-specific integrated circuits (“ASICs”) 
in operation, which produced approximately 190 petahash/s. Since acquiring ATL, we have expanded its operations and purchased additional ASICs.  As of 
September 30, 2022, we had over 42,000 ASICs in daily operation, which are producing approximately 4.1 EH/s (approximately 58,500 producing 5.75 
EH/s as of the date of this filing)
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In addition to the 58,500 ASICs in operation as of the date of this filing, the Company has received and is in the process of installing approximately 1,000 
additional miners, and expect to receive an additional 6,400 miners in the coming weeks, which have been fully pre-paid. The Company expects to enter 
into additional agreements to purchase more miners and infrastructure in the coming year. The majority of miners we operate and expect to operate once 
received are the latest generation of miners manufactured by Bitmain, including the S19, S19-Pro, S19j-Pro and S19 XP.

Distribution, Marketing and Strategic Relationships

We have developed strategic relationships with well-established companies in key areas including traditional and renewable energy, infrastructure, 
construction, and bitcoin mining equipment procurement. In addition to operating our own mining facilities, we may engage with third-parties to host and 
operate mining equipment on behalf of the Company. 

Coinmint

On July 8, 2021, CleanBlok entered into a services agreement with Coinmint, LLC (“Coinmint”). Pursuant to the agreement, Coinmint has agreed to house 
and power certain of our cryptocurrency mining equipment in its facilities, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to mine bitcoin on our behalf. All 
bitcoin mining services performed by Coinmint are conducted using mining equipment owned by the Company. As of the date of this filing, we have  
deployed approximately 16,400 total miners pursuant to the co-location mining services agreement at Coinmint’s facility in New York.

Pursuant to the agreement, as consideration for the services, we pay Coinmint certain services fees, which are based on the operating costs incurred by 
Coinmint in performing the services, and a variable fee calculated based on the profitability of the bitcoin mined during the relevant payment period, 
subject to uptime performance commitments. The agreement had an initial term of one year, after which it renews automatically for three-month periods 
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Lancium
On March 29, 2022, the Company entered into a hosting agreement with Lancium LLC (“Lancium”). Pursuant to the agreement, Lancium has agreed to 
host, power and provide maintenance and other related services to our mining equipment to be placed at Lancium facilities. Further, Lancium committed to 
provide 200 megawatts in support of our mining equipment. In addition, for a period of two and a half years following the operations commencement date, 
we will have an option to increase the power capacity supplied to the equipment up to 500 MW or 40% of the aggregate capacity of all facilities owned and 
operated by Lancium, whichever is lesser. As of the date of this filing, we have not deployed any miners pursuant to the co-location mining services at 
Lancium’s facility in Texas. Lancium has informed us that they are experiencing significant delays due to the tightening of capital in the current market 
climate.  We now expect the readiness of these facilities to be late calendar 2023, and based on market conditions, perhaps even later.  If Lancium’s 
situation improves in a timeline acceptable to us, we anticipate utilizing Lancium as intended but there can be no assurance that their situation or market 
conditions will improve.
 
As of the date of this filing, we have paid no consideration or deposits to Lancium and, accordingly, there is no direct financial risk with respect to the 
delays Lancium is currently experiencing.  To the extent services are provided in the future, the Company has agreed to compensate Lancium based on a 
power and hosting fee based on kilowatt hours consumed by the Company’s equipment, subject to service level adjustments and credits, if any. The 
agreement has an initial term of five years from the operations commencement date (unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the 
Agreement), after which it will renew automatically for two-year periods unless either party provides notice of non-renewal at least ninety days prior to the 
expiration of the term or renewal term, as applicable.

Materials and Suppliers

We engage in high efficiency bitcoin mining by using ASICs. These specialized computers, often called mining rigs, have few manufacturers. A majority 
of the machines we purchased this year were manufactured by Bitmain, MicroBT 
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or Canaan, the top three preeminent manufacturers of bitcoin mining rigs.  All three companies are headquartered in China and  manufacture throughout 
Asia.
 
In addition to ASICS, mining equipment includes networking equipment, power cords, racking, other specialized storage, transformers, and energy 
equipment. We rely on utility providers for our power needs. These utilities buy into local energy mixes to source power. We make every effort to establish 
our facilities in locations serviced by utilities that generate a substantial portion of their energy from clean and renewable sources. We supplement a portion 
of the energy mix provided by our utility providers with the purchase of renewable energy credits because the precise ratio of renewable energy in local 
energy mixes is not within our control.
 
We have significant exposure to market fluctuations in energy prices through our power providers.   We actively manage these risks through activities such 
as deployment of advanced software solutions to increase unit efficiency and energy curtailment when appropriate. These energy market prices are also 
significantly impacted by ongoing inflation and the war in Ukraine. Historically, our methodology and operations have been efficient and resilient enough 
to withstand these market pressures and global events, but there can be no certainty that we will not be negatively affected in the future.  We believe that 
there is significant risk that energy prices will continue to be elevated in 2023.
 
Historically, we have been able to manage our supply chains effectively, but global supply chains continue to be constrained, and from time-to-time 
experience substantial increases in shipping costs and logistical delays as we make efforts to ensure timely delivery of equipment. There can be no certainty
that we will not be affected in the future, and we believe that there is a significant risk that equipment supply chains will continue to be affected in 2023. 
 
While some macro-economic indicators available as of the date of this filing suggest that inflation may be slowing, inflationary pressures impact virtually 
all aspects of our materials and suppliers, including power prices, and are likely to  impact our fiscal year 2023.

Environmental Issues

No significant pollution or other types of hazardous emission result from the Company’s direct operations and it is not anticipated that our operations will 
be materially affected by federal, state or local provisions concerning environmental controls. Our costs of complying with environmental, health and 
safety requirements have not been material. Starting in the fourth calendar quarter of 2021, we began to voluntarily purchase renewable energy credits to 
offset a significant portion of our energy usage that is derived from non-renewable sources. The Company has also engaged market professionals to 
enhance and build a comprehensive environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) strategy.

There are increasing concerns over the large energy usage of bitcoin mining and its effects on the environment. Many media reports focus exclusively on 
the energy requirements of bitcoin mining and cite it as an environmental concern. However, we do not believe that existing or pending climate change 
legislation, regulation, or international treaties or accords are reasonably likely to have a material effect in the foreseeable future on our business or markets 
that we serve, nor on our results of operations, capital expenditures or financial position.  We continue to monitor emerging developments in this area.

Competition 

Bitcoin mining is a global activity. During fiscal year 2021, a majority of bitcoin mining occurred in China. After China banned bitcoin mining in May 
2021, the center of mining moved to North America. Although bitcoin mining by its nature is not a directly competitive business, all miners compete for 
bitcoin rewards; based on this, we define competitors as other bitcoin miners. Our competitors include large, publicly-listed mining companies, large 
private mining companies, and, in some cases, independent, individual miners who pool resources. We believe our principal competitive advantages 
include our energy background, a combination of owned, operated, and co-located miners and facilities, our strategic use of the bitcoin we mine to fund 
operations growth, and our commitment to sustainable business practices, including sourcing renewable energy. Within North America, our major 
competitors include:

• Marathon Digital Holdings
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• Riot Blockchain, Inc.

• Core Scientific, Inc.

• Bitfarms LTD.

• Iris Energy Limited

In addition to the foregoing, we compete with other companies that focus all or a portion of their activities on mining activities at scale. We face significant 
competition in certain operational aspects of our business, including, but not limited to, the acquisition of new miners, obtaining low cost electricity, 
obtaining clean energy sources, obtaining access to energy sites with reliable sources of power, and evaluating new technology developments in the 
industry.

Intellectual Property 

We do not currently own any patents in connection with our existing and planned bitcoin mining related operations. We do rely, and expect to continue 
relying, upon trade secrets, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights and other intellectual property rights.

Government Regulation

Bitcoin Mining
Cryptocurrency mining is largely an unregulated activity at both the state and federal level. We anticipate that cryptocurrency mining will be a focus for 
increased regulation in the near- and long-term, and we cannot predict how future regulations may affect our business or operations.
 
State regulation of cryptocurrency mining is important with respect to where we conduct our mining operations. The majority of our mining facilities are 
located in Georgia, which is one of the most favorable regulatory environments for cryptocurrency miners. However, we also have co-location operations in 
New York, which has generally been more aggressive in its regulation of cryptocurrency. Current New York regulation, including a recent moratorium on 
certain bitcoin mining operations that run on carbon-based power sources signed into law on November 22, 2022, in our view, do not impact our decision to 
operate our miners at the Coinmint facility in New York in the foreseeable future; however, if the regulatory landscape changes, we would have to evaluate 
whether to relocate our hosted miners to one of our facilities in Georgia or to other facilities outside of New York State, which could be costly and we 
would not be able to operate the miners while they are being relocated.
 
Further, in March 2022, the United States announced plans to establish a unified federal regulatory regime for cryptocurrency, and a group of United States 
Senators sent a letter to the United States Treasury Department asking Treasury Secretary Yellen to investigate Treasury’s ability to monitor and restrict the 
use of cryptocurrencies to evade sanctions imposed by the United States. We are unable to predict the impact that any new regulations may have on our 
business at the time of filing this Annual Report. We continue to monitor and proactively engage in dialogue on legislative matters related to our industry.
 
In August 2021, the chair of the SEC stated that he believed investors using digital asset trading platforms are not adequately protected, and that activities 
on the platforms can implicate the securities laws, commodities laws and banking laws, raising a number of issues related to protecting investors and 
consumers, guarding against illicit activity, and ensuring financial stability. The chair expressed a need for the SEC to have additional authorities to prevent 
transactions, products, and platforms from “falling between regulatory cracks,” as well as for more resources to protect investors in “this growing and 
volatile sector.” The chair called for federal legislation centering on digital asset trading, lending, and decentralized finance platforms, seeking “additional 
plenary authority” to write rules for digital asset trading and lending. In addition, it is possible the failure of FTX Trading Ltd. (“FTX”) in November 2022 
and the resulting market turmoil could lead to increased SEC, CFTC, or criminal investigations, enforcement, and/or other regulatory activity.
  
While these statements are focused on digital asset exchanges (not bitcoin miners), the failure of large exchanges may impact the adoption and value of 
bitcoin. Additionally, because we store and sell our bitcoin on exchanges, we may also be potentially impacted by exchange failures in that respect. For 
those reasons, we carefully vet our custodians 
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for adequate compliance with U.S. laws as well as liquidity, using the information available to us, but we cannot be certain that we will be able to avoid the 
negative effects of a large exchange failure.
  
As the regulatory and legal environment evolves, we may become subject to new laws, such as further regulation by the SEC, CFTC, and other agencies, 
which may affect our mining and other activities. For additional discussion regarding our belief about the potential risks existing and future regulation pose 
to our business, see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” beginning on page 11 of this Annual Report.

Cybersecurity

Our share of bitcoins mined from our pools are initially received by us in wallets we control, which are maintained by Coinbase Inc., a U.S. based digital 
assets exchange. We currently sell the majority of the bitcoin we mine and utilize hot wallets to hold this bitcoin immediately prior to selling for working 
capital purposes.  We hold any remainder of our bitcoin in cold storage. Bitcoins we mine or hold for our own account may be subject to loss, theft or 
restriction on access. Hackers or malicious actors may launch attacks to steal, compromise or secure bitcoins, such as by attacking the bitcoin network 
source code, exchange miners, third-party platforms (including Coinbase), cold and hot storage locations or software, or by other means. We may be in 
control and possession of substantial holdings of bitcoin, and as we increase in size, we may become a more appealing target of hackers, malware, cyber-
attacks or other security threats.  We have established a Cybersecurity Committee, with the purpose of meeting at least semi-annually and providing 
recommendations to Executive Management with respect to our information technology use and protection, including but not limited to data governance, 
privacy, compliance and cybersecurity.
 
To our knowledge there has been no security breach or incident, unauthorized access or disclosure, or other compromise of or relating to the Company or
its subsidiaries hard wallets, cold wallets, information technology and computer systems, networks, hardware, software, data and databases, equipment or 
technology. We have not been notified of, and has no knowledge of any event or condition that could result in, any security breach or incident, unauthorized 
access or disclosure or other compromise to their IT Systems and Data, and we have implemented appropriate controls, policies, procedures, and 
technological safeguards to maintain and protect the integrity, continuous operation, redundancy and security of our IT Systems and Data reasonably 
consistent with industry standards and practices, or as required by applicable regulatory standards. We are presently in material compliance with all 
applicable laws or statutes and all judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, internal 
policies and contractual obligations relating to the privacy and security of IT Systems and Data and to the protection of such IT Systems and Data from 
unauthorized use, access, misappropriation or modification.

Human Capital Resources; Employees; Personnel

We believe that our future success depends, in no small part, on our ability to continue to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel. As of December 1, 
2022, we had 130 staff members, 121 of which were full time and all located in the United States. We believe that we have adequate personnel and 
resources with the specialized skills required to carry out our operations successfully. Employees participate in equity incentive plans and receive generous 
compensation in the form of salary and benefits. We continually seek to hire and retain talented professionals, although the competition for such personnel 
in our segments is significant. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe we 
have a strong and engaging relationship with our employees.
 

We cultivate trust and transparency among our employees, the communities we operate in, and the people around the world who depend on Bitcoin as we 
jointly strive to leave the world better than we found it, build the infrastructure of the future, and value growth for the greater good.

Discontinued Operations

As of June 30, 2022, we deemed our energy operations to be discontinued operations due to our strategic decision to strictly focus on bitcoin mining 
operations and divest of the majority of our energy assets. 
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Through our discontinued operations segment, we previously provided energy solutions through our wholly-owned subsidiaries CleanSpark, LLC, 
CleanSpark Critical Power Systems, Inc., GridFabric, LLC, and through ATL Solar Watt Solutions, Inc. These solutions consisted of engineering, design 
and software solutions, custom hardware solutions, Open Automated Demand response (“OpenADR”), solar, energy storage for microgrid and distributed 
energy systems.   We have since sold the majority of oursoftware and intellectual property assets related to the Energy Segment (including mPulse, mVoult 
and GridFabric LLC), and we are in the process of selling additional inventory and other assets. 
  
We still own patented gasification energy technologies and are not currently planning to sell or market these technologies. Our technology converts organic 
material into synthesis gas, which can be used as fuel for a variety of applications and as feedstock for the generation of DME (Di-Methyl Ether).
 
Other business activities
Through ATL, we also provide traditional data center services to a small number of remaining clients, such as providing customers with rack space, power 
and equipment, and offer several cloud services including virtual services, virtual storage, and data backup services.  ATL is in the process of offloading 
these customers.

Company Websites

We maintain a corporate website at: www.cleanspark.com.

The contents of these websites are not incorporated in, or otherwise to be regarded as part of, this Annual Report.

We file reports with the SEC, which are available on our website free of charge. These reports include annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, Section 16 filings on Form 3, Form 4, and Form 5, and other related filings and exhibits, each of which is 
provided on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file such materials with or furnish them to the SEC. In 
addition, the SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that 
file electronically with the SEC, including the Company.

Item 1A. Risk Factors 

We are subject to various risks that may materially harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. An investment in our 
common stock is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In evaluating an investment in shares of our common stock, you should carefully consider 
the risks described below, together with the other information included in this Annual Report.

The risks described below are not the only risks we face. If any of the events described in the following risk factors actually occurs, or if additional risks 
and uncertainties later materialize, that are not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, then our business, prospects, results of 
operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may 
lose all or part of your investment in our shares. The risks discussed below include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ 
substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements.

Risk Factors Summary

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of the 
risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below and should 
be carefully considered, together with other information included in this Annual Report.

Risks Related to Our Business
• our dependence on the price of bitcoin to achieve profitability, which has historically been volatile;
• our limited operating history and history of operating losses and negative cash flow;
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• supply chain and shipping disruptions have resulted in shipping delays, a significant increase in lead times and shipping costs, and could 

increase expansion costs and result in lower or delayed bitcoin production; 
• volatile and unpredictable cycles in the emerging and evolving industries in which we operate;
• competition in the markets in which we operate;
• our reliance on and ability to manage our construction contractors and suppliers to meet our expansion efforts in keeping with planned 

timelines and cost estimates;
• our reliance on our management team, and any failure by management to properly manage growth;
• future strategic acquisitions and other arrangements that we engage in, which could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders, 

reduce our financial resources and harm our operating results;
• our ability to timely complete our future strategic growth initiatives or within our anticipated cost;
• increased compliance costs as a result of our strategic acquisitions;
• our need for financing in the future to sustain and expand our operations and any inability to obtain such financing on acceptable terms, or at 

all;
• we maintain our cash at financial institutions, which at times, exceed federally insured limits;
• the uncertain impact of geopolitical and economic events on the demand for bitcoin;
• our exposure to pricing risk and volatility associated with the value of bitcoin because we do not hedge our investment in bitcoin;
• the development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies;
• the reward for successfully solving a block will halve in the future and its value may not adjust to compensate us for the reduction in the 

rewards we receive from our mining efforts;
• our reliance on a third-party mining pool service provider for our mining revenue payouts;
• forks in the bitcoin network;
• the open-source structure of the bitcoin network protocol and any failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol;
• the possibility that banks and financial institutions may not provide services to businesses that engage in cryptocurrency-related activities;
• the lack of limitations of FDIC or SIPC protections for the bitcoin we hold;
• bitcoins we mine or hold for our own account may be subject to loss, theft, or restriction on access;
• potential actions of malicious actors or botnets;
• the loss or destruction of private keys required to access our bitcoins and potential data loss relating to our bitcoins;
• potential failures of digital asset exchanges and custodians;
• inadequate sources of recovery if our digital assets are lost, stolen or destroyed;
• the irreversibility of incorrect or fraudulent bitcoin transactions;
• potential Internet disruptions;
• the limited rights of legal recourse available to us following any loss of our bitcoins;
• the sale of our bitcoins to pay for expenses a time of low bitcoin prices; 
• the possibility that a cryptocurrency other than bitcoin could be more desirable to the digital asset user base;
• the possibility that our mining costs may exceed our mining revenues;
• damage of the properties included in our mining operation and potential inability to get adequate insurance coverage for same;
• our need for significant electrical power to support our mining operations;
• increased scrutiny and changing expectations from stakeholders with respect to ESG practices and the impacts of climate change;
• our operations and profitability may be adversely affected by competition from other methods of cryptocurrencies;
• the possibility that large holders of bitcoin may sell bitcoin into the market in large amounts all at once, thereby impacting the growth of the 

price of bitcoin;
• potential that, in the event of a bankruptcy filing by a custodian, bitcoin held in custody could be determined to be property of a bankruptcy 

estate and we could be considered a general unsecured creditor thereof;
• risks related to technological obsolescence, the vulnerability of the global supply chain for cryptocurrency hardware disruption, and difficulty 

in obtaining new hardware;

12



 
• the limited precedent for financial accounting of digital assets, and the possibility of future accounting requirements for transactions 

involving digital assets;
• possibility of failure to grow our hashrate;
• risks arising from pandemics, epidemics or an outbreak of diseases, such as the recent outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic;
• global economic conditions, including continuing or worsening inflationary issues and associated changes in monetary policy and potential 

economic recession, and geopolitical events such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the subsequent imposition of sanctions as a result of the 
Russia-Ukraine conflict could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;

• potential product defect or liability suits, or any recall of our products, particularly those in the discontinued operations;

Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Enforcement Operations
• potential changes in laws and regulations applicable to mining bitcoin, bitcoin itself, or interpretations thereof, including, without limitation, 

banking regulations and securities regulations and regulations governing mining activities, both in the U.S. and in other countries;
• we may incur additional compliance costs if deemed subject to the Commodity Exchange Act;
• the risk that the SEC or another regulatory body considers bitcoin or any other cryptocurrency to be a security;
• changing environmental regulation and public energy policy;
• future developments regarding the treatment of digital assets for U.S. federal income and applicable state, local and non-U.S. tax purposes;
• potential exposure to specifically designated nationals or blocked persons as a result of our interactions with the bitcoin network;

Risks Related to Our Securities
• the price of our common stock may be volatile and could fluctuate widely in price; 
• any future issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect holders of our common stock, as shares of preferred stock may have additional 

rights, preferences and privileges as compared to the common stock;
• we are currently the subject of a shareholder class action, and may be subject to shareholder litigation in the future; our costs of defending 

such litigation, arbitration and other proceedings and any adverse outcome of such litigation, arbitration or other proceeding may have a 
material adverse effect on our business and the results of our operations;

• we have financed our strategic growth primarily by issuing new shares of our common stock, which dilutes the ownership interests of current 
stockholders;

• we have not, and do not intend to, pay dividends on shares of our common stock;
• if securities or industry analysts do not publish or do not continue to publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse 

or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline; 
• our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and prevent us from fulfilling our debt obligations;
• significant costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies, and the 

possible failure to comply with internal control over financial reporting requirements under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;
• we qualify as a smaller reporting company and are subject to scaled disclosure requirements; and
• provisions in the Nevada Revised Statutes and our Bylaws could make it very difficult for an investor to bring any legal actions against our 

directors or officers for violations of their fiduciary duties or could require us to pay any amounts incurred by our directors or officers in any 
such actions.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our ability to achieve profitability is dependent on the price of bitcoin, which has historically been volatile.

Our primary focus on our bitcoin mining operations and our associated expansion efforts is largely based on our assumptions regarding the future value of 
bitcoin, which has been subject to significant historical volatility and may 
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be subject to influence from malicious actors, real or perceived scarcity, political, economic, and regulatory conditions, and speculation making its price 
more volatile. 
 
It is difficult to accurately predict the future market price of bitcoin and may also inhibit consumer trust in and market acceptance of bitcoin as a means of 
exchange, which could limit the future adoption of bitcoin and, as a result, our assumptions could prove incorrect. If our assumptions prove incorrect and 
the future price of bitcoin is not sufficiently high, our income from our bitcoin mining operations may not exceed our costs, and our operations may never 
achieve profitability.

We have a limited operating history and a history of operating losses and negative cash flow, and we may never achieve consistent profitability.

Our limited operating history, in particular our recent entry into the bitcoin mining business, makes it difficult to evaluate our business and predict our 
future results of operations. Although we have achieved profitable quarters in the past, to date, we have not maintained consistent profitability from period 
to period, and no assurances can be made that we will achieve consistent profitability in the near future, if ever. From the Company’s inception through 
September 30, 2022, we sustained $196,053,911 in cumulative net losses, and we had a net loss from our continuing operations for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2022 of $40,089,393. We have generated these losses as we   execute our business plan and expand on our bitcoin mining activities as 
bitcoin prices are in a bear market. We will continue to recognize losses in our continuing operations unless and until bitcoin prices recover.

Supply chain and shipping disruptions have resulted in shipping delays, a significant increase in lead times and shipping costs, and could increase 
expansion costs and result in lower or delayed bitcoin production.

Supply chain disruptions, resulting from factors such as the COVID-19 pandemic, inflation, labor supply and shipping container shortages, have impacted, 
and may continue to impact, us and our third-party manufacturers and suppliers. These disruptions have resulted in longer lead times and increased product 
costs and shipping expenses, including with respect to the delivery of miners that we have purchased. While we have taken steps to minimize the impact of 
these increased costs by working closely with our suppliers and customers, there can be no assurances that unforeseen events impacting the supply chain 
will not have a material adverse effect on us in the future. 
 
Additionally, the impacts supply chain disruptions have on our third-party manufacturers and suppliers are not within our control. Although we have seen 
improvements in the last 12 months, it is not currently possible to predict how long it will take for these supply chain disruptions to return to pre-pandemic 
levels, if at all. Prolonged supply chain disruptions impacting us and our third-party manufacturers and suppliers could increase lead times, delay expansion 
efforts, increase product costs , result in reduced bitcoin production, result in a delay in the delivery of miners that we have purchased, and continue to 
increase shipping costs associated with the delivery of our purchased miners, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating 
results and financial condition.

Our future success is difficult to predict because we operate in emerging and evolving industries that are subject to volatile and unpredictable cycles.

The bitcoin mining and related industries are emerging and evolving, which may lead to period-to-period variability in our operating results and may make 
it difficult to evaluate our future prospects. If we are not able to timely and appropriately adapt to changes in our business environment or to accurately 
assess where we are positioned within a business cycle, our business, financial condition, or results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The markets in which we participate are highly competitive, and we may be unable to successfully compete.

We compete in the highly competitive market for certain operational aspects of our bitcoin mining business, including, but not limited to, the acquisition of 
new miners, obtaining the lowest cost of electricity, obtaining clean energy sources, obtaining access to energy sites with reliable sources of power, and 
evaluating new technology developments in the industry. Evolving industry standards, rapid price changes and product obsolescence impact the market and 
its various participants, including us. Our competitors include many domestic and foreign companies, many of which have substantially greater financial, 
marketing, personnel and other resources than we do, which may cause us to be at a competitive disadvantage. The success of our bitcoin mining business 
will be dependent upon our ability to 
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purchase additional miners, adapt to changes in technology in the industry, and to obtain sufficient energy at reasonable prices, amongst other things.

A significant part of our success will depend on our reliance on and ability to manage our construction contractors and suppliers, including mining 
equipment suppliers, in order to meet our expansion efforts in keeping with planned timelines and cost estimates, and any failure to do so could 
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and relations with our customers.
 
We rely on a limited number of suppliers for the purchase and delivery of our miners to support our bitcoin mining operations. There can be no assurance 
that such key suppliers and manufacturers will provide components, products or miners in a timely and cost-efficient manner or otherwise meet our needs 
and expectations. Any disruption in such key suppliers’ or manufacturers could delay our ability to expand our bitcoin mining operations. Our ability to 
manage such relationships and timely replace suppliers and manufacturers, if necessary, is critical to our success. Our failure to timely replace our 
manufacturers and suppliers, should that become necessary, could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. For example, we depend on 
Bitmain, MicroBT and Canaan for our mining rigs and any change in their ability to manufacture and deliver these products could have a significant impact 
on our results of operations.  Additionally, we are reliant on third parties for our expansion efforts, including construction contractors and suppliers of 
infrastructure, to provide accurate estimates and timelines.  If those parties experience delays, cannot access adequate capital, are exposed to inflation 
pressures or supply chain disruptions, our expansion efforts will be similarly impacted.

We rely heavily on our management team, whose continued service and performance is critical to our future success. Any failure by management to 
properly manage growth, including hiring and retaining competent and skilled management and other personnel, could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We currently have four executive officers — our Chief Executive Officer and President, Zachary Bradford, our Chief Financial Officer, Gary Vecchiarelli, 
our Chief Communications Officer, Isaac Holyoak, and S. Matthew Schulz, our Executive Chairman — who are responsible for our management functions 
and are responsible for strategic development, financing and other critical functions. Some of the members of our management team and our Board of 
Directors do not have prior experience in the bitcoin mining industry. This lack of experience may impair our management teams’ and directors’ ability to 
evaluate and make well-informed decisions involving our current operations and any future projects we may undertake in the industries in which we 
operate. Such impairment and lack of experience could adversely affect our business, financial condition and future operations.

Our future success depends significantly on the continued service and performance of our existing management team. The departure, death, disability or 
other extended loss of services of any member of our management team, particularly with little or no notice, could cause delays on projects, frustrate our 
growth prospects and could have an adverse impact on our industry relationships, our project exploration and development programs, other aspects of our 
business and our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects.

Our success, growth prospects, and ability to capitalize on market opportunities also depend to a significant extent on our ability to identify, hire, motivate 
and retain qualified managerial personnel, including additional senior members of management. Our growth may be constrained by resource limitations as 
competitors and customers compete for increasingly scarce human capital resources. The demand for professionals familiar with bitcoin mining and other 
skilled workers is currently high. Our competitors may be able to offer a work environment with higher compensation or more opportunities than we can. 
Any new personnel we hire may not be or become as productive as we expect, as we may face challenges in adequately or appropriately integrating them 
into our workforce and culture. If we are unable to attract and retain a sufficient number of skilled personnel, our ability to successfully implement our 
business plan, grow our company and maintain or expand our mining operations may be adversely affected, and the costs of doing so may increase, which 
may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our expansion could also place significant demands on our management, operations, systems, accounting, internal controls and financial resources. If we 
experience difficulties in any of these areas, we may not be able to expand our business successfully or effectively manage our growth. Any failure by 
management to manage growth and to respond 
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to changes in our business could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have engaged in, and in the future may engage in, strategic acquisitions and other arrangements that could disrupt our business, cause dilution to 
our stockholders, reduce our financial resources and harm our operating results.

We have previously engaged in strategic transactions, including acquisitions of companies,  technologies and personnel, such as our recent acquisitions of 
the Mawson Assets in October 2022, WAHA and SPRE Assets in August 2022, ATL in December 2020, and, as part of our growth strategy, in the future, 
we may seek additional opportunities to grow our mining operations, including through purchases of miners and facilities from other operating companies, 
including companies in financial distress.  Our ability to grow through future acquisitions will depend on the availability of, and our ability to identify, 
suitable acquisition and investment opportunities at an acceptable cost, our ability to compete effectively to attract those opportunities and the availability 
of financing to complete acquisitions. Future acquisitions may require us to issue common stock that would dilute our current stockholders’ percentage 
ownership, assume or otherwise be subject to liabilities of an acquired company, record goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets that will be subject 
to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges, incur amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets, incur 
large acquisition and integration costs, immediate write-offs, and restructuring and other related expenses, and become subject to litigation. 

The benefits of an acquisition may also take considerable time to develop, and we cannot be certain that any particular acquisition will produce the 
intended benefits in a timely manner or to the extent anticipated or at all. We may experience difficulties integrating the operations, technologies, and 
personnel of an acquired company or be subjected to liability for the target’s pre-acquisition activities or operations as a successor in interest. Such 
integration may divert management’s attention from normal daily operations of our business. Future acquisitions may also expose us to potential risks, 
including risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience, especially when competitors in such markets have 
stronger market positions, the possibility of insufficient revenues to offset the expenses we incur in connection with an acquisition and potential loss of, or 
harm to, our relationships with employees and suppliers as a result of integration of new businesses.

We may not be able to timely complete our future strategic growth initiatives or within our anticipated cost estimates, if at all.

As part of our efforts to grow our hashrate and remain competitive in the market, we have acquired facilities,  entered into new and re-negotiated purchased 
power agreements and invested in additional new and used mining equipment.  We are also reliant on third parties for our expansion efforts, including
construction contractors and providers of infrastructure equipment, who may be burdened by delays in manufacturing, supply chain problems, less access 
to capital due to macro economic-conditions, or inflation.  This could increase our costs and/or delay our expansion and acquisition efforts.  If we are 
unable to complete our planned expansions or acquisitions on schedule and within our anticipated cost estimates, our deployment of newly purchased 
miners may be delayed, which could affect our competitiveness and our results of operation, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition and the market price for our securities.

We may experience increased compliance costs as a result of our strategic acquisitions.

 The financial statements and internal controls related to the Mawson Assets and the WAHA and SPRE Assets have not, historically, been required to be in 
compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”). Further, future strategic acquisitions could carry substantial 
compliance burdens, which may limit our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions, and which may require our management and 
personnel to shift their focus to such compliance burdens and away from their other functions. Such increased costs and compliance burdens could affect 
our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of such strategic acquisitions, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition may suffer as a 
result.

In the future, we may require additional financing to sustain and expand our operations, and we may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable 
terms, or at all, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects.
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Our ability to operate profitably and to grow our business is dependent upon, among other things, generating sufficient revenue from our operations and, 
when and if needed, obtaining financing. If we are unable to generate sufficient revenues to operate and/or expand our business, we will be required to raise 
additional capital to fund operating deficits (if applicable) and growth of our business, pursue our business plans and to finance our operating activities, 
including through equity or debt financings, which may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at all.  Our ability to obtain capital through sales of 
bitcoin would also be impacted by declines in the price of bitcoin.
 
We have raised capital to finance our strategic growth of our business through public offerings of our common stock, including through our at-the-market 
offering program, and we expect to need to raise additional capital through similar public offerings to finance the completion of current and future 
expansion initiatives. Utilizing those sources may be more challenging in the current financial market conditions, in particular where trading volume is 
diminished. We may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all, which could impair our growth and adversely 
impact our existing operations. 

To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, stockholder ownership interest in the Company may 
be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect rights as a stockholder. Debt and equity 
financings, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as redeeming our 
shares of common stock, making investments, incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends.

We maintain our cash at financial institutions, which at times, exceed federally insured limits.

The majority of our cash is held in accounts at U.S. banking institutions that we believe are of high quality. Cash held in non-interest-bearing and interest-
bearing operating accounts may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limits. If such banking institutions were to fail, we could lose 
all or a portion of those amounts held in excess of such insurance limitations.

The impact of geopolitical and economic events on the demand for bitcoin is uncertain.

Geopolitical crises may trigger large-scale purchases of bitcoin, which could rapidly increase their prices. This may, however, also increase the likelihood 
of a subsequent price swing in the opposite direction as crisis-driven purchasing behavior dissipates, ultimately decreasing the value of bitcoins or any 
other digital asset in our possession. Such risks are similar to the risks of purchasing commodities in generally uncertain times, such as the risk of 
purchasing, holding or selling gold. 
 
Alternatively, global crises and economic downturns may discourage investment in bitcoin and digital assets in general as investors shift their investments 
towards less volatile asset classes. Such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of 
bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

The value of bitcoin has historically been subject to wide swings. Because we do not currently hedge our investment in bitcoin and do not intend to for 
the foreseeable future, we are directly exposed to bitcoin’s price volatility and surrounding risks.

While bitcoin prices are determined primarily using data from various exchanges, over-the-counter markets and derivative platforms, they have historically
been volatile and are impacted by a variety of factors. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the worldwide growth in the adoption and use of bitcoins, 
the maintenance and development of the software protocol of the bitcoin network, changes in consumer demographics and public tastes, fraudulent or 
illegitimate actors, real or perceived scarcity, and political, economic, regulatory or other conditions. Furthermore, pricing may be the result of, and may 
continue to result in, speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of bitcoin, or our share price, making prices more volatile.
 
Currently, we do not use a formula or specific methodology to determine whether or when we will sell bitcoin that we hold, or the number of bitcoins we 
will sell. Rather, decisions to hold or sell bitcoins are currently determined by  management by analyzing forecasts and monitoring the market in real time. 
Such decisions, however well-informed, 
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may result in untimely sales and even losses, adversely affecting an investment in us. At this time, we do not anticipate engaging in any hedging activities 
related to our holding of bitcoin; this would expose us to substantial decreases in the price of bitcoin.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to use alternative distributed ledgers or 
other alternatives.

The development and acceptance of competing blockchain platforms or technologies may cause consumers to abandon bitcoin. As we exclusively mine, 
and expect to exclusively mine bitcoin, we could face difficulty adapting to emergent digital ledgers, blockchains, or alternatives thereto. This could 
prevent us from realizing the anticipated profits from our investments. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects 
or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account and harm investors.

Bitcoin is subject to halving; the reward for successfully solving a block will halve several times in the future and its value may not adjust to 
compensate us for the reduction in the rewards we receive from our mining efforts.

Halving is a process designed to control the overall supply and reduce the risk of inflation in cryptocurrencies using a Proof-of-Work consensus algorithm. 
In an event referred to as bitcoin “halving,” the bitcoin reward for mining any block is cut in half. For example, the mining reward for bitcoin declined from 
12.5 to 6.25 bitcoin on May 11, 2020. This process is scheduled to occur once every 210,000 blocks, or roughly four years, until the total amount of bitcoin 
rewards issued reaches 21 million, which is expected to occur around 2140. Once 21 million bitcoin are generated, the network will stop producing more. 
Currently, there are more than 19 million bitcoin in circulation. While bitcoin prices have had a history of price fluctuations around halving events, there is 
no guarantee that the price change will be favorable or would compensate for the reduction in mining reward. If a corresponding and proportionate increase 
in the price of bitcoin does not follow these anticipated halving events, the revenue from our mining operations would decrease, and we may not have an 
adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease mining operations altogether, which may adversely affect an investment in us.
 
Furthermore, such reductions in bitcoin rewards for uncovering blocks may result in a reduction in the aggregate hashrate of the bitcoin network as the 
incentive for miners decreases. Miners ceasing operations would reduce the collective processing power on the network, which would adversely affect the 
confirmation process for transactions and make the bitcoin network more vulnerable to malicious actors or botnets obtaining control in excess of 50 % of 
the processing power active on the blockchain. Such events may adversely affect our activities and an investment in us.

Our reliance on a third-party mining pool service provider for our mining revenue payouts may adversely affect an investment in us.

We currently rely on Foundry Digital’s (“pool”), open access mining pool that support bitcoin, to receive our mining rewards and fees from the network. 
Our pool has the sole discretion to modify the terms of our agreement at any time, and, therefore, our future rights and relationship with our pool may 
change. In general, mining pools allow miners to combine their computing and processing power, increasing their chances of solving a block and getting 
rewarded by the bitcoin network. The rewards, distributed proportionally to our contribution to the pool’s overall mining power, are distributed by the pool 
operator. Should our pools’ operator systems suffer downtime due to a cyber-attack, software malfunction or other similar issues, it will negatively impact 
our ability to mine and receive revenue. Furthermore, while we receive daily reports from our pools detailing the total processing power provided to the 
pools and the proportion of that total processing power, we provided to determine the distribution of rewards to us, we are dependent on the accuracy of our 
pool’s record keeping.  Therefore, we have little means of recourse against our pools’ operators if we determine the proportion of the reward paid out to us 
by the mining pool operator is incorrect, other than leaving the pools. If we are unable to consistently obtain accurate proportionate rewards from our pools, 
we may experience reduced rewards for our efforts, which would have an adverse effect on our business and operations.

Forks in the bitcoin network may occur in the future, which may affect the value of bitcoins held by us.

A small group of contributors can propose refinements or improvements to the bitcoin network’s source code that alter the protocols and software that 
govern the bitcoin network and the properties of bitcoin, including the 
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irreversibility of transactions and limitations on the mining of new bitcoin. This is known as a “fork.” In the event a developer or group of developers 
proposes modifications to the bitcoin network that are not accepted by a majority of miners and users, but that is nonetheless accepted by a substantial 
plurality of miners and users, two or more competing and incompatible blockchain implementations could result. This is known as a “hard fork.”
 
The value of bitcoin after the creation of a fork is subject to many factors, including, but not limited to, the value of the fork product, market reaction to the 
creation of the fork product, and the occurrence of forks in the future. As such, existing forks, such as Bitcoin Cash and Bitcoin Gold, and future forks may 
have a negative effect on bitcoin’s value and may adversely affect an investment in us.

The open-source structure of the bitcoin network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for their 
contributions in maintaining and developing the protocol. A failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol could damage the bitcoin network 
and an investment in us.

As an open-source project, bitcoin does not generate revenues for its contributors, and contributors are generally not compensated for maintaining and 
updating the bitcoin network protocol. The lack of guaranteed financial incentives for contributors to maintain or develop the bitcoin network and the lack 
of guaranteed resources to adequately address emerging issues with the bitcoin network may reduce incentives to address the issues adequately or in a 
timely manner. To the extent that contributors may fail to adequately update and maintain the bitcoin network protocol, it could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, prospects, or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for 
our own account.

Banks and financial institutions may not provide banking services, or may cut off services, to businesses that engage in cryptocurrency-related 
activities.

A number of companies that engage in bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related activities have been unable to find banks or financial institutions that are 
willing to provide them with bank accounts and other services. Similarly, a number of companies and individuals or businesses associated with 
cryptocurrencies may have had and may continue to have their existing bank accounts closed or services discontinued with financial institutions. To the 
extent that such events may happen to us, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any 
bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

Bitcoins held by us are not subject to FDIC or SIPC protections.

We do not hold our bitcoins with a banking institution or a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or the Securities Investor 
Protection Corporation (“SIPC”), and, therefore, our bitcoins are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or SIPC member 
institutions. As a result, we may suffer a loss with respect to our bitcoins that is not covered by insurance, and we may not be able to recover any of our 
carried value in these bitcoins if they are lost or stolen or suffer significant and sustained reduction in conversion spot price. If we are not otherwise able to 
recover damages from a malicious actor in connection with these losses, our business and results of operations may suffer, which may have a material 
negative impact on our stock price.

Bitcoins we mine or hold for our own account may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access.

There is a risk that some or all of our bitcoins could be lost or stolen. Bitcoins are stored in and accessed by cryptocurrency sites commonly referred to as 
“wallets.” A hot wallet refers to any cryptocurrency wallet that is connected to the Internet. Generally, hot wallets are easier to set up and access than 
wallets in cold storage, but they are also more susceptible to hackers and other technical vulnerabilities. Cold storage refers to any cryptocurrency wallet 
that is not connected to the Internet. Cold storage is generally more secure than hot storage, but is not ideal for quick or regular transactions. When we keep 
our bitcoin in cold storage, we may experience lag time in our ability to respond to market fluctuations in the price of our cryptocurrency assets.
 
We currently mine bitcoin by contributing to and benefiting from our pools’ processing power. Our share of bitcoins mined from our pools are initially 
received by us in wallets we control, which are maintained by Coinbase Inc., a U.S. based digital assets exchange. We currently sell the majority of the 
bitcoin we mine and utilize hot wallets to hold this 
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bitcoin immediately prior to selling for working capital purposes. We hold any remainder of our bitcoin in cold storage. Bitcoins we mine or hold for our 
own account may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access.  Hackers or malicious actors may launch attacks to steal, compromise or secure bitcoins, 
such as by attacking the bitcoin network source code, exchange miners, third-party platforms (including Coinbase), cold and hot storage locations or 
software, or by other means. We may be in control and possession of substantial holdings of bitcoin, and as we increase in size, we may become a more 
appealing target of hackers, malware, cyber-attacks or other security threats. Any of these events may adversely affect our operations and, consequently, 
our investments and profitability.

If a malicious actor or botnet obtains control of more than 50% of the processing power on the bitcoin network, such actor or botnet could manipulate 
the network to adversely affect us, which would adversely affect an investment in us.

If a malicious actor or botnet, a collection of computers controlled by networked software coordinating the actions of the computers, obtains over 50% of 
the processing power dedicated to mining bitcoin, such actor may be able to construct fraudulent blocks or prevent certain transactions from completing in 
a timely manner, or at all. The malicious actor or botnet could control, exclude or modify the order of transactions, though it could not generate new units 
or transactions using such control. The malicious actor could also “double-spend,” or spend the same bitcoin in more than one transaction, or it could 
prevent transactions from being validated. In certain instances, reversing any fraudulent or malicious changes made to the bitcoin blockchain may not be 
possible.
 
Although there are no known reports of malicious activity or control of blockchains achieved through controlling over 50% of the processing power on the 
bitcoin network, it is believed that certain mining pools may have exceeded, and could exceed, the 50% threshold on the bitcoin network. This possibility 
creates a greater risk that a single mining pool could exert authority over the validation of bitcoin transactions. To the extent that the bitcoin ecosystem, and 
the administrators of mining pools, do not have adequate controls and responses in place, the risk of a malicious actor obtaining control of the processing 
power may increase. If such an event were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the 
value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account and harm investors.

The loss or destruction of private keys required to access our bitcoins may be irreversible. Our loss of access to our private keys or our experience of a 
data loss relating to our bitcoins could adversely affect an investment in us.

Bitcoins may only be controlled by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating to the local or online digital wallet in which they are 
held. We publish the public key relating to digital wallets in use when we verify the receipt or transfers of bitcoins to and from our wallets and disseminate 
such information into the network on an anonymous basis, but we safeguard the private keys relating to such digital wallets. Digital asset exchanges, such 
as Coinbase, where we hold our bitcoin, engage in similar practices. To the extent such private keys are lost, destroyed or otherwise compromised, we will 
be unable to access our bitcoins and such private keys may not be capable of being restored by any network. Any loss of private keys relating to digital 
wallets used to store our bitcoins whether by us or digital asset exchanges where we hold our bitcoin, could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.
 
The digital asset exchanges on which cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, trade are relatively new and largely unregulated, and thus may be exposed to 
fraud and failure. Such failures may result in a reduction in the price of bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies and can adversely affect an investment in 
us.
 
Digital asset exchanges on which cryptocurrencies trade are relatively new and, in most cases, largely unregulated. Many digital exchanges do not provide 
the public with significant information regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices or regulatory compliance. As a result, 
the marketplace may lose confidence in, or may experience problems relating to, cryptocurrency exchanges, including prominent exchanges handling a 
significant portion of the volume of digital asset trading.
 
For example, in the first half of 2022, each of Celsius Network, Voyager Digital Ltd., and Three Arrows Capital declared bankruptcy, resulting in a loss of 
confidence in participants of the digital asset ecosystem and negative publicity surrounding digital assets more broadly. In November 2022, FTX, the third 
largest digital asset exchange by volume at the time, halted customer withdrawals and shortly thereafter, FTX and its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy. 
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In response to these events, the digital asset markets, including the market for bitcoin specifically, have experienced extreme price volatility and several 
other entities in the digital asset industry have been, and may continue to be, negatively affected, further undermining confidence in the digital assets 
markets and in bitcoin. These events have also negatively impacted the liquidity of the digital assets markets as certain entities affiliated with FTX engaged 
in significant trading activity. If the liquidity of the digital assets markets continues to be negatively impacted by these events, digital asset prices (including 
the price of bitcoin) may continue to experience significant volatility and confidence in the digital asset markets may be further undermined. These events 
are continuing to develop and it is not possible to predict at this time all of the risks that they may pose to us, our service providers or on the digital asset 
industry as a whole.
  
A perceived lack of stability in the digital asset exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of digital asset exchanges due to business failure, 
hackers or malware, government-mandated regulation, or fraud, may reduce confidence in digital asset networks and result in greater volatility in 
cryptocurrency values. These potential consequences of a digital asset exchange’s failure could adversely affect an investment in us.

We may not have adequate sources of recovery if our digital assets are lost, stolen or destroyed.

We rely on Coinbase to facilitate the custody of our bitcoins. If our bitcoins are lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party, including 
Coinbase, liable to us, the responsible party may not have the financial resources sufficient to satisfy our claim. For example, as to a particular event of 
loss, the only source of recovery for us might be limited, to the extent identifiable, to other responsible third parties (e.g., a thief or terrorist), any of which 
may not have the financial resources (including liability insurance coverage) to satisfy a valid claim of ours.

Incorrect or fraudulent bitcoin transactions may be irreversible.

Bitcoin transactions are irreversible and stolen or incorrectly transferred bitcoins may thus be irretrievable. While we exchange our bitcoins directly for 
U.S. dollars on Coinbase and do not presently use, or expect to use, our bitcoins for any other transactions other than limited payroll related payments, any 
incorrectly executed or fraudulent bitcoin transactions may still adversely affect our investments and assets.

We may face risks of Internet disruptions, which could have an adverse effect on not only the price of bitcoin but our ability to mine bitcoin.

A disruption of the Internet may adversely affect the mining and use of cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin. Generally, cryptocurrencies and our business of 
mining bitcoin is dependent upon the Internet. A significant disruption in Internet connectivity could disrupt bitcoin’s network operations until the 
disruption is resolved and have an adverse effect on the price of bitcoin and our ability to mine bitcoin.

The limited rights of legal recourse available to us expose us and our investors to the risk of loss of our bitcoins for which no person is liable.

At this time, there is no specifically enumerated U.S. or foreign governmental, regulatory, investigative or prosecutorial authority or mechanism through 
which to bring an action or complaint regarding missing or stolen cryptocurrency; though law enforcement agencies like the FBI have recovered stolen 
bitcoin, that recovery has required significant amounts of time. To the extent that we are unable to recover our losses from such action, error or theft, such 
events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations of and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise 
acquire or hold for our own account.

The sale of our bitcoins to pay for expenses at a time of low bitcoin prices could adversely affect an investment in us.

We sell our bitcoins to pay for operating expenses and growth on an as-needed basis. Consequently, we may sell our bitcoins at a time when bitcoin prices 
are low, which could adversely affect an investment in us. At this time, we do not engage in contractual or financial hedging activities related to our bitcoin 
holdings to mitigate potential decreases in the price of bitcoin. See the above risk factor entitled, “The value of bitcoin has historically been subject to wide 
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swings. Because we do not currently hedge our investment in bitcoin and do not intend to for the foreseeable future, we are directly exposed to bitcoin’s 
price volatility and surrounding risks."

Demand for bitcoin is driven, in part, by its status as a prominent and secure cryptocurrency. It is possible that a cryptocurrency other than bitcoin 
could have features that make it more desirable to a material portion of the digital asset user base, resulting in a reduction in demand for bitcoins.

Bitcoin holds a “first-to-market” advantage over other cryptocurrencies. This first-to-market advantage is driven in large part by having the largest user 
base and, more importantly, the largest combined mining power in use. Nonetheless, another form of cryptocurrency could become materially popular due 
to either a perceived or exposed shortcoming of the bitcoin network or a perceived advantage of another form of digital currency. If another form of digital 
currency obtains significant market share, this could reduce the interest in, and value of, bitcoin and the profitability of our bitcoin operations. 

Our mining costs may be in excess of our mining revenues, which could seriously harm our business and adversely impact an investment in us.

Mining operations are costly and our expenses may increase in the future. Increases in mining expenses may not be offset by corresponding increases in 
revenue (i.e. the value of bitcoin mined). Our expenses may become greater than we anticipate, and our investments to make our business more cost-
efficient may not succeed. Further, even if our expenses remain the same or decline, our revenues may not exceed our expenses to the extent the price of 
bitcoin continues to decrease without a corresponding decrease in bitcoin network difficulty. Increases in our costs without corresponding increases in our 
revenue would adversely affect our profitability and could seriously harm our business and an investment in us.

The properties included in our mining operation may experience damages, including damages that may not be covered by insurance.

Our current mining locations and any future sites we establish will be subject to a variety of risks relating to physical condition and operation, including but 
not limited to: 

• construction or repair defects or other structural or building damage; any noncompliance with or liabilities under applicable environmental, 
health or safety regulations or requirements or building permit requirements;

• any damage resulting from natural disasters and climate change, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, fires, floods and windstorms; and

• claims by employees and others for injuries sustained at our properties.
 
Although our mining sites are equipped with standard security measures normally associated with a traditional data center, and insured by tier one 
insurance providers, our mining sites could still be rendered inoperable, temporarily or permanently, as a result of a fire or other natural disaster or by a 
terrorist or other events outside of our control. The measures we take to prevent and insure against these risks may not be sufficient or effective.

We are subject to risks associated with our need for significant electrical power.

The operation of a bitcoin mining facility requires significant amounts of electrical power. Any mining site we currently operate or establish in the future 
can only be successful if we can continue to obtain sufficient electrical power for that site on a cost-effective basis. We currently have four fully-owned 
campuses and operate additional miners under two active hosting agreements, each of which have unique power agreements. Geopolitical events including 
the war in Ukraine and inflationary impacts have caused power prices to increase worldwide; if power prices continue to increase while bitcoin prices 
decrease, it would impact our ability to profitability mine bitcoin. 
 
We may curtail the energy used by our mining operations in times of heightened energy prices or in the case of a grid-wide electricity shortage either 
voluntarily or by agreement with utility providers. We may also encounter other 
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situations where utilities or government entities restrict or prohibit the provision of electricity to mining operations. In these cases, our ability to produce 
bitcoin may be negatively affected.
 
Because we also expect to expand to additional sites, there may be significant competition for suitable locations with access to affordable power. 
 
Additionally, our facilities could be adversely affected by a power outage. Although we maintain limited backup power at certain sites, it would not be 
feasible to run miners on back-up power generators in the event of a government restriction on electricity or a power outage. To the extent we are unable to 
receive adequate power supply and are forced to reduce or cease our operations due to the availability or cost of electrical power, our business would be 
adversely affected.
 
Further, one of our key strategies is to use sustainable and environmentally friendly sources of energy, including nuclear energy sources. To the extent we 
are unable to obtain sustainable sources of energy on a cost-effective basis and execute on this strategy, our business could be adversely affected.

Increased scrutiny and changing expectations from stakeholders with respect to our ESG practices and the impacts of climate change may result in 
additional costs or risks.

Companies across many industries are facing increasing scrutiny related to their environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) practices. Investor 
advocacy groups, certain institutional investors, investment funds and other influential investors are also increasingly focused on ESG practices and in 
recent years have placed increasing importance on the non-financial impacts of their investments. In May 2021, the SEC proposed rule changes that would 
require public companies to include certain climate-related disclosures in their periodic reports, including information about climate-related risks that are 
reasonably likely to have a material impact on their business, results of operations, or financial condition, and certain climate-related financial statement 
metrics in a note to their audited financial statements. The SEC noted that such rule changes were proposed in response to investor demands for consistent 
and comparable data on climate change. Furthermore, increased public awareness and concern regarding environmental risks, including global climate 
change, may result in increased public scrutiny of our business and our industry, and our management team may divert significant time and energy away 
from our operations and towards responding to such scrutiny and reassuring our employees.
  
In addition, the physical risks of climate change may impact the availability and cost of materials and natural resources, sources and supply of energy, 
demand for bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies, and could increase our insurance and other operating costs, including, potentially, to repair damage incurred 
as a result of extreme weather events or to renovate or retrofit facilities to better withstand extreme weather events. If environmental laws or regulations or 
industry standards are either changed or adopted and impose significant operational restrictions and compliance requirements on our operations, or if our 
operations are disrupted due to physical impacts of climate change, our business, capital expenditures, results of operations, financial condition and 
competitive position could be negatively impacted.

Our operations and profitability may be adversely affected by competition from other methods of investing in cryptocurrencies.

We compete with other users and/or companies that are mining cryptocurrencies and other potential financial vehicles, including securities backed by or 
linked to cryptocurrencies. Market and financial conditions, and other conditions beyond our control, may make it more attractive to invest in other 
financial vehicles, or to invest in cryptocurrencies directly, which could limit the market for our shares and reduce their liquidity. The emergence of other 
financial vehicles and exchange-traded funds have increased scrutiny on cryptocurrencies, and such scrutiny could be applicable to us and impact our 
ability to successfully establish or maintain a public market for our securities. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.

From time to time, as market conditions change, large holders of bitcoin may sell large amounts all at once into the market, thereby constraining the 
growth of the price of bitcoin.
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There are very large holders of bitcoin, including other miners, that may choose or be forced to sell large quantities of bitcoin all at once or over a short 
period of time. Such an increase in selling volume could create downward pressure on the market price of bitcoin.

Potential that, in the event of a bankruptcy filing by a custodian, bitcoin held in custody could be determined to be property of a bankruptcy estate and 
we could be considered a general unsecured creditor thereof.

The treatment of bitcoins held by custodians that file for bankruptcy protection is uncharted territory in U.S. Bankruptcy law.  We cannot say with certainty 
whether bitcoin held in custody by a bankrupt custodian would be treated as property of a bankruptcy estate and, accordingly, whether the owner of that 
bitcoin would be treated as a general unsecured creditor. 

There are risks related to technological obsolescence, the vulnerability of the global supply chain for cryptocurrency hardware disruption, and 
difficulty in obtaining new hardware which may have a negative effect on our business.

As our mining facility operates, our miners experience ordinary wear and tear, and may also face more significant malfunctions caused by a number of 
extraneous factors beyond our control. The degradation of our miners will require us to, over time, to repair or replace miners which are no longer 
functional. Additionally, as technology evolves, we may be required to acquire newer models of miners to remain competitive in the market. This
upgrading process requires substantial capital investment, and we may face challenges in doing so on a timely and cost-effective basis.
 
Further, the global supply of miners is unpredictable and presently heavily dependent on manufacturers headquartered in China, with manufacturing in 
Asia, which was severely affected by the emergence of the COVID-19 coronavirus global pandemic. We currently utilize several types of ASIC miners as 
part of our mining operation, including Bitmain Antminers, Canaan Avalon miners and MicroBT WhatsMiners, all of which are produced in China, 
Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand. Geopolitical matters, including the U.S. relationship with China, may impact our ability to import ASIC miners. As a 
result, we may not be able to obtain adequate replacement parts for our existing miners or obtain additional miners from manufacturers on a timely basis. 
Such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise 
acquire or hold for our own account, and harm investors.

Since there has been limited precedent set for financial accounting of digital assets, including bitcoin, it is unclear how we will be required to account 
for transactions involving digital assets.

Because there has been limited precedent set for the financial accounting of cryptocurrencies and related revenue recognition and no official guidance has 
yet been provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or the SEC, it is unclear how companies may in the future be required to account for 
cryptocurrency transactions and assets and related revenue recognition. A change in regulatory or financial accounting standards or interpretation by the 
SEC could result in changes in our accounting treatment and the necessity to restate our financial statements. Such a restatement could adversely impact the 
accounting for the bitcoins we hold and bitcoin transactions and, more generally, negatively impact our business, prospects, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

If we fail to grow our hashrate, we may be unable to compete, and our results of operations could suffer.

Generally, a bitcoin miner’s chance of solving a block on the bitcoin blockchain and earning a Bitcoin reward is a function of the miner’s hashrate (i.e., the 
amount of computing power devoted to supporting the Bitcoin blockchain), relative to the global network hashrate. As demand for bitcoin has increased, 
the global network hashrate has increased, and to the extent more adoption of bitcoin occurs, we would expect the demand for bitcoin would increase, 
drawing more mining companies into the industry and further increasing the global network hashrate. As new and more powerful miners are deployed, the 
global network hashrate will continue to increase, meaning a miner’s percentage of the total daily rewards will decline unless it deploys additional hashrate 
at pace with the growth of global hashrate. Accordingly, to compete in this highly competitive industry, we believe we will need to continue to acquire new 
miners, both to replace those lost to ordinary wear-and-tear and other damage, and to increase our hashrate to keep up with a growing global network 
hashrate.
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We plan to grow our hashrate, in part, by acquiring newer, more effective, and energy-efficient miners. These new miners are highly specialized servers that 
are very difficult to produce at scale. As a result, there are limited producers capable of producing large numbers of sufficiently effective miners. The cost 
of these miners is directly correlated to bitcoin prices and the profitability of bitcoin mining.  Demand for new miners increased in response to increased 
bitcoin prices in 2021 followed by a decreased in demand due to falling bitcoin prices in 2022. We observed the price of these new miners followed 
changes in demand, resulting in elevated machine prices when bitcoin mining economics are high and significantly lower prices when these economics are 
strained. As a result, positive bitcoin economics may negatively impact our future equipment costs and the increase the competition to secure mining 
equipment. If we can’t acquire sufficient numbers of new miners or access sufficient capital to fund our acquisitions, our results of operations and financial 
condition may be adversely affected, which could adversely affect investments in our securities.

Our business has been, and in the future may be, subject to risks arising from pandemic, epidemic, or an outbreak of diseases, such as the outbreak of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic. Since then, COVID-19 spread across the globe and 
impacted worldwide economic activity, including through quarantines, travel bans and restrictions, shelter-in-place orders, shutdowns of businesses, 
reductions in business activity, supply chain interruptions and overall economic and financial market instability. These measures impacted, and may further 
impact, our workforce and operations, as well as the operations of our customers, our partners and our vendors and suppliers. Our critical business 
operations, including our headquarters, and many of our key suppliers, are located in regions which have been and continue to be impacted by COVID-19. 
Our suppliers worldwide have also been affected by COVID-19 and may continue to experience material impacts well beyond the end of the pandemic.
 
Specifically, the manufacture of components of our products, the final assembly of our products, and other critical operations are concentrated in China and 
other geographic locations that have been impacted by COVID-19 and in which local governments continue to take measures to try to contain the 
pandemic.  There is considerable uncertainty regarding the impact of such measures and potential future measures, including restrictions on manufacturing
facilities, on our support operations or workforce, or on our customers, partners, vendors and suppliers. Such measures, as well as restrictions on or 
disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability or increased cost of air transport, port closures, and increased border controls or closures, could 
limit our capacity to meet customer demand and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
 
The COVID-19 pandemic and other factors have adversely affected our supply chain, consistent with its effect across many industries, including creating 
shipping and logistics challenges and placing significant limits on component supplies. They have also significantly increased the costs of shipping miners, 
related components and infrastructure. We expect these impacts, including potentially delayed product availability, to continue for as long as the global 
supply chain is experiencing these challenges.
 
In addition, while the extent and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and our business in particular are difficult to assess or predict, 
the pandemic has resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption of global financial markets, which may reduce our ability to access 
capital or our customers’ ability to pay us for past or future purchases, which could negatively affect our working capital and liquidity. A recession or 
financial market correction resulting from the lack of containment and spread of COVID-19 could impact overall spending, adversely affecting demand for 
bitcoin, our business, and the value of our common stock.
 
The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to change. The extent of the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on our operational and financial performance, including our ability to execute our business strategies and initiatives in the expected 
time frame, will depend on future developments, including, but not limited to, the duration and continued spread of the pandemic, its severity, further 
related restrictions on travel, any reopening plans worldwide, the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and treat 
the disease, including, without limitation, the effectiveness and timing of vaccination initiatives in the United States and worldwide and the duration, 
timing, and severity of the impact on customer spending, including any recession resulting from the pandemic, all of which are uncertain and cannot be 
predicted. An extended period of global supply chain and economic disruption as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, even after the pandemic subsides 
worldwide, could have a materially adverse impact on our business, results of 
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operations, access to sources of capital and financial condition, though the full extent and duration of any such impact is also uncertain.

Global economic conditions, including continuing or worsening inflationary issues and associated changes in monetary policy and potential economic 
recession, and geopolitical events such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the subsequent imposition of sanctions as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General economic and political conditions such as economic recessions, interest rates, rising inflation, commodity prices, foreign currency fluctuations, 
international tariffs, social, political and economic risks, hostilities or the perception that hostilities may be imminent, military conflict and acts of war, 
including further escalation of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the related response, including sanctions or other restrictive actions, by the United States 
and/or other countries could adversely impact our business, supply chain or partners.  While the price of bitcoin miners has dropped as the price of bitcoin 
has dropped, the U.S. inflation rate has steadily increased since 2021 and into 2022. These inflationary pressures, as well as disruptions in our supply chain, 
have increased the costs of most other goods, services and personnel, which have in turn caused our capital expenditures and operating costs to rise. 
Sustained levels of high inflation caused the U.S. Federal Reserve and other central banks to increase interest rates, which have raised the cost of acquiring 
capital and reduced economic growth, either of which—or the combination thereof—could hurt the financial and operating results of our business. In 
addition, the extent and duration of the situation in Ukraine, resulting sanctions and resulting future market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could 
be significant.
 
The effects of such global economic conditions, including continuing or worsening inflationary issues and associated changes in monetary policy or 
potential economic recession, and geopolitical events could adversely affect our ability to access the capital and other financial markets, and if so, we may 
need to consider alternative sources of funding for some of our growth and operations and for working capital, which may increase our cost of, as well as 
adversely impact our access to, capital.

Divestitures and discontinued operations could negatively impact our business, and retained liabilities from businesses that we have sold could 
adversely affect our financial results.

In connection with the execution of our strategy to focus entirely on bitcoin mining, we have completed several divestitures, including the divestiture of a 
part of our former energy business. We intend to make further dispositions in connection with our non-bitcoin mining related businesses, which we may not 
be able to complete on favorable terms or at all.  If we do not realize the expected benefits of these divestitures or our post-completion liabilities and 
continuing obligations are substantial and exceed our expectations, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be negatively 
impacted. 
 
As a result of such dispositions, bitcoin mining is now the sole driver of our business and revenues and is expected to continue to be the source of 
substantially all of our revenues for the foreseeable future, which has the effect of increasing our exposure to the risks described in this Annual Report.
 
Further, in the course of our discontinued operations, we may become subject to legal actions based on a claim that our legacy energy products are or were 
defective in workmanship or have caused personal or other injuries. We may also be subject to lawsuits and other claims in the future if our legacy products 
or installed systems malfunction, including, for example, if any of our energy system offerings (such as installed racking systems, photovoltaic modules, 
batteries, inverters, or other products) causes injuries. Because energy systems and many of our other current and anticipated products are electricity-
producing devices, it is possible that customers or their property could be injured or damaged by our products, whether due to product malfunctions, 
defects, improper installation or other causes. Further, since our products are used in systems that are made up of components sourced from third party 
manufacturers, we may be subject to product liability claims even if our products do not malfunction. Additionally, any of our products could be subject to 
recalls due to product malfunctions or defects.
 
The successful assertion of product liability claims against us could result in potentially significant monetary damages that could require us to make 
significant payments, as well as subject us to adverse publicity, damage our reputation and competitive position. We rely on third-party manufacturing 
warranties, warranties provided by our manufacturing partners and our general liability insurance to cover product liability claims and have not obtained 
separate product 
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liability insurance. Such warranties and insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover all potential claims. Moreover, even if such warranties and 
insurance coverage are sufficient, any successful claim could significantly harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Enforcement Operations

If regulatory changes or interpretations of our activities require our registration as a money services business (an “MSB”) under the regulations 
promulgated by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act (the “BSA”), or otherwise 
under state laws, we may incur significant compliance costs, which could be substantial or cost-prohibitive. If we become subject to these regulations, 
our costs in complying with them may have a material adverse effect on our business and the results of our operations.

To the extent our bitcoin mining activities cause us to be deemed an MSB under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the BSA, 
we may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations, including those that would mandate us to implement anti-money laundering programs, make 
certain reports to FinCEN and maintain certain records.

To the extent that our cryptocurrency activities cause us to be deemed a “money transmitter”  (an “MT”) or be given an equivalent designation, under state 
law in any state in which we operate, we may be required to seek a license or otherwise register with a state regulator and comply with state regulations that 
may include the implementation of anti-money laundering programs, maintenance of certain records and other operational requirements. Currently, the 
New York State Department of Financial Services maintains a comprehensive “BitLicense” framework for businesses that conduct “virtual currency 
business activity.” In July 2020, Louisiana enacted the Virtual Currency Businesses Act, becoming the second state after New York to enact a stand-alone 
virtual currency law. We will continue to monitor for developments in state-level legislation, guidance or regulations applicable to us.

Such additional federal or state regulatory obligations in the United States or obligations that could arise under the regulatory frameworks of other 
countries may cause us to incur significant expenses, possibly affecting its business and financial condition in a material and adverse manner. Furthermore, 
we and our service providers may not be capable of complying with certain federal or state regulatory obligations applicable to MSBs and MTs or similar 
obligations in other countries. If we are deemed to be subject to such additional regulatory and registration or licensing requirements, we may be required 
to substantially alter our bitcoin mining activities and possibly cease engaging in such activities. Any such action may adversely affect our business 
operations and financial condition and an investment in our company.

Current regulation regarding the exchange of bitcoins under the CEA by the CFTC is unclear; to the extent we become subject to regulation by the 
CFTC in connection with our exchange of bitcoin, we may incur additional compliance costs, which may be significant.

The Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (the “CEA”), does not currently impose any direct obligations on us related to the mining or exchange of 
bitcoins. Generally, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”), the federal agency that administers the CEA, regards bitcoin and other 
cryptocurrencies as commodities. This position has been supported by decisions of federal courts.

However, the CEA imposes requirements relative to certain transactions involving bitcoin and other digital assets that constitute a contract of sale of a 
commodity for future delivery (or an option on such a contract), a swap, or a transaction involving margin, financing or leverage that does not result in 
actual delivery of the commodity within 28 days to persons not defined as “eligible contract participants” or “eligible commercial entities” under the CEA 
(e.g., retail persons). Changes in the CEA or the regulations promulgated by the CFTC thereunder, as well as interpretations thereof and official 
promulgations by the CFTC, may impact the classification of bitcoins and, therefore, may subject them to additional regulatory oversight by the agency. 
Although to date the CFTC has not enacted regulations governing non-derivative or non-financed, margined or leveraged transactions in bitcoin, it has 
authority to commence enforcement actions against persons who violate certain prohibitions under the CEA related to transactions in any contract of sale of 
any commodity, including bitcoin, in interstate commerce (e.g., manipulation and engaging in certain deceptive practices).
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We cannot be certain as to how future regulatory developments will impact the treatment of bitcoins under the law. Any requirements imposed by the 
CFTC related to our mining activities or our transactions in bitcoin could cause us to incur additional extraordinary, non-recurring expenses, thereby 
materially and adversely impacting an investment in the Company. In addition, changes in the classification of bitcoins could subject us, as a result of our 
bitcoin mining operations, to additional regulatory oversight by the agency. Although to date the CFTC has not enacted regulations governing non-
derivative or non-financed, margined or leveraged transactions in bitcoin, it has authority to commence enforcement actions against persons who violate 
certain prohibitions under the CEA related to transactions in any contract of sale of any commodity, including bitcoin, in interstate commerce (e.g., 
manipulation and engaging in certain deceptive practices).

Moreover, if our mining activities or transactions in bitcoin were deemed by the CFTC to constitute a collective investment in derivatives for our 
shareholders, we may be required to register as a commodity pool operator with the CFTC through the National Futures Association. Such additional 
registrations may result in extraordinary, non-recurring expenses, thereby materially and adversely impacting an investment in the Company. If we 
determine not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, we may seek to cease certain of our operations. Any such action 
may adversely affect an investment in the Company.

While no provision of the CEA, or CFTC rules, orders or rulings (except as noted herein) appears to be currently applicable to our business, this is subject 
to change.

If the SEC or another regulatory body considers bitcoin to be a security under U.S. securities laws, we may be required to comply with significant SEC 
registration and/or other requirements.

In general, novel or unique assets such as bitcoin and other digital assets may be classified as securities if they meet the definition of investment contracts 
under U.S. law. In recent years, the offer and sale of digital assets other than bitcoin, most notably Kik Interactive Inc.’s Kin tokens and Telegram Group 
Inc.’s TON tokens, have been deemed to be investment contracts by the SEC. While we believe that bitcoin is unlikely to be considered an investment 
contract, and thus a security under the investment contract definition, we cannot provide any assurances that digital assets that we mine or otherwise 
acquire or hold for our own account, including bitcoin, will never be classified as securities under U.S. law.  This would obligate us to comply with 
registration and other requirements by the SEC and, therefore, cause us to incur significant, non-recurring expenses, thereby materially and adversely 
impacting an investment in the Company.

It may be illegal now, or in the future, to mine, acquire, own, hold, sell or use bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies, participate in blockchains or utilize 
similar cryptocurrency assets in one or more countries, the ruling of which could adversely affect us.

Although currently cryptocurrencies generally are not regulated or are lightly regulated in most countries, several countries, such as China, India and 
Russia, may continue taking regulatory actions in the future that could severely restrict the right to mine, acquire, own, hold, sell or use these 
cryptocurrency assets or to exchange for local currency. For example, in China and Russia (India is currently proposing new legislation), it is illegal to 
accept payment in bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies for consumer transactions and banking institutions are barred from accepting deposits of 
cryptocurrencies. In addition, in March 2021, the governmental authorities for the Chinese province of Inner Mongolia banned bitcoin mining in the 
province due to the industry’s intense electrical power demands and its negative environmental impacts. If other countries, including the U.S., implement 
similar restrictions, such restrictions may adversely affect us. For example, in New York State, a moratorium on certain bitcoin mining operations that run 
on carbon-based power sources was signed into law on November 22, 2022. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on us, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or 
otherwise acquire or hold for our own account, and thus harm investors.

Changing environmental regulation and public energy policy may expose our business to new risks.

Our bitcoin mining operations require a substantial amount of power and can only be successful, and ultimately profitable, if the costs we incur, including 
for electricity, are lower than the revenue we generate from our operations. As a result, any mine we establish can only be successful if we can obtain 
sufficient electrical power for that mine on a cost-effective basis, and our establishment of new mines requires us to find locations where that is the 
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case. For instance, our plans and strategic initiatives for expansion are based, in part, on our understanding of current environmental and energy 
regulations, policies, and initiatives enacted by federal, New York State and Georgia State regulators. If new regulations are imposed, or if existing 
regulations are modified, the assumptions we made underlying our plans and strategic initiatives may be inaccurate, and we may incur additional costs to 
adapt our planned business, if we are able to adapt at all, to such regulations.
  
In addition, there continues to be a lack of consistent climate legislation, which creates economic and regulatory uncertainty for our business because the 
bitcoin mining industry, with its high energy demand, may become a target for future environmental and energy regulation. New legislation and increased 
regulation regarding climate change could impose significant costs on us and our suppliers, including costs related to increased energy requirements, capital 
equipment, environmental monitoring and reporting, and other costs to comply with such regulations. Further, any future climate change regulations could 
also negatively impact our ability to compete with companies situated in areas not subject to such limitations. For example, the recently passed legislation 
in the state of New York imposing a moratorium on certain bitcoin mining operations that run carbon-based power.
  
Given the political significance and uncertainty around the impact of climate change and how it should be addressed, we cannot predict how legislation and 
regulation will affect our financial condition and results of operations. Further, even without such regulation, increased awareness and any adverse publicity 
in the global marketplace about potential impacts on climate change by us or other companies in our industry could harm our reputation. Any of the 
foregoing could result in a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Future developments regarding the treatment of digital assets for U.S. federal income and applicable state, local and non-U.S. tax purposes could 
adversely impact our business.

Due to the new and evolving nature of digital assets and the absence of comprehensive legal guidance with respect to digital assets and related transactions, 
many significant aspects of the U.S. federal income and applicable state, local and non-U.S. tax treatment of transactions involving digital assets, such as 
the purchase and sale of bitcoin and the receipt of staking rewards and other digital asset incentives and rewards products, are uncertain, and it is unclear 
what guidance may be issued in the future with respect to the tax treatment of digital assets and related transactions.
 
Current IRS guidance indicates that for U.S. federal income tax purposes digital assets such as bitcoins should be treated and taxed as property, and that 
transactions involving the payment of bitcoins for goods and services should be treated in effect as barter transactions. The IRS has also released guidance 
to the effect that, under certain circumstances, hard forks of digital currencies are taxable events giving rise to taxable income and guidance with respect to 
the determination of the tax basis of digital currency. However, current IRS guidance does not address other significant aspects of the U.S. federal income 
tax treatment of digital assets and related transactions. Moreover, although current IRS guidance addresses the treatment of certain forks, there continues to 
be uncertainty with respect to the timing and amount of income inclusions for various crypto asset transactions, including, but not limited to, staking 
rewards and other crypto asset incentives and rewards products. While current IRS guidance creates a potential tax reporting requirement for any 
circumstance where the ownership of a bitcoin passes from one person to another, it preserves the right to apply capital gains treatment to those 
transactions, which is generally favorable for investors in bitcoin.
 
There can be no assurance that the IRS will not alter its existing position with respect to digital assets in the future or that other state, local and non-U.S. 
taxing authorities or courts will follow the approach of the IRS with respect to the treatment of digital assets such as bitcoins for income tax and sales tax 
purposes. Any such alteration of existing guidance or issuance of new or different guidance may have negative consequences including the imposition of a 
greater tax burden on investors in bitcoin or imposing a greater cost on the acquisition and disposition of bitcoin, generally; in either case potentially having 
a negative effect on the trading price of bitcoin or otherwise negatively impacting our business. In addition, future technological and operational 
developments that may arise with respect to digital currencies may increase the uncertainty with respect to the treatment of digital currencies for U.S. 
federal income and applicable state, local and non-U.S. tax purposes.
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The open-source structure of the bitcoin network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for their 
contributions in maintaining and developing the protocol. A failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol could damage the bitcoin network 
and an investment in us.

As an open-source project, bitcoin does not generate revenues for its contributors, and contributors are generally not compensated for maintaining and 
updating the bitcoin network protocol. The lack of guaranteed financial incentives for contributors to maintain or develop the bitcoin network and the lack 
of guaranteed resources to adequately address emerging issues with the bitcoin network may reduce incentives to address the issues adequately or in a 
timely manner. To the extent that contributors may fail to adequately update and maintain the bitcoin network protocol, it could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, prospects, or operations and potentially the value of any bitcoin we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

Banks and financial institutions may not provide banking services, or may cut off services, to businesses that engage in cryptocurrency-related 
activities.

A number of companies that engage in bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related activities have been unable to find banks or financial institutions that are 
willing to provide them with bank accounts and other services. Similarly, a number of companies and individuals or businesses associated with 
cryptocurrencies may have had and may continue to have their existing bank accounts closed or services discontinued with financial institutions. To the 
extent that such events may happen to us, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any 
bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies we mine or otherwise acquire or hold for our own account.

Our interactions with the bitcoin network may expose us to SDN or blocked persons or cause us to violate provisions of law that did not contemplate 
distributed ledger technology.

The Office of Financial Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the US Department of Treasury requires us to comply with its sanction program and not conduct 
business with persons named on its specially designated nationals (“SDN”) list. However, because of the pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions, 
we may inadvertently and without our knowledge engage in transactions with persons named on OFAC’s SDN list. We also may not be adequately capable 
of determining the ultimate identity of the persons with whom we transact.

Risks Related to Our Securities

The price of our common stock may be volatile and could fluctuate widely, which could result in substantial losses for investors.

The market price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could fluctuate widely in response to various factors, many of which are beyond 
our control, including, without limitation:

• technological innovations or new products and services by us or our competitors;

• government regulation of our products and services;

• the establishment of partnerships with other technology companies;

• intellectual property disputes;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• sales of our common stock;

• our ability to integrate operations, technology, products and services;

• our ability to execute our business plan;

• operating results below expectations;

• loss of any strategic relationship;

• industry developments;
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• economic and other external factors; and

• period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.

In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating 
performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
 
Specifically, the trading price of our common stock has already been correlated, and, in the future, as we continue to expand our bitcoin mining business, 
may be increasingly correlated, to the trading prices of bitcoin. Bitcoin companies' stock have shown volatility relative to bitcoin, with many such stocks 
outperforming bitcoin in 2020 and 2021, but underperforming relative to bitcoin in 2022. Bitcoin and other cryptocurrency market prices, which have 
historically been volatile and are impacted by a variety of factors (including those discussed herein), are determined primarily using data from various 
exchanges, over-the-counter markets and derivative platforms. As noted elsewhere herein, while we had no direct exposure to FTX, the failure or 
insolvency of large exchanges like FTX may cause the price of bitcoin to fall and decrease confidence in the ecosystem, which could negatively impact our 
stock price. Furthermore, such prices may be subject to factors such as those that impact commodities, more so than business activities, which could be 
subjected to additional influence from fraudulent or illegitimate actors, real or perceived scarcity, and political, economic, regulatory or other conditions. 
Pricing may be the result of, and may continue to result in, speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of bitcoin, or our share price, inflating and 
making their market prices more. For example, the closing sales price of our common stock on January 3, 2022 was $9.59 and the closing price of bitcoin 
was $46,458 and, as of September 30, 2022, our closing sales price of our common stock was $3.18, and the closing price of Bitcoin was $19,431.
 
In addition, the stock markets in general have often experienced volatility, including, most recently, in the wake of COVID-19, that has sometimes been 
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations have caused, and may continue to 
cause, the trading price of our common stock to decline. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market disruption and volatility seen in the recent past 
could have an adverse effect on our ability to access capital, on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects, and on the 
market price of our common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class-action litigation 
has often been brought against that company. We may become involved in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type may be expensive to 
defend and may divert our management’s attention and resources from the operation of our business.

We have the right to designate and issue additional shares of preferred stock. If we were to designate and/or issue additional preferred stock, it is likely 
to have rights, preferences and privileges that may adversely affect the common stock.

We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of blank-check Preferred Stock, with such rights, preferences and privileges as may be determined from time 
to time by our Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors is empowered, without stockholder approval, to issue Preferred Stock in one or more series, and 
to fix for any series the dividend rights, dissolution or liquidation preferences, redemption prices, conversion rights, voting rights, and other rights, 
preferences and privileges for the Preferred Stock. Currently, 2,000,000 shares are designated as Series A Preferred Stock, of which 1,750,000 shares are 
outstanding. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock entitled to have the Company redeem each share of Series A Preferred Stock for three shares of 
our common stock only if a change of control event (as defined in the certificate of designation) occurs, and they are entitled to vote together with the 
holders of the Company’s common stock on all matters submitted to stockholders at a rate of forty-five (45) votes for each share of Series A Preferred 
Stock held.

The issuance of shares of Preferred Stock, depending on the rights, preferences and privileges attributable to the Preferred Stock, could reduce the voting 
rights and powers of the common stock and the portion of our assets allocated for distribution to common stockholders in a liquidation event, and could 
also result in dilution in the book value per share of the common stock. The preferred stock could also be utilized, under certain circumstances, as a method 
for raising additional capital or discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company, to the detriment of the investors in the common 
stock offered hereby. We cannot assure that we will not, under certain circumstances, issue shares of our Preferred Stock.
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We are currently the subject of a shareholder class action, and may be subject to shareholder litigation in the future; our costs of defending such 
litigation, arbitration and other proceedings and any adverse outcome of such litigation, arbitration or other proceeding may have a material adverse 
effect on our business and the results of our operations.
We are currently, and may from time to time in the future be, involved in and subject to material litigation and other legal proceedings. In particular, on 
January 20, 2021, a purported shareholder of our company, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated (together, the “Class”), filed a putative 
class action complaint (the “Class Complaint”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against us and certain members of 
our executive management team. The Class Complaint alleges that, between December 31, 2020 and January 14, 2021, we and certain members of our 
executive management team failed to disclose certain material information to investors and that, as a result of the foregoing, our positive statements about 
our business, operations, and prospects were materially misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. The claims made in the Class Complaint appear to be 
derived from a short seller report that was published about us. 
 
We have financed our strategic growth primarily by issuing new shares of our common stock in public offerings, which dilutes the ownership interests 
of our current stockholders, and which may adversely affect the market price of our securities.
 
We have raised capital to finance our strategic growth of our business through public offerings of our common stock, including through our at-the-market 
offering program, and we expect to need to raise additional capital through similar public offerings to finance the completion of current and future 
expansion initiatives. Utilizing those sources may be more challenging in the current financial market conditions, in particular where trading volume is 
diminished. We may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all, which could impair our growth and adversely 
impact our existing operations. If we raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests, 
and the per share value of our common stock could decline. Furthermore, if we engage in debt financing, the holders of any debt we issue would likely 
have priority over the holders of shares of our common stock in terms of order of payment preference. We may be required to accept terms that restrict our 
ability to incur additional indebtedness or take other actions including terms that require us to maintain specified liquidity or other ratios that could 
otherwise not be in the interests of our stockholders.

We have not paid dividends on shares of our common stock in the past and have no immediate plans to pay do so in the future.

We have not paid, and do not plan to pay, any cash dividends with respect to our common stock in the immediate future. We plan to reinvest all of our 
earnings, to the extent we have earnings, in order to market our products and to cover operating costs and to otherwise become and remain competitive. We 
cannot assure stockholders that we would, at any time, generate sufficient surplus cash that would be available for distribution to the holders of our 
common stock as a dividend. Therefore, stockholders should not expect to receive cash dividends on our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or do not continue to publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse or 
misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If 
any of the analysts who cover us now or in the future issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of 
these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn 
could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

 
Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and prevent us from fulfilling our debt obligations.
 
In April 2022, we entered into a Master Equipment Financing Agreement with Trinity Capital Inc., as the lender (the “Financing Agreement”). The 
Financing Agreement provides for up to $35 million of borrowings to finance our acquisition of blockchain computing equipment. We received a loan of 
$20 million at close, with the remaining $15 
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million fundable upon our request no later than December 31, 2022, As of the date of this filing $16,058,383 in principal is outstanding and due to Trinity 
Capital Inc.
 
Our indebtedness could:
 

•increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
•require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of 
our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, research and development efforts and other general corporate purposes;
•limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;
•place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt;
•result in greater interest rate risk and volatility;
•limit our ability to borrow additional funds; and
•make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt, including our obligation to repay our Financing Agreement under 
certain circumstances, or refinance our indebtedness on favorable terms or at all.

  
We incur significant costs and demands upon management and accounting and finance resources as a result of complying with the laws and 
regulations affecting public companies; any failure to establish and maintain adequate internal controls and/or disclosure controls or to recruit, train 
and retain necessary accounting and finance personnel could have an adverse effect on our ability to accurately and timely prepare our financial 
statements and otherwise make timely and accurate public disclosure.
 
As a public company, we incur significant administrative, legal, accounting and other burdens and expenses beyond those of a private company, including 
public company reporting obligations and Nasdaq listing requirements. In particular, we have needed, and continue to need, to enhance and supplement our 
internal accounting resources with additional accounting and finance personnel with the requisite technical and public company experience and expertise to 
enable us to satisfy such reporting obligations. Any failure to maintain an effective system of internal controls (including internal control over financial 
reporting) could limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and on a timely basis, or to detect and prevent fraud and could expose us to 
regulatory enforcement action and shareholder claims.
 
Furthermore, as a non-accelerated filer under the Exchange Act, we are not required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, but we are required to document and test our internal control procedures and prepare annual management assessments 
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Therefore, our internal controls over financial reporting will not receive the level of 
review provided by the process relating to the auditor attestation included in annual reports of issuers that are subject to the auditor attestation requirements, 
which may adversely impact market perception of our business and our common shares. Our assessments must include disclosure of identified material 
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. The existence of one or more material weaknesses could affect the accuracy and timing of our 
financial reporting. Testing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting involves significant costs and could divert management’s attention 
from other matters that are important to our business. Additionally, we may not be successful in remediating any deficiencies that may be identified. If we 
are unable to remediate any such deficiencies or otherwise fail to establish and maintain adequate accounting systems and internal control over financial 
reporting, or we are unable to continue to recruit, train and retain necessary accounting and finance personnel, we may not be able to accurately and timely 
prepare our financial statements and otherwise satisfy our public reporting obligations.
 
During our fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting as of September 30, 2022 and concluded that, as of September 30, 2022, our internal controls were effective. Any inaccuracies in our financial 
statements or other public disclosures (in particular, if resulting in the need to restate previously filed financial statements), or delays in our making 
required SEC filings, whether as a result of our internal controls over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures or otherwise, could have a 
material adverse effect on the confidence in our financial reporting, our credibility in the marketplace and the trading price of our common shares.
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We qualify as a smaller reporting company, and, under the smaller reporting company rules, we are subject to scaled disclosure requirements that may 
make it more challenging for investors to analyze our results of operations and financial prospects.
 
Currently, we qualify as a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. We have elected to provide disclosure under the 
smaller reporting company rules and, therefore, are subject to decreased disclosure obligations in our filings with the SEC, including being required to 
provide only two years of audited financial statements in our annual reports. Consequently, it may be more challenging for investors to analyze our results 
of operations and financial prospects.

Provisions in the Nevada Revised Statutes and our Bylaws could make it very difficult for an investor to bring any legal actions against our directors or 
officers for violations of their fiduciary duties or could require us to pay any amounts incurred by our directors or officers in any such actions.

Members of our Board of Directors and our officers will have no liability for breaches of their fiduciary duty of care as a director or officer, except in 
limited circumstances, pursuant to provisions in the Nevada Revised Statutes and our Bylaws as authorized by the Nevada Revised Statutes. Specifically, 
Section 78.138 of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides that a director or officer is not individually liable to the company or its shareholders or creditors 
for any damages as a result of any act or failure to act in his or her capacity as a director or officer unless it is proven that (1) the directors or officers act or 
failure to act constituted a breach of his or her fiduciary duties as a director or officer and (2) his or her breach of those duties involved intentional 
misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law. This provision is intended to afford directors and officers protection against and to limit their potential 
liability for monetary damages resulting from suits alleging a breach of the duty of care by a director or officer.

Accordingly, stockholders may be unable to prevail in a legal action against our directors or officers even if they have breached their fiduciary duty of care. 
In addition, our Bylaws allow us to indemnify our directors and officers from and against any and all costs, charges and expenses resulting from their acting 
in such capacities with us. This means that if one were able to enforce an action against our directors or officers, in all likelihood, we would be required to 
pay any expenses they incurred in defending the lawsuit and any judgment or settlement they otherwise would be required to pay. Accordingly, our 
indemnification obligations could divert needed financial resources and may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows, and adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

On October 8, 2022, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, CSRE Properties Sandersville, LLC, closed on the acquisition of a lease for real 
property and the purchase of tangible property located at 2015 George J. Lyons, Sandersville, Georgia 31082. The property is located in Washington 
County and consists of 41 existing modular data centers. The Company intends to utilize the property to conduct its bitcoin mining activities.
 
On August 17, 2022, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, CSRE Properties Washington, LLC, closed on the purchase of real property 
located at 197 Dixie Wood Road, Washington, Georgia, 30673 (the "Washington Property"). The total purchase price was $15,000,000 and the seller 
conveyed fee simple title by limited warranty deed. The property is located in Wilkes County, Georgia and contains approximately 27 acres. The Company 
intends to utilize the property to conduct its bitcoin mining activities.

On August 6, 2021, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary CSRE Properties Norcross, LLC, closed on the purchase of real property located at 
5295 Brook Hollow Parkway, Norcross, Georgia, 30071 (the “Norcross Property”). The total purchase price was $6,550,000 and the seller conveyed fee 
simple title by limited warranty deed. The Norcross Property consists of an office building of approximately 86,000 square feet on approximately 7 acres of 
land. The Norcross Property is utilized by CleanBlok to conduct bitcoin mining activities.
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On May 20, 2021, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary ATL, closed on the purchase of real property located at 2380 Godby Road, College 
Park, Georgia, 30349 (the “Godby Road Property”), which it had been leasing prior to the purchase. The total purchase price was $4,711,799 and the seller 
conveyed fee simple title by limited warranty deed. The Godby Road Property consists of an office/warehouse building of approximately 41,387 square 
feet on approximately 6 acres of land. The Godby Road Property is utilized by ATL and CleanBlok to conduct bitcoin mining activities.

On June 15, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for warehouse and office space at 2042 Corte Del Nogal, Suite C, Carlsbad, California, 92011. The 5-
year lease is for an approximately 12,704 square foot industrial unit and part of a larger 47,744 square foot multi-tenant industrial flex building and requires 
monthly base rent payments of $11,307. The leased property was utilized by our energy business, and we intend to identify a suitable sublessor once we are 
no longer utilizing the space.  

On August 26, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for office space at 2370 Corporate Circle, Suite 160, Henderson, Nevada, 89074. The 65-month 
lease is for 4,552 rentable square feet an initial base rent of $10,925 and increases 3% each year. The Corporate Circle space is utilized as the CleanSpark 
corporate and executive headquarters. 

We also have an office located at 1185 S. 1800 W, Suite 3, Woods Cross Utah 84087. We are currently on a year-to-year lease agreement that calls for us to 
make payments of $2,300 per month. This property is utilized by corporate employees.

The Company believes its existing facilities and equipment are in good operating condition and are suitable for the conduct of its business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to litigation, claims, investigations and audits arising from time to time in the ordinary course of our business.

For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, please see footnote 15 pertaining to commitments and contingencies included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrants Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

Market Information 

Our common stock, par value $0.001 per share, is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the ticker symbol “CLSK.”

Holders of Our Common Stock 

As of December 14, 2022, we had 177 registered holders of record of our common stock. 

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Holders of our 
common stock have no preemptive rights and no right to convert their common stock into any other securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund 
provisions applicable to our common stock. 

Dividends 

There are no restrictions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws or agreements to which are currently party that prevent us from declaring dividends. The 
Nevada Revised Statutes, however, do prohibit us from declaring dividends where after giving effect to the distribution of the dividend:

1. we would not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business, or;

2. our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus the amount that would be needed to satisfy the rights of shareholders 
who have preferential rights superior to those receiving the distribution.

We have never declared any dividends on shares of our common stock, and we do not plan to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities 

In the quarter ended December 2021, we issued an aggregate of 8,404 unregistered shares of our common stock to the Sellers of GridFabric in accordance 
with the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement entered into on August 31, 2020, based upon the achievement of certain milestones. The shares had a 
deemed aggregate value of $150,000. 

The shares of common stock were issued in a transaction not involving a public offering in reliance upon an exemption from registration provided by 
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2022, there were no other unregistered sales of our securities that were not reported in a Current Report on Form 8-
K or our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.  

Repurchases 

The Company has not made any repurchases of shares or other units of any class of the Company’s equity securities during the fourth quarter of the fiscal 
year covered by this Annual Report. 

Item 6. [Reserved]  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
Our discussion includes forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties, such as our plans, objectives, 
expectations and intentions. Actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of a number of factors. We use words such as anticipate, estimate, plan, project, continuing, ongoing, expect, believe, intend, may, will, should, could, 
and similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements.  See "Forward-Looking Statements."

Business Overview
We are a sustainable bitcoin mining operator that owns and operates facilities as well as holds contracts with co-location and hosting operators.   A bitcoin 
mining company uses specialized computers to verify transactions on the bitcoin blockchain.  Without mining, there would be no bitcoin.  Prior to June 
2022, we also operated in a specialized energy industry that provided advanced energy technology solutions to commercial and residential customers.  
Effective June 30, 2022, the Company deemed its energy operations to be discontinued operations due to its strategic decision to strictly focus on its bitcoin 
mining operations and divest of its energy assets.   Accordingly, the Company now solely operates in one business segment.  The energy segment has now 
been classified as held-for-sale and will be discussed in this management discussion & analysis within the "Results of Discontinued Operations" section.  
On November 18, 2022, we disposed of the majority of our intellectual property and software related to the energy segment. We are currently working to 
sell the remaining assets and inventory of the energy segment, but currently plan to maintain ownership of the patents related to the gasifier technology.   

Results of Operations for the Year Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Bitcoin Mining Operations

Bitcoin mining revenue

We earned $130,999,686 in revenues during the year ended September 30, 2022, which was an increase of $92,153,053, or 237%, as compared with 
$38,846,633 in revenues for the year ended September 30, 2021 primarily due to increase in revenues from our bitcoin mining operations.   Bitcoin mining 
revenues are determined by two main drivers; quantity of bitcoin mined and the price of bitcoin on the date the bitcoin is mined.  During the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2022, we mined 3,752 bitcoin with an average bitcoin price of $34,916 as compared to 899 bitcoin with an average bitcoin price of 
$43,232 during the year ended September 30, 2021.   The increase in the quantity of bitcoin mined is primarily based on the increased number of miners in 
operation which increased to approximately 42,000 as of September 30, 2022.  The increase in miners in operation increases our hashrate, which is our total 
computational power, and which when understood in the context of global hashrate, determines how much bitcoin we are able to mine.  

Other services revenues

Other services revenues pertain to our data center operations for which we earned $524,759 in revenue from our data center operation for the year ended 
September 30, 2022, which is an increase of $84,287, or 19% as compared to $440,472 for the year ended September 30, 2021.  This increase was due to a 
full year of data center operations during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, whereas the prior fiscal year saw data center operations begin in 
December 2020 as the result of the ATL acquisition. 

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense)

Our cost of revenues were $41,233,650 for the year ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $35,970,621, or 683%, as compared with cost of revenues of 
$5,263,029 for the year ended September 30, 2021.    These costs were primarily related to energy costs to operate the mining equipment within our owned 
facilities, which was $13,554,648 for the 
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year ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $10,610,995 as compared to $2,943,653 for the year ended September 30, 2021.   We also incurred hosting 
fees of $22,707,539 for the year ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $20,761,197 as compared to $1,946,342 for the year ended September 30, 2021, 
which was the result of our co-location agreement with Coinmint.  The increases in both utilities and hosting fees were due to the increases in the volume 
of mining equipment installed in both our owned and co-locations as well as a general increase in the cost of each MW utilized.  

Professional fees

Professional fees, which consists primarily of legal, accounting and consulting fees, were $6,469,064 for the year ended September 30, 2022, a slight 
decrease of $68,998, or 1%, from $6,538,062 for the year ended September 30, 2021. Legal expenses were $2,713,726 for the year ended September 30, 
2022, as compared to $4,496,482 in the prior year.  Other professional fees, namely accounting, audit and consulting, were $3,755,338 for the year ended 
September 30, 2022 as compared to $2,041,580 for the year ended September 30, 2021 an increase of $1,713,758.   This increase was primarily attributable 
to additional activity in litigation and transactional costs.

Payroll expenses

Payroll expenses increased to $40,920,163 for the year ended September 30, 2022 from $21,181,905 for the same period ended September 30, 2021.  Our 
payroll expenses include all compensation related expenses for our employees and mainly includes salaries, wages, payroll related taxes and benefits and 
non-cash stock-based compensation.   Payroll expenses were $9,492,676 the year ended September 30, 2022, representing a decrease of 29% from 
$13,450,299 in the prior year ended September 30, 2021.   This decrease was primarily due to the Company’s exit from the energy business, some costs of 
which were classified as discontinued operations.

We grant stock-based awards to certain employees as a significant portion of our payroll related costs.   Stock-based compensation, which is a non-cash 
expense, was $31,464,994 for the year ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $22,918,282, or 268%, from $8,546,712 the prior year ended September 
30, 2021.  

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative fees increased to $10,422,716 for the year ended September 30, 2022 from $5,716,465 for the same period ended September 30, 
2021, representing an increase of $4,706,251.  This increase was primarily attributable to increases in corporate overhead including, but not limited to, 
insurance premiums, travel expenses and rent expenses.  

Other impairment expense (related to bitcoin)

Impairment expense in the amount of $12,210,269 was recognized for the year ended September 30, 2022 an increase of $5,602,193 as compared to 
$6,608,076 for the year ended September 30, 2021.   The impairment expense consists of bitcoin impairments due to the general decrease in bitcoin prices 
during the year.  Decreases in bitcoin prices for periods subsequent to the mining date are recorded as impairment expense.  ASC Topic 350 -Goodwill and 
Other requires subsequent increases in bitcoin prices are not allowed to be recorded (unrealized gains) unless the bitcoin is sold, at which point the gain is 
recognized.   

Realized gain on sale of bitcoin

Realized gain on sale of bitcoin decreased to $2,567,101 for the year ended September 30, 2022 from a realized gain of $3,104,378 for the year ended 
September 30, 2021 due to the decrease in bitcoin prices during the period.

Depreciation and amortization
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Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $49,044,877 for the year ended September 30, 2022, from $8,982,123 for the same period ended 
September 30, 2021, an increase of $40,062,754.   Depreciation expense increased by $39,676,525, or 536%, during the year ended September 30, 2022, to 
$47,081,550 from $7,405,025 due to increase in mining related equipment being placed in service during the comparative period.   Amortization expense 
for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $1,963,328, a decrease of $386,230, or 24%, from $1,577,098 for the prior year ended September 30, 2021

Other Income (Expenses)

Other expense was $2,224,472 for the year ended September 30, 2022, compared with other income of $3,669,015 for the year ended September 30, 2021, 
which is a variance of $5,893,487. Other expense for the year ended September 30, 2022 consisted primarily of an unrealized loss on derivative security of 
$1,949,770 as compared to gain for the same prior year period of $2,790,387. This change between the periods is the result of a change in fair value of the 
underlying instrument.

Interest expense in the current fiscal year ended September 30, 2022 also increased by $932,099 to $1,077,827 from $145,728 in the prior year comparable 
period. This increase was due to the Company increasing the amount of long-term debt during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022

Net Loss from Continuing Operations

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $40,089,393  as compared to net loss of $8,229,162 for the year ended 
September 30, 2021.  

Results of Discontinued Operations

Revenues from our former energy segment, which is now classified as discontinued operations remained fairly consistent for fiscal year ended September 
30, 2022 from fiscal  2021, $9,667,290  and $10,151,010 respectively.  The total costs and expenses for the year ended September 30, 2022 increased to 
$26,900,776 from $23,725,506 for the year ended September 30, 2021 primarily due to impairment expenses related to the energy business and severance 
related payroll expenses. As a result, the net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended September 30, 2022 increased to $17,236,961 from 
$13,582,848 in the prior year ended September 30, 2021.  The Company expects that most costs related to discontinued operations have been incurred as of 
the period ended September 30, 2022 and future period costs will significantly decline in subsequent periods.

Net Loss 

Net loss for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $57,326,354, in increase of $35,514,344 compared to net loss of $21,812,010 for the year ended 
September 30, 2021.

Non-GAAP Measure

We present adjusted EBITDA, which is not a measurement of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or 
GAAP. Because of varying available valuation methodologies, subjective assumptions and the variety of equity instruments that can impact a company's 
non-cash operating expenses, CleanSpark management believes that providing this non-GAAP financial measure that exclude non-cash and non-recurring 
expenses allows for meaningful comparisons between the Company's core business operating results and those of other companies, as well as providing the 
Company with an important tool for financial and operational decision making and for evaluating its own core business operating results over different 
periods of time.  We believe that adjusted EBITDA is also useful to investors and analysts in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a 
consistent basis. Adjusted EBITDA excludes (i) impacts of interest, taxes, and depreciation; (ii) significant non-cash expenses such as our share-based 
compensation expense, unrealized gains/losses on securities, certain financing costs, other non-cash items that we believe are not reflective of our general 
business performance, and for which the accounting requires management judgment, and the resulting expenses could vary significantly in comparison to 
other companies; (iii) significant impairment losses related to long-lived and digital assets, which include our bitcoin for which the accounting requires 
significant estimates and judgment, and the resulting expenses could vary significantly 
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in comparison to other companies; and (iv) and impacts related to discontinued operations that would not be applicable to our future business activities.

The Company's adjusted EBITDA measure may not provide information that is directly comparable to that provided by other companies in its industry, as 
other companies in its industry may calculate non-GAAP financial results differently, particularly related to non-recurring, unusual items. The Company's 
adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to operating income or as an 
indication of operating performance or any other measure of performance derived in accordance with GAAP. Our management does not consider adjusted 
EBITDA to be a substitute for, or superior to, the information provided by GAAP financial results.

We are providing non-GAAP adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“adjusted EBITDA”) that excludes the impact of 
interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, our share-based compensation expense, and impairment of assets, unrealized gains/losses on securities, certain 
financing costs, other non-cash items, certain non-recurring expenses, and impacts related to discontinued operations; Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental 
financial measure and is not a measurement of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and, as 
a result, this supplemental financial measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Management uses adjusted EBITDA, 
a non-GAAP financial measure internally to help understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and to help make operating decisions.

Non-GAAP financial measures are subject to material limitations as they are not in accordance with, or a substitute for, measurements prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. For example, we expect that share-based compensation expense, which is excluded from the adjusted EBITDA, will continue to be 
a significant recurring expense over the coming years and is an important part of the compensation provided to certain employees, officers, and directors.

We have also excluded impairment losses on assets, including impairments of our bitcoin from adjusted EBITDA, which may continue to occur in future 
periods as a result of our continued holdings of significant amounts of bitcoin. Adjusted EBITDA is not meant to be considered in isolation and should be 
read only in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. We rely primarily on such 
Consolidated Financial Statements to understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and use adjusted EBITDA only supplementally.
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The following is a reconciliation of our non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA, which excludes the impact of (i) interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization; (ii) our 
share-based compensation expense; (iii) impairment expense; (iv) unrealized gains/losses on securities; and (v) impacts related to discontinued operations, 
to its most directly comparable GAAP measure (i.e., net loss) for the periods indicated:
 

   Years Ended September 30,  
   2022   2021  

Reconciliation of non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA       
Net loss  $ (57,326,354 )  $ (21,812,010 )
Loss on discontinued operations   17,236,961    13,582,848  
Other impairment loss (related to bitcoin)   12,210,269    6,608,076  
Impairment expense - other   250,000    -  
Impairment expense - goodwill   12,048,419    -  
Depreciation and amortization   49,044,877    8,982,123  
Share-based compensation expense   31,464,994    8,546,712  
Other income   (308,036 )   (544,777 )
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (305,731 )   (84,198 )
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin   (2,567,101 )   (3,104,378 )
Realized gain on sale of equity security   (665 )   (179,046 )
Unrealized loss of equity security   1,847    5,153  
Unrealized loss (gain) of derivative security   1,949,770    (2,790,387 )
Interest income   (190,540 )   (221,488 )
Interest expense   1,077,827    145,728  
Gain on disposal of assets   (642,691 )   -  
Legal fees related to litigation   522,338    2,577,555  
Legal fees related to financing & business development transactions   827,136    46,760  
Severance expenses   404,749     
PPP debt forgiveness   —   $ (531,169 )
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA  $ 65,698,069   $ 11,227,502  

 
 
The following is a reconciliation of fair market value of our bitcoin holdings to the current carrying value at September 30, 2022 and 2021: 
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  

   
Carrying
Value (1)   

Fair Market
Value (2)   

Carrying
Value (1)   

Fair Market
Value (2)  

Number of Bitcoins held   595    595    627    627  
Value per coin (1) (2)  $ 18,735   $ 19,403   $ 37,645   $ 43,929  
Total  $ 11,147,478   $ 11,544,785   $ 23,603,415   $ 27,543,483  

(1) Value per coin is the average book value per coin determined by the number of coins held as of the balance sheet date divided by the carrying value.

(2) Value per coin is the quoted market price as of the balance sheet date.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are working capital, inventory management, capital expenditures, public company costs and general 
corporate needs. We expect these needs to continue as we further develop and grow our business. For the year ended September 30, 2022, our primary 
sources of liquidity came from existing cash  and cash equivalents, and bitcoin. Based on our current plans and business conditions, we believe that existing 
cash and cash equivalents and bitcoin, together with cash generated from operations will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requirements until we 
reach profitability, and we are not aware of any trends or demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely to result in a decrease in 
liquidity of our assets. We are likely to require additional capital to respond to technological advancements, competitive dynamics or technologies, business 
opportunities, challenges, acquisitions or unforeseen circumstances and in either the short-term or long-term may determine to engage in equity or debt 
financings or enter into credit facilities for other reasons. If we are unable to 
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obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to grow or support our business and to 
respond to business challenges could be significantly limited. In particular, rising inflation and interest rates, and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine 
have resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption and volatility in the global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital. If 
we are unable to raise additional funds when or on the terms desired, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

As of September 30, 2022, we had total current assets of $50,775,974, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, bitcoin, accounts receivable, inventory, 
prepaid expenses and other current assets, investment in debt security and related derivative asset, current assets held for sale, and total assets in the amount 
of $452,624,772. Our total current liabilities and total liabilities as of September 30, 2022 were $34,040,775 and $48,612,961, respectively. We had a 
working capital of $16,735,199 as of September 30, 2022. In addition, we have access to equity financing through our At-the-Market ("ATM") offering 
facility and debt financing through the lending arrangement we entered into in April 2022.

Material Cash Requirements

We are a party to many contractual obligations involving commitments to make payments to third parties. These obligations impact our short-term and 
long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. Certain contractual obligations are reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2022, 
while others are considered future commitments. Our contractual obligations primarily consist of cancelable purchase commitments with various parties to 
purchase goods or services, primarily miners and equipment, entered into in the normal course of business and operating leases. The Company also has 
contractual obligations outside the normal course of business related to acquisitions deemed to be business combinations.

For information regarding our contractual obligations, see Contractual Obligations below and refer to Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report.  For information regarding our contractual obligations related to acquisitions deemed to be business combinations, refer to 
Note 4 included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Operating Activities from Continuing Operations

Operating activities provided $77,806,160 in cash for the year ended September 30, 2022, as compared to cash outflows of $12,159,108 for the same period 
ended September 30, 2021. Our sale of bitcoin of $133,201,006, depreciation and amortization of $49,044,877, stock-based compensation of $31,464,994, 
and impairment of bitcoin of $12,210,269 were the main components of our operating cash flow for year ended September 30, 2022, offset primarily by the 
increase in bitcoin mining of $130,999,686, net loss of $57,326,354, and increase in prepaid and other current assets of $2,393,320. Our use of net cash in 
operating activities during the year ended September 30, 2021 were primarily driven by net loss from continuing operations for the period of $8,229,162, 
bitcoin mining of $38,846,633, and unrealized gain on derivative asset of $2,790,387, offset by stock based compensation of $8,546,712, depreciation and 
amortization of $9,336,941, impairment of bitcoin of $6,608,076, sale of bitcoin of $11,443,132, and increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of 
$4,246,445.
 
Cash provided by operating activities increased significantly primarily due to increased sales of bitcoin.  During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, 
the Company mined significantly more bitcoin than the prior year, resulting in greater cash proceeds generated.

Investing Activities from Continuing Operations

Cash flows used by investing activities during the year ended September 30, 2022 was $210,981,538 as compared with $228,157,922 for the year ended 
September 30, 2021. Our payments on miner equipment purchase and deposits of $171,181,268, purchase of fixed assets of $19,285,904, and sale of 
miners of $3,497,654 were the main components of our investing cash flow for the year ended September 30, 2022. 

Our purchase of fixed assets of $139,234,948, and deposits on mining equipment of $89,260,010 were the main components of our negative investing cash 
flow for the year ended September 30, 2021. The negative cash flow from 
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investing activities was offset by acquisition of ATL Data Center, net of cash received of $45,783 and sale of equity securities of $373,121.

Financing Activities from Continuing Operations

Cash flows generated by financing activities during the year ended September 30, 2022 amounted to $141,959,688, as compared with $268,058,393 for the 
year ended September 30, 2021. Our cash flows from financing activities for the year ended September 30, 2022 consisted primarily of proceeds from 
underwritten offering of $125,047,987 and proceeds from equipment backed loan of $19,620,356. Our cash flows from financing activities for the year 
ended September 30, 2021 consisted of $270,656,118 in proceeds from offerings, $3,750,932 in proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options offset 
by repayments of $5,882,553 on promissory notes and $288,602 in finance leases. 

 
In June 2021, we implemented an at-the-market share offering program (“ATM Offering”), whereby we may offer and sell our shares of common stock, 
$0.001 par value per share, having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $500 million. During our fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, under this 
program, we sold 17,722,026 shares at a weighted average price of $7.06 per share, generating net proceeds of $125,047,987.  The proceeds were used 
primarily to make acquisitions of capital equipment, including but not limited to bitcoin mining equipment, electrical infrastructure and acquisitions 
deemed business combinations.
 
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

The Company experienced significant cash outflows from its energy segment, which is a significant reason the Company concluded to exit the energy 
business segment.   The cash used in the operating activities of the energy segment (discontinued operations) for the year ended September 30, 2022 was 
$6,362,067, as compared to cash used of $11,827,102 for the year ended September 30, 2021.   The Company anticipates that the sale of its energy business 
will improve the future total cash provided by operating activities, and will improve liquidity to fund future growth initiatives in the bitcoin mining 
segment.   

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements   

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from 
Contracts with Customers, which requires contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the 
acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it had originated the contracts. Under the 
current business combinations guidance, such assets and liabilities are recognized by the acquirer at fair value on the acquisition date. This new guidance is 
effective for the Company for its fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is 
permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company is evaluating its potential impact but does not expect the new standard to have a material 
impact on the Company's results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments 
on October 1, 2020 (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 requires entities to use a new forward-looking “expected loss” model that reflects expected credit 
losses, including credit losses related to trade receivables, and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to 
inform credit loss estimates, which generally will result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. As the Company was a Smaller Reporting 
Company at the time of issuance of the ASU, the Company expects to adopt the ASU effective October 1, 2023, including the interim periods within the 
fiscal year. Early application of the adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating its potential impact but does not expect the new standard to have a 
material impact on the Company's results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - 
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (subtopic 815-40),” which reduces the number of accounting models in ASC 470-20 that require separate accounting for 
embedded conversion features. As a result, a convertible debt instrument will be accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost as long as 
no other features require bifurcation and recognition as derivatives. By removing those separation models, the effective interest rate of convertible debt 
instruments will be closer to the coupon interest rate. Further, the diluted net income 
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per share calculation for convertible instruments will require the Company to use the if-converted method. The treasury stock method should no longer be 
used to calculate diluted net income per share for convertible instruments. The amendment will be effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We expect the adoption of ASU 2020-06 to not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements or disclosures.

The Company has evaluated all other recent accounting pronouncements and believes that none of them will have a material effect on the Company's 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our accounting policies are discussed in detail in the footnotes to our financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
September 30, 2022 however we consider our critical accounting policies to be those related to revenue recognition, long-lived assets, fair value of 
financial instruments, bitcoin, and stock-based compensation.

Our significant estimates include estimates used to review the Company’s goodwill impairments and estimations of  recoverability for long-lived assets.  
The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not required for smaller reporting companies.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Financial Statements Required by Article 8 of Regulation S-X:

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements:
 
F-1 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 206)
F-3 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2022 and 2021;
F-4 Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021;
F-5 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021
F-7 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021;
F-9 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
CleanSpark, Inc. 
  
Opinion on the Financial Statements
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CleanSpark, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of September 30, 
2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2022 and 2021 , and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years 
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
  
Basis for Opinion
  
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor 
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
  
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
  
Critical Audit Matters
  
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) 
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical 
audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
  
Evaluation of the Accounting for and Disclosure of Bitcoin Mining Revenue Recognized
  
As disclosed in Note 2, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company provides 
computing power to the mining pools and in exchange for providing such computing power, the Company is entitled to a fractional share of the fixed 
cryptocurrency award the pool operator receives for successfully adding a block to the blockchain, plus a fractional share of the transaction fees attached to 
that block. The Company’s fractional share is based on the proportion of computing power the Company contributed to the mining pool operator to the total 
computing power contributed by all mining pool participants in solving the current algorithm. During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company 
recognized net bitcoin mining revenue of approximately $131.0 million. We identified the accounting for and disclosure of bitcoin mining revenue 
recognized 
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as a critical audit matter because, currently, no specific definitive guidance exists for the accounting for and disclosure of bitcoin mining revenue 
recognized in accordance with GAAP. The Company’s management has exercised significant judgment in their determination of how existing GAAP 
should be applied to the accounting for and disclosure of bitcoin mining revenue recognized.
  
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following:
 · Performed a site visitation of the facilities where the Company’s mining hardware is located. The visitation included an observation of the 

physical and environmental controls and mining equipment inventory observation procedures;
 · Evaluated management’s rationale for the application of ASC 606 to account for bitcoin awards earned;
 · Evaluated management’s disclosures of its bitcoin activities in the financial statement footnotes;
 · Evaluated and tested management’s rationale and supporting documentation associated with the valuation of bitcoin awards earned;
 · Independently confirmed certain financial data and wallet records directly with the mining pool;
 · Compared the Company’s wallet records of bitcoin mining revenue received to publicly available blockchain records; and
 · Undertook an analytical review of total bitcoin mining revenue expected to be recognized by the Company by assessing the total hash 

power contributed onto the network by the Company against total block rewards and transaction fees issued over the year.
  
Evaluation of the Accounting for and Disclosure of Bitcoin Held
  
As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, bitcoin held by the Company as of September 30, 2022, are accounted for as indefinite-
lived intangible assets and have been included in current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s bitcoin as of September 30, 2022 
amounted to approximately $11.1 million. We identified the accounting for and disclosure of bitcoin held as a critical audit matter because, currently, no 
specific definitive guidance exists for the accounting for and disclosure of bitcoin held in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”). The Company’s management has exercised significant judgment in their determination of how existing GAAP should be applied 
to the accounting for bitcoin held, the associated financial statement presentation and accompanying footnote disclosures.
  
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following:
 · Evaluated management’s rationale for the application of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350 to account for bitcoin held and 

examined management’s processes for determining the amount of impairment expense recognized;
 · Evaluated management’s rationale for the inclusion of bitcoin as a current asset on the consolidated balance sheets;
 · Independently and directly confirmed the balance and ownership of bitcoin that is in the custody of a third party;
 · Evaluated management’s disclosures of its bitcoin activities in the financial statement footnotes; and
 · Examined supporting sale and cash receipt evidence for bitcoin sales, including management’s processes for calculating any gains or 

losses on sales of its bitcoin.
  
/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP
www.malonebailey.com
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
Houston, Texas
December 14, 2022
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

  
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
ASSETS       
Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash  $ 20,462,570   $ 18,040,327  
Accounts receivable, net   27,029    307,067  
Inventory   216,404    79,810  
Prepaid expense and other current assets   7,930,614    2,137,801  
Bitcoin   11,147,478    23,603,210  
Derivative investment asset   2,955,890    4,905,660  
Investment in equity security   —    260,772  
Investment in debt security, AFS, at fair value   610,108    494,608  
Current assets held for sale   7,425,881    7,897,066  

Total current assets  $ 50,775,974   $ 57,726,321  
        
Property and equipment, net  $ 376,781,380   $ 137,621,546  
Operating lease right of use asset   550,930    663,802  
Intangible assets, net   6,485,051    8,222,872  
Deposits on mining equipment   12,497,111    87,959,910  
Other long-term asset   3,989,652    875,538  
Goodwill   —    12,048,419  
Long-term assets held for sale   1,544,674    12,354,713  
Total assets  $ 452,624,772   $ 317,473,121  
        
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       
Current liabilities       

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 24,661,860   $ 6,982,514  
Operating lease liability   112,955    104,131  
Finance lease liability   260,387    413,798  
Acquisition liability   —    300,000  
Contingent consideration   —    820,802  
Current portion of long-term loans payable   7,786,049    —  
Dividends payable   20,828    —  
Current liabilities held for sale   1,198,696    1,441,777  

Total current liabilities  $ 34,040,775  . $ 10,063,022  
Long-term liabilities       

Operating lease liability, net of current portion   447,591    560,546  
Finance lease liability, net of current portion   179,997    458,308  
Loans payable, net of current portion   13,433,068    —  
Long-term liabilities held for sale   511,530    674,779  

Total liabilities  $ 48,612,961   $ 11,756,655  
        
Stockholders' equity       

Common stock; $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 55,661,337 and
   37,395,945 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and 
   September 30, 2021, respectively   55,662    37,394  
Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; Series A
   shares; 2,000,000 authorized; 1,750,000 and 1,750,000 issued and outstanding
   as of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, respectively   1,750    1,750  
Additional paid-in capital   599,898,202    444,074,832  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   110,108    (5,392 )
Accumulated deficit   (196,053,911 )   (138,392,118 )

Total stockholders' equity   404,011,811    305,716,466  
        
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 452,624,772   $ 317,473,121  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
 

  For the year ended  

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Revenues, net       

Bitcoin mining revenue, net  $ 130,999,686   $ 38,846,633  
Other services revenue   524,759    440,472  

Total revenues, net   131,524,445    39,287,105  
       
Costs and expenses       

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below)   41,233,650    5,263,029  
Professional fees   6,469,064    6,538,062  
Payroll expenses   40,920,163    21,181,905  
General and administrative expenses   10,422,716    5,716,465  
Gain on disposal of assets   (642,691 )   —  
Other impairment expense (related to bitcoin)   12,210,269    6,608,076  
Impairment expense - other   250,000    —  
Impairment expense - goodwill    12,048,419    —  
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin   (2,567,101 )   (3,104,378 )
Depreciation and amortization   49,044,877    8,982,123  

Total costs and expenses   169,389,366    51,185,282  
       
Loss from operations   (37,864,921 )   (11,898,177 )
       
Other income (expense)       

Other income   308,036    544,777  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   305,731    84,198  
Realized gain on sale of equity security   665    179,046  
Unrealized loss on equity security   (1,847 )   (5,153 )
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative security   (1,949,770 )   2,790,387  
Interest income   190,540    221,488  
Interest expense   (1,077,827 )   (145,728 )

Total other (expense) income   (2,224,472 )   3,669,015  
       
Loss before income tax (expense) or benefit   (40,089,393 )   (8,229,162 )

Income tax expense   —    —  
Loss from continuing operations  $ (40,089,393 )  $ (8,229,162 )

        
Discontinued operations       

Loss from discontinued operations  $ (17,236,961 )  $ (13,582,848 )
Income tax (expense) or benefit   —    —  

Loss on discontinued operations  $ (17,236,961 )  $ (13,582,848 )
       
Net loss  $ (57,326,354 )  $ (21,812,010 )
       

Preferred stock dividends   335,439    177,502  
       

Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (57,661,793 )  $ (21,989,512 )

       
Other comprehensive income (loss)   115,500    (5,392 )
       
Total comprehensive loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (57,546,293 )  $ (21,994,904 )

       
Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share - basic  $ (0.95 )  $ (0.29 )

       
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   42,614,197    29,441,364  

       
Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share - diluted  $ (0.95 )   (0.29 )

       
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted   42,614,197    29,441,364  

       
Loss on discontinued operations per common share - basic  $ (0.40 )  $ (0.46 )

       
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   42,614,197    29,441,364  

       
Loss on discontinued operations per common share - diluted  $ (0.40 )  $ (0.46 )

       
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted   42,614,197    29,441,364  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

   Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   

Accumulated
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income   Accumulated   

Total
Stockholders'  

   Shares   Amount   Shares   
Amoun

t   Capital   (Loss)   Deficit   Equity  
Balance, September 30, 2020

  
1,750,

000   $ 1,750    
17,390,

979   $
17,3

91   $
132,809,8

30   $ —   $
(116,402,6

06 )  $
16,426,36

5  
Shares issued for services   —    —    631,765    631    5,923,300    —    —    5,923,931  
Exercise of options and warrants   —    —    389,745    389    3,750,542    —    —    3,750,931  
Shares returned for settlement of debt   —    —    (15,000 )   (15 )   15    —    —    —  
Shares issued for business acquisition

  —    —    976,828    996    
15,783,37

6    —    —    
15,784,37

2  
Shares in escrow for business acquisition

  —    —    
1,119,1

60    
1,10

0    
10,580,78

6    —    —    
10,581,88

6  
Options and warrants issued for services   —    —    —    —    5,480,426    —    —    5,480,426  
Shares issued under underwritten offering, net 
of offering costs   —    —    

16,978,
734    

16,9
78    

270,639,1
40    —    —    

270,656,1
18  

Shares returned in relation to business 
acquisition   —    —    (76,266 )   (76 )   (892,583 )   —    —    (892,659 )
Preferred stock dividends   —    —    —    —    —    —    (177,502 )   (177,502 )
Net loss

  —    —    —    —    —    —    
(21,812,01

0 )   
(21,812,0

10 )
Other comprehensive loss   —    —    —    —    —    (5,392 )   —    (5,392 )
Balance, September 30, 2021

  
1,750,

000   $ 1,750    
37,395,

945   $
37,3

94   $
444,074,8

32   $ (5,392 )  $
(138,392,1

18 )  $
305,716,4

66  
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

   Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   

Accumulated
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income   Accumulated   

Total
Stockholders'  

   Shares   Amount   Shares   
Amoun

t   Capital   (Loss)   Deficit   Equity  
Balance, September 30, 2021

  
1,750,

000   $ 1,750    
37,395,

945   $
37,3

94   $
444,074,8

32   $ (5,392 )  $
(138,392,1

18 )  $
305,716,4

66  
Options and restricted stock units issued for 
services   —    —    

1,002,6
83    

1,00
3    

31,464,99
4    —    —    

31,465,99
7  

Shares withheld for net settlement of restricted 
stock units related to tax withholdings   —    —    

(358,68
1 )   (358 )   

(1,638,60
1 )   —    —    

(1,638,95
9 )

Shares issued for settlement of contingent 
consideration related to business acquisition   —    —    8,404    8    150,003    —    —    150,011  
Shares returned for settlement of contingent 
consideration and holdbacks related to 
business acquisition   —    —    

(232,51
8 )   (233 )   233    —    —    —  

Exercise of options   —    —    105,423    105    816,497    —    —    816,602  
Shares issued under equity offering, 
net of offering costs   —    —    

17,740,
081    

17,7
43    

125,030,2
44    —    —    

125,047,9
87  

Preferred stock dividends   —    —    —    —    —    —    (335,439 )   (335,439 )
Net loss

  —    —    —    —    —    —    
(57,326,35

4 )   
(57,326,3

54 )
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    115,500    —    115,500  
Balance, September 30, 2022

  
1,750,

000   $ 1,750    
55,661,

337   $
55,6

62   $
599,898,2

02   $ 110,108   $
(196,053,9

11 )  $
404,011,8

11  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 
   Year Ended  

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities       
Net loss  $ (57,326,354 )  $ (21,812,010 )
Less: Loss from discontinued Operations   17,236,961    13,582,848  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:       

Unrealized (gain) loss on equity security   1,847    5,153  
Realized gain on sale of equity security   (665 )   (179,046 )
Impairment of Bitcoin   12,210,269    6,608,076  
Realized gain on sale of Bitcoin   (2,567,101 )   (3,104,378 )
Bitcoin issued for services   611,244    296,592  
Impairment of goodwill   12,048,419    977,388  
Impairment of intangibles   -    554,322  
Impairment of investment in equity security   250,000    —  
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative asset   1,949,770    (2,790,387 )
Gain on fair value of contingent consideration   (345,791 )   (84,198 )
Non-cash lease expense   112,872    1,105,482  
Stock based compensation   31,464,994    8,546,712  
Depreciation and amortization   49,044,877    9,336,941  
Provision for bad debts   810,346    246,453  
Amortization of debt discount   45,910    -  
PPP loan forgiveness   —    (531,169 )
Gain on write-off and disposal of assets   (642,691 )   —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities       
Mining of bitcoin   (130,999,686 )   (38,846,633 )
Proceeds from sale of bitcoin   133,201,006    11,443,132  
Change in contract liabilities   -    (69,360 )
Decrease in operating lease liabilities   (104,131 )   (1,104,610 )
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   16,040,746    4,246,445  
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets   (2,393,320 )   (264,233 )
(Increase) in accounts receivables   (530,308 )   (429,683 )
Decrease (Increase) in Inventory   (136,593 )   107,055  
Long -term deposits paid   (2,176,461 )   —  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  from Continuing Operations  $ 77,806,160   $ (12,159,108 )
Net cash used in operating activities of Discontinued Operations   (6,362,067 )   (11,827,102 )
Net cash provided by (used in) Operating Activities  $ 71,444,093   $ (23,986,210 )
       
Cash Flows from investing       

Payments on miners (incl. deposits)  $ (171,181,268 )  $ (89,260,010 )
Purchase of fixed assets   (19,285,904 )   (139,234,948 )
Purchase of intangible assets   (225,000 )   —  
Settlement of holdbacks related to contingent consideration   (625,000 )   —  
Investment in infrastructure development   —    (81,868 )
Proceeds from sale of miners   3,497,654    —  
Proceeds from the sale of equity securities   9,590    373,121  
Acquisition of WAHA, net of cash received   (19,771,610 )   —  
Acquisition of ATL, net of cash received   —    45,783  
Deposit on Acquisition of Mawson   (3,400,000 )   —  

Net Cash used in Investing Activities - Continuing Operations  $ (210,981,538 )  $ (228,157,922 )
Net Cash used in Investing Activities - Discontinued Operations   -    (1,000,136 )
Net Cash used in Investing Activities  $ (210,981,538 )  $ (229,158,058 )
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities       

Payments on loans  $ (2,779,570 )  $ (5,882,553 )
Payments on preferred dividends   (314,610 )   (177,502 )
Payments on finance leases   (431,722 )   (288,602 )
Proceeds from equipment backed loan   19,620,356    -  
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants   817,247    3,750,932  
Proceeds from equity offerings, net   125,047,987    270,656,118  

Net cash provided by financing activities - Continued Operations  $ 141,959,688   $ 268,058,393  
Net cash provided by financing activities - Discontinued Operations   -    -  
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 141,959,688   $ 268,058,393  
       
        
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 2,422,243   $ 14,914,125  
        
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period  $ 18,040,327   $ 3,126,202  
        
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period  $ 20,462,570   $ 18,040,327  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information       

Cash paid for interest  $ 1,026,363   $ 156,204  
Cash paid for tax  $ —   $ —  

Non-cash investing and financing transactions       
Day one recognition of right of use asset and liability   $ —   $ 1,543,719  
Right of use asset and liability written off due to lease termination  $ —   $ 695,551  
Shares and options issued for business acquisition  $ —   $ 25,473,675  
Cashless exercise of options and warrants  $ —   $ 74  
Shares issued as collateral returned to treasury  $ —   $ 15  
Shares and options issued for services  $ —   $ 2,857,646  
Shares withheld for net settlement of restricted stock units related to tax withholdings  $ 1,638,959   $ —  
Fixed assets purchased through finance transactions  $ 212,421   $ —  
Shares issued for settlement of seller agreements related to acquisition  $ 150,011   $ —  
Shares returned as part of settlement of seller agreements related to acquisition  $ 233   $ —  
Preferred shares dividends accrued  $ 20,828   $ —  
Unrealized gain on investment in available-for-sale debt security  $ 115,500   $ —  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEANSPARK, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND LINE OF BUSINESS

Organization

The Company – CleanSpark, Inc. (“CleanSpark,” “we,” “our,” "Company") was incorporated in the state of Nevada on October 15, 1987 as SmartData 
Corporation. In October 2016, the Company changed its name to CleanSpark, Inc.

CleanSpark, Inc. is a sustainable bitcoin mining company. The Company, through itself and its wholly owned subsidiaries, has operated in the bitcoin 
mining sector since December 2020.

Lines of Business  

Bitcoin Mining Business
Through CleanSpark, Inc., and the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, ATL Data Centers LLC (“ATL”), CleanBlok, Inc. (“CleanBlok”), CleanSpark 
DW, LLC, and CleanSpark GLP, LLC, the Company mines bitcoin. The Company entered the bitcoin mining industry through its acquisition of ATL in 
December 2020. It acquired a second data center in August 2021 and has had a co-location agreement with New York-based Coinmint, LLC in place since 
July 2021. Bitcoin mining has now become the Company’s principal revenue generating business activity. The Company currently intends to acquire 
additional facilities, equipment and infrastructure capacity to continue to expand our bitcoin mining operations.
 
Through the Company’s subsidiaries CSRE Properties Norcross, LLC, CSRE Property Management Company, LLC, CSRE Properties, LLC, CSRE 
Properties Washington, LLC and CSRE Properties Sandersville, LLC the Company maintains real property holdings.
 
Discontinued Operations 
 
As of June 30, 2022, the Company deemed its energy operations to be discontinued operations due to its strategic decision to strictly focus on its bitcoin 
mining operations and divest of the majority of its energy assets.
 
Through our discontinued operations segment, we previously provided energy solutions through our wholly-owned subsidiaries CleanSpark, LLC, 
CleanSpark Critical Power Systems, Inc., GridFabric, LLC, and Solar Watt Solutions, Inc. These solutions consisted of engineering, design and software 
solutions, custom hardware solutions, Open Automated Demand response (“OpenADR”), solar, energy storage for microgrid and distributed energy 
systems.   The Company has since sold the majority of its software and intellectual property assets related to the Energy Segment, and is in the process of 
selling additional remaining inventory and assets.
 
We still own patented gasification energy technologies and are not currently planning to sell or market these technologies. Our technology converts organic 
material into synthesis gas, which can be used as fuel for a variety of applications and as feedstock for the generation of DME (Di-Methyl Ether). 

Other business activities
 
Through ATL, the Company also provides traditional data center services to a small number of remaining customers, such as providing customers with rack 
space, power and equipment, and offers several cloud services including virtual services, virtual storage, and data backup services.  The Company is in the 
process of offloading those customers. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Liquidity

The accompanying audited financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and have been filed with the SEC on December 14, 2022 (“Form 10-
K”).

As shown in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements, the Company incurred a net loss from continuing operations of $40,089,393 and 
$8,229,162 during the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, respectively. While the Company has experienced negative cash flows 
from investing activities due to its continued investments in capital expenditures in support of its bitcoin mining operations, it has generated positive cash 
flows from operating and financing activities in fiscal 2022. The Company has sufficient working capital to support its ongoing operations for the next 
twelve months. In addition, the Company has access to equity financing through its at-the-market ("ATM") offering facility and debt financing through the 
lending arrangement the Company entered into in April 2022 (see Note 9 and Note 11). As of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, the Company 
had working capital of $16,735,199 and $47,663,299, respectively.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CleanSpark, Inc., and its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, 
CleanSpark, LLC, CleanSpark II, LLC, CleanSpark Critical Power Systems Inc., p2kLabs, Inc, GridFabric, LLC, ATL Data Centers LLC, CleanBlok, Inc., 
CSRE Properties, LLC, Solar Watt Solutions, Inc, CSRE Properties Norcross, LLC and CSRE Property Management Company, LLC. All intercompany 
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation of these entities.

As of June 30, 2022, the Company deemed its energy operations to be discontinued operation due to its strategic shift to strictly focus on its bitcoin mining 
operations and divest of its energy assets. The disposal groups related to the energy operations are part of the following entities:  CleanSpark, LLC, 
CleanSpark Critical Power Systems Inc., GridFabric, LLC, and Solar Watt Solutions, Inc.

Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. The 
going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation one year after the date these financial statements are issued and 
will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The evaluation of going concern under the 
accounting guidance requires significant judgment which involves the Company to consider that it has historically incurred losses in recent years as it has 
prepared to grow its business through acquisition opportunities. The Company must also consider its current liquidity as well as future market and 
economic conditions that may be deemed outside the control of the Company as it relates to obtaining financing and generating future profits. As of 
September 30, 2022, the Company had $20,462,570 of available cash on-hand and Bitcoin with a fair market value of $11,147,478. In determining whether 
there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Company may consider the effects of any mitigating plans for 
additional sources of financing. The Company identified additional financing sources it believes are currently available to fund its operations and drive 
future growth that include (i) the ability to access capital using the ATM equity offering program available to the Company whereby the Company may sell 
additional shares of its common stock (discussed in Note 11 – Stockholders’ Equity), and (ii) the ability to raise additional financing from other sources. 
(Refer to Note 11 for further details). 

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of 
the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates 
include estimates used to review the Company’s goodwill and bitcoin impairment, intangible assets acquired, 
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impairments and estimations of long-lived assets, revenue recognition from bitcoin mining, valuation of derivative assets and liabilities, available-for-sale 
investments, allowances for uncollectible accounts, valuation of bitcoin, valuation of contingent consideration, warranty, and the valuations of share based 
awards. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as outlined in the Financial Accounting Standard Board's (“FASB”) 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue From Contracts with Customers, which requires that five steps be followed in evaluating 
revenue recognition: (i) identify the contract with the customer; (ii) identity the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction 
price; (iv) allocate the transaction price; and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfied a performance obligation.

Our accounting policy on revenue recognition for our bitcoin mining segment (sole reporting unit as of September 2022) by type of revenue is provided 
below.

Revenues from bitcoin mining

The Company has entered into contracts with digital asset mining pool operators to provide computing power to the mining pools. The contracts are 
terminable at any time by either party and the Company’s enforceable right to compensation only begins when the Company starts providing computing 
power to the mining pool operator. In exchange for providing computing power, the Company is entitled to a fractional share of the fixed cryptocurrency 
award the mining pool operator receives (less net digital asset transaction fees to the mining pool operator), for successfully adding a block to the 
blockchain, plus a fractional share of the transaction fees attached to that blockchain. The Company’s fractional share is based on the proportion of 
computing power the Company contributed to the mining pool operator to the total computing power contributed by all mining pool participants in solving 
the current algorithm. The transaction consideration the Company receives is noncash consideration, in the form of bitcoin, which the Company measures 
at fair value on the date received which is not materially different than the fair value at contract inception or time the Company has earned the award from 
the mining pools. Fair value of the bitcoin award received is determined using the spot price of the related bitcoin on the date earned.

There is currently no definitive guidance under GAAP or alternative accounting framework for the accounting for bitcoin recognized as revenue or held, 
and management has exercised significant judgment in determining the appropriate accounting treatment. In the event authoritative guidance is enacted by 
the FASB, the Company may be required to change its policies, which could have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results 
from operations. The total revenue recognized from bitcoin mining for the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021 is $130,999,686 and 
$38,846,633, respectively.

Revenues from data center services

The Company provides data services such as providing its customers with rack space, power and equipment, and cloud services such as virtual services, 
virtual storage, and data backup services, generally based on monthly services provided at a defined price included in the contracts. The performance 
obligations are the services provided to a customer for the month based on the contract. The transaction price is the price agreed with the customer for the 
monthly services provided and the revenues are recognized monthly based on the services rendered for the month.

The total revenue recognized from data center services for the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021 is $524,759 and $440,472, 
respectively.

Cost of Revenues

Bitcoin mining segment (sole reportable segment)

F-11



 

The Company includes energy costs and external co-location mining hosting fees in cost of revenues.    

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts due from banks and restricted cash. The Company’s restricted cash represents amounts held in trust 
for certain construction projects. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported in the consolidated 
balance sheets that agrees to the total of those amounts as presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted cash  $ 20,462,570   $ 14,571,198  
Restricted cash - construction escrow account   —    3,469,129  
Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash  $ 20,462,570   $ 18,040,327  

 

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable is comprised of uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms. They are initially recorded at the invoiced amount 
upon the sale of goods or services to customers, and do not bear interest. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and 
management closely monitors outstanding receivables based on factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historical trends, and other 
information. The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reviewed periodically for collectability. If management determines that collection is unlikely, an 
allowance that reflects management’s best estimate of the amounts that will not be collected is recorded.

Accounts receivable, net consists of the following:
 

   
September 30,

 2022   
September 30,

 2021  
Accounts Receivable, gross  $ 246,839   $ 307,067  
Provision for doubtful allowances   (219,810 )   —  
Total Accounts Receivable, net  $ 27,029   $ 307,067  

 

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being measured on a first-in, first-out basis. For solar panel and battery installations, 
the Company transfers component parts from inventories to cost of goods sold once installation is complete. The Company periodically reviews inventories 
for unusable and obsolete items based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions. Based on this evaluation, provisions are made to write 
inventories down to their net realizable value. There were no write-downs of inventory as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Prepaid expense and other current assets

The Company records a prepaid expense for costs paid but not yet incurred. Those expected to be incurred within one year are recognized and shown as a 
short-term pre-paid expense. Any costs expected to be incurred outside of one year would be considered other long term assets.

Other current assets are assets that consist of supplies, deposits, and interest receivable. Deposits and interest we expect to receive within one year are 
shown as short-term. Those we expect to receive outside of one year are shown as other long-term assets.

Investment securities
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Investment securities include debt securities and equity securities. Debt securities are classified as available for sale (“AFS”) and are reported as an asset in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their estimated fair value. As the fair values of AFS debt securities change, the changes are reported net of income tax 
as an element of OCI, except for other-than-temporarily-impaired securities. When AFS debt securities are sold, the unrealized gains or losses are 
reclassified from OCI to non-interest income. Securities classified as AFS are securities that the Company intends to hold for an indefinite period of time, 
but not necessarily to maturity. Any decision to sell a security classified as AFS would be based on various factors, including significant movements in 
interest rates, changes in the maturity mix of the Company’s assets and liabilities, liquidity needs, decline in credit quality, and regulatory capital 
considerations.

Interest income is recognized based on the coupon rate and increased by accretion of discounts earned or decreased by the amortization of premiums paid 
over the contractual life of the security.

For individual debt securities where the Company either intends to sell the security or more likely than not will not recover all of its amortized cost, OTTI 
(other than temporary impairment) is recognized in earnings equal to the entire difference between the security's cost basis and its fair value at the balance 
sheet date. For individual debt securities for which a credit loss has been recognized in earnings, interest accruals and amortization and accretion of 
premiums and discounts are suspended when the credit loss is recognized. Interest received after accruals have been suspended is recognized in income on 
a cash basis.

The Company holds investments in both publicly held and privately held equity securities. However, as described in Note 1, the Company is primarily 
doing business of in the bitcoin mining sector, and not in the business of investing in securities.

Privately held equity securities are recorded at cost and adjusted for observable transactions for same or similar investments of the issuer (referred to as the 
measurement alternative) or impairment. All gains and losses on privately held equity securities, realized or unrealized, are recorded through gains or losses 
on equity securities on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Publicly held equity securities are based on fair value accounting with unrealized gains or losses resulting from changes in fair value reflected as unrealized 
gains or losses on equity securities in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Concentration Risk

At times throughout the year, the Company may maintain cash balances in certain bank accounts in excess of FDIC limits. The cash balance, in excess of 
the FDIC limits was $20,212,570 and $17,790,327 for periods ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, respectively. The accounts offered by 
custodians of the Company’s bitcoin are not insured by the FDIC. The fair market value of bitcoin held in accounts covered by FDIC limits was 
$11,147,478 and $23,603,210 for the periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk in these accounts.

The Company has certain customers and vendors who individually represented 10% or more of the Company’s revenue or capital expenditures.   In fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2022, revenue is concentrated with one mining pool operator and all bitcoin reside in one exchange.  Refer to Note 16 - Major 
Customers and Vendors. 

Leases

In accordance with ASC 842, the Company assesses whether an arrangement contains a lease at contract inception. When an arrangement contains a lease, 
the Company categorizes leases with contractual terms longer than twelve months as either operating or finance. Finance leases are generally those leases 
that allow us to substantially utilize or pay for the entire asset over its estimated life. Assets acquired under finance leases are recorded in “Fixed Assets, 
net.” All other leases are categorized as operating leases.
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The Company records right-of use ("ROU") assets and lease obligations for its finance and operating leases, which are initially recognized based on the 
discounted future lease payments over the term of the lease. As the rate implicit in the Company's leases is not easily determinable, the Company’s 
applicable incremental borrowing rate is used in calculating the present value of the sum of the lease payments.

Lease term is defined as the non-cancelable period of the lease plus any options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the 
Company will exercise the option. The Company has elected not to recognize ROU asset and lease obligations for its short-term leases, which are defined 
as leases with an initial term of 12 months or less.

Some leases include multiple year renewal options. The Company’s decision to exercise these renewal options is based on an assessment of its current 
business needs and market factors at the time of the renewal. Currently, the Company has no leases for which the option to renew is reasonably certain and 
therefore, options to renew were not factored into the calculation of its right of use asset and lease liability as of September 30, 2022.

For all classes of underlying assets, the Company has elected to not separate lease from non-lease components.

Stock -based compensation

The Company follows the guidelines in FASB Codification Topic ASC 718-10 Compensation-Stock Compensation, which requires companies to measure 
the cost of employee and non-employee services received in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the grant-date fair value of the award. 
Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The Company may issue 
compensatory shares for services including, but not limited to, executive, management, accounting, operations, corporate communication, financial and 
administrative consulting services. The Company determines the grant date fair value of the options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For 
equity awards granted by the Company that are contingent upon market-based conditions, the Company fair values these awards using the Monte Carlo 
simulation model.  For discussion of accounting for restricted stock units ("RSUs"), please refer Note 13 – Stock-Based Compensation.

Loss per share

The Company reports earnings (loss) per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260-10 “Earnings Per Share,” which provides for calculation of “basic” and 
“diluted” earnings per share. Basic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed by dividing net income or loss available to common 
stockholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution of securities 
that could share in the earnings of an entity. The calculation of diluted net loss per share gives effect to common stock equivalents; however, potential 
common shares are excluded if their effect is anti-dilutive. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were 7,069,706 and 2,173,578, respectively, units of 
common stock equivalents that consist of options, warrants, and restricted stock units, as well as 5,250,000 shares issuable upon preferred stock 
conversions, that were excluded from the current and prior period diluted (loss) per share calculation as their effect is anti-dilutive. Provided below is the 
loss per share calculation for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
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For the Year

Ended September 30,  
   2022   2021  
Continuing Operations       
Numerator       
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (40,089,393 )  $ (8,229,162 )
Preferred stock dividends   335,439    177,502  
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders  $ (40,424,832 )  $ (8,406,664 )
       
Denominator       
Weighted- average common shares outstanding,
   basic   42,614,197    29,441,364  
Dilutive impact of stock options and other share-based awards   —    —  
Weighted- average common shares outstanding,
   diluted   42,614,197    29,441,364  
Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share attributable to common 
shareholders       
Basic  $ (0.95 )  $ (0.29 )
Diluted  $ (0.95 )  $ (0.29 )
        
Discontinued Operations       
Numerator       
Loss on discontinued operations  $ (17,236,961 )  $ (13,582,848 )
Denominator       
Weighted- average common shares outstanding,
   basic   42,614,197    29,441,364  
Dilutive impact of stock options and other share-based awards   —    —  
Weighted- average common shares outstanding,
   diluted   42,614,197    29,441,364  
Loss on discontinued operations per common share attributable to common shareholders       
Basic  $ (0.40 )  $ (0.46 )
Diluted  $ (0.40 )  $ (0.46 )
 

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Construction in progress is the construction or development of assets that has not 
yet been placed in service for its intended use. Depreciation for machinery and equipment, mining equipment, buildings, furniture and fixtures and 
leasehold improvements commences once they are ready for its intended use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the related leases. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 
 

  Useful life (years)
Land Improvements  15
Building  30
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 15 years
Miners  3-5
Mining Equipment  3-15
Infrastructure asset  Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Machinery and equipment  1-10
Furniture and fixtures  3-7
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In accordance with the FASB ASC 360-10, "Property, Plant and Equipment” the carrying value of property and equipment, and other long-lived assets is 
reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or circumstances that may suggest impairment. The Company recognizes impairment when the sum of 
the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses, if any, are measured as the excess of the 
carrying amount of the asset over its estimated fair value. During the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021 the Company did not record 
an impairment expense for assets within its continuing operations.   However, in connection with property and equipment in our discontinued operations, an 
impairment expense in the approximate amount of $32,000 was recognized and included in loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.    

Business combinations, Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Company accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, where 
the total purchase price is allocated to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The purchase price is 
allocated using the information currently available, and may be adjusted, up to one year from acquisition date, after obtaining more information regarding, 
among other things, asset valuations, liabilities assumed and revisions to preliminary estimates. The difference between the purchase price, including any 
contingent consideration, and the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Contingent consideration transferred is initially recognized at fair 
value. Contingent consideration classified as a liability or an asset is remeasured to fair value each period until settlement, with changes recognized in 
profit or loss. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured. Acquisition-related costs are recognized separately from the acquisition and 
are expensed as incurred.

The Company reviews its indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill for impairment annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value and may not be recoverable. In accordance with its policies, the Company performed an assessment of indefinite 
lived intangibles and goodwill for the year end September 30, 2022. 

During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred the following impairment losses:
 
   September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Impairment of bitcoin  $ 12,210,269   $ 6,608,076  
Impairment of goodwill   12,048,419    —  
Total impairment loss  $ 24,258,688   $ 6,608,076  
 
2022 Goodwill Impairment analysis

In completing the 2022 annual goodwill impairment analysis, the Company elected to perform a quantitative assessment for our goodwill. The assessment 
involves comparing the carrying value of the entity, including goodwill, to its estimated fair value. In accordance with ASU 2017-04, a goodwill 
impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. In determining the fair value for 
which the quantitative assessment was performed, the Company engaged a valuation specialist to perform the quantitative impairment analysis.  The 
valuation report included a combination of the market and income approach to test for goodwill impairment. The income approach is a valuation technique 
under which we estimate future cash flows using the financial forecast from the perspective of an unrelated market participant. Using historical trending 
and internal forecasting techniques, revenue is projected and applied to fixed and variable cost experience rates to arrive at the future cash flows. A 
terminal value was then applied to the projected cash flow stream. Future estimated cash flows were discounted to their present value to calculate the 
estimated fair value. The discount rate used was the value-weighted average of our estimated cost of capital derived using both known and estimated 
customary market metrics. In determining the estimated fair value, several factors were estimated, including projected operating results, growth rates, 
economic conditions, anticipated future cash flows and the discount rate.  The market valuation approach evaluated the company's market value as 
compared to the net asset balance. 

The assessment indicated that impairment of goodwill was necessary. Based on the assessment for impairment, the Company recognized an impairment 
expense of goodwill of $12,048,419 for the year ended September 30, 2022. 
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In completing the 2021 annual goodwill impairment analysis, there were no impairments recognized.  

The following table reflects goodwill activity for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively: 
 

   Total  
Goodwill- September 30, 2020  $ —  
New Acquisitions   12,048,419  
Impairment   —  
Goodwill- September 30, 2021   12,048,419  
New Acquisitions   —  
Impairment   (12,048,419 )
Goodwill- September 30, 2022  $ —  

 
The Company amortizes intangible assets with finite lives over their estimated useful lives, which range between two and twenty years as follows:
 

   Useful life (years)
Websites  3
Software  4-7
Strategic contract  5

 

Bitcoin

Bitcoin are included in current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Bitcoin is recorded at cost less impairment. They are classified as indefinite-lived 
intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, and are accounted for in connection with the Company’s revenue 
recognition policy detailed above and in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not 
amortized but assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently, when events or changes in circumstances occur indicating that it is more likely than 
not that the indefinite-lived asset is impaired. Impairment exists when the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. In testing for impairment, the Company 
has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that an impairment exists. If it is determined that it is 
not more likely than not that an impairment exists, a quantitative impairment test is not necessary. If the Company concludes otherwise, it is required to 
perform a quantitative impairment test. Quantitative impairment is measured using the quoted price of the bitcoin at the time its fair value is being 
measured in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. Quoted prices are obtained from the principal market. To the extent an impairment loss is 
recognized, the loss establishes the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment losses is not permitted as per ASC 350, Intangibles – 
Goodwill and Other.

Bitcoin earned by the Company through its mining activities are included within operating activities on the accompanying consolidated statements of cash 
flows. The sales of bitcoin are also included within operating activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows and any realized gains 
or losses from such sales are included in operating costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The 
Company accounts for its gains or losses in accordance with the first in first out (“FIFO”) method of accounting.

The following table presents the activities of the bitcoin for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
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   Amount  

Balance as on September 30, 2020  $ —  
Addition of bitcoin   38,846,633  
Sale of bitcoin   (11,443,132 )
Bitcoin issued for services   (296,593 )
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin   3,104,378  
Impairment loss   (6,608,076 )
Balance as on September 30, 2021  $ 23,603,210  
Addition of bitcoin   130,999,686  
Sale of bitcoin   (133,201,006 )
Bitcoin issued for services   (611,244 )
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin   2,567,101  
Impairment loss   (12,210,269 )
Balance as on September 30, 2022  $ 11,147,478  

 

Fair Value Measurement of financial instruments, derivative asset and contingent consideration

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy based 
on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable.
 

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. These are typically obtained from real-time quotes for transactions in 
active exchange markets involving identical assets.

Level 2 Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices included for identical or similar assets and liabilities that 
are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active 
markets. These are typically obtained from readily-available pricing sources for comparable instruments.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs, where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability. These inputs reflect the reporting entity’s own 
beliefs about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, based on the best information available
in the circumstances.

 
The carrying value of cash, accounts payable, accrued expenses and short-term portion of loan payable approximate their fair values because of the short-
term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of the Company's long-term portion of loan payable is also stated at fair value since the stated rate of 
interest approximates market rates. Management believes the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial 
instruments.

The following table presents the Company’s financial instruments that are measured and recorded at fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheets on a recurring basis, and their level within the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021:

September 30, 2022:
 

   Amount   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Derivative asset  $ 2,955,890   $ —   $ —   $ 2,955,890  
Investment in debt security   610,108    —    —    610,108  
Total  $ 3,565,998   $ —   $ —   $ 3,565,998  

 

September 30, 2021:
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   Amount   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

Derivative asset  $ 4,905,660   $ —   $ —   $ 4,905,660  
Investment in equity security   10,772    10,772    —    —  
Investment in debt security   494,608    —    —    494,608  
Contingent cash consideration   820,802    —    —    820,802  
Total  $ 6,231,842   $ 10,772   $ —   $ 6,221,070  

 
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3 during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.

The activities of the financial instruments that are measured and recorded at fair value on the Company's balance sheets on a recurring basis during years 
ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 are included in Note 5 - Investments.

Income taxes

The Company’s calculation of its tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in various taxing 
jurisdictions. The Company recognizes tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on management’s estimate of whether it is more likely than not that 
additional taxes will be required. The Company had no uncertain tax positions as of September 30, 2022 and 2021.

Deferred income taxes are recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax basis 
of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates. Temporary differences arise from net 
operating losses, differences in depreciation methods of archived images, and property and equipment, stock-based and other compensation, and other 
accrued expenses. A valuation allowance is established when it is determined that it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will 
not be realized.

The application of tax laws and regulations is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations themselves are 
subject to change as a result of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations and court rulings. Therefore, the actual liability
for U.S., or the various state jurisdictions, may be materially different from managements estimates, which could result in the need to record additional tax 
liabilities or potentially reverse previously recorded tax liabilities. Interest and penalties are included in tax expense.

The Company includes interest and penalties arising from the underpayment of income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss in the provision for income taxes. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to 
uncertain tax positions.

Income tax expense/(benefit) from operations for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $0 and $0 in each period, which resulted primarily 
from maintaining a full valuation allowance against the Company's deferred tax assets.

Segment Reporting

The Company determines its operating segments based on how the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") views and evaluates operations, 
performance and allocates resources. As of June 30, 2022, the Company only has the bitcoin mining business as its operating segment due to its 
determination to consider the energy business as discontinued operation based on its decision to make a strategic shift to focus on the bitcoin mining 
business and divest of its energy assets.

Discontinued Operations

The Company deems it appropriate to classify a business as a discontinued operation if the related disposal group meets all the following criteria: 1) The 
disposal group is a component of the Company; 2) The component meets the held-for-sale criteria; and 3) The disposal of the component represents a 
strategic shift that has a major effect on the Company's operations and financial results. As of June 30, 2022, the Company deemed its energy operations to 
be 
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discontinued operation due to its strategic shift to strictly focus on its bitcoin mining operations and divest of its energy assets.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. In June 2022, the Company made a strategic shift to 
focus on the bitcoin mining business and divest its energy assets. As a result, assets and liabilities related to the energy segment have been classified as held 
for sale for all periods presented. Additionally, amounts previously presented as part of continuing operations have been reclassified into discontinued 
operations for all periods presented. 

Additionally, the following reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations or net assets of the Company and are as follows:

• The intangible assets, net presentation has been updated to include capitalized software, net, which was previously presented separately on the 
balance sheet. Additionally, infrastructure asset has been reclassified from intangible assets, net to property and equipment, net in the current year.

Commitments and contingencies

The Company is subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies and loss recoveries, such as legal proceedings and claims arising out of its business. 
The Company considers the likelihood of loss or impairment of an asset, or the incurrence of a liability, as well as the Company’s ability to reasonably 
estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that an asset has been 
impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company regularly evaluates current information 
available with its external and internal counsel to determine whether an accrual is required, an accrual should be adjusted or a range of possible loss should 
be disclosed.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from 
Contracts with Customers, which requires contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the 
acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it had originated the contracts. Under the 
current business combinations guidance, such assets and liabilities are recognized by the acquirer at fair value on the acquisition date. This new guidance is 
effective for the Company for its fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is 
permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company is evaluating its potential impact but does not expect the new standard to have a material 
impact on the Company's results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments 
on October 1, 2020 (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 requires entities to use a new forward-looking “expected loss” model that reflects expected credit 
losses, including credit losses related to trade receivables, and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to 
inform credit loss estimates, which generally will result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. As the Company was a Smaller Reporting 
Company at the time of issuance of the ASU, the Company expects to adopt the ASU effective October 1, 2023, including the interim periods within the 
fiscal year. Early application of the adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating its potential impact but does not expect the new standard to have a 
material impact on the Company's results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - 
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (subtopic 815-40),” which reduces the number of accounting models in ASC 470-20 that require separate accounting for 
embedded conversion features. As a result, a convertible debt instrument will be accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost as long as 
no other features require bifurcation and recognition as derivatives. By removing those separation models, the effective interest rate of convertible debt 
instruments will be closer to the coupon interest rate. Further, the diluted net income 
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per share calculation for convertible instruments will require the Company to use the if-converted method. The treasury stock method should no longer be 
used to calculate diluted net income per share for convertible instruments. The amendment will be effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We expect the adoption of ASU 2020-06 to not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements or disclosures.

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company determined to make available for sale the asset groups related to the energy segment due to its strategic shift to strictly focus on its bitcoin 
mining operations. As a result, the Energy segments' results of operations have been reclassified as discontinued operations on a retrospective basis for all 
periods presented. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of this segment are separately reported as “assets and liabilities held for sale” as of September 30, 
2022 and 2021 in the consolidated balance sheets. The results of operations of this segment, for all periods, are separately reported as “discontinued 
operations” in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Provided below are the key areas of the financials that constitute the 
discontinued operations:

 
   September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Accounts receivable, net  $ 2,813,166   $ 2,312,890  
Inventory   4,399,915    2,592,933  
Prepaid expense and other current assets   212,800    2,991,243  

Total current assets held for sale  $ 7,425,881   $ 7,897,066  
        
Property and equipment, net   11,284    53,193  
Operating lease right of use asset   665,071    824,435  
Intangible assets, net   868,319    4,476,306  
Goodwill   —    7,000,779  
Long-term assets held for sale  $ 1,544,674   $ 12,354,713  

       

Total assets held for sale  $ 8,970,555   $ 20,251,779  
        
LIABILITIES       
Current liabilities       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 918,758   $ 1,289,713  
Contract liabilities   116,690    —  
Operating lease liability   163,248    152,064  

Total current liabilities held for sale   1,198,696    1,441,777  
Long-term liabilities       
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   511,530    674,779  

Total liabilities held for sale  $ 1,710,226   $ 2,116,556  
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   For the year ended  

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Revenues, net       
Energy hardware, software and services revenue  $ 9,667,290   $ 10,151,010  

Total revenues, net   9,667,290    10,151,010  
        
Costs and expenses       
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below)   8,710,760    8,701,681  
Professional fees   115,960    486,583  
Payroll expenses   4,911,322    4,173,778  
General and administrative expenses   1,640,920    823,508  
Impairment expense - fixed assets   31,833    —  
Impairment expense - intangibles    1,402,016    1,531,711  
Impairment expense - other   871,649    —  
Impairment expense - goodwill    7,000,779    4,746,000  
Depreciation and amortization   2,215,537    3,262,245  

Total costs and expenses   26,900,776    23,725,506  
        
Loss from operations   (17,233,486 )   (13,574,496 )
        
Other income (expense)       
Interest expense   (3,475 )   (8,352 )

Total other income (expense)   (3,475 )   (8,352 )
        
Loss before income tax (expense) or benefit   (17,236,961 )   (13,582,848 )
Income tax (expense) or benefit   —    —  

Net loss  $ (17,236,961 )  $ (13,582,848 )
 

4. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions Relating to Continuing Operations

SPRE COMMERCIAL GROUP, INC. AND WAHA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

On August 17, 2022, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, CSRE Properties Washington, LLC, (“CSRE”), completed the purchase of real 
property, together with all improvements situated thereon and all rights, easements and appurtenances belonging thereto (collectively, the “Property”), from 
SPRE Commercial Group, Inc. f/k/a WAHA, Inc. (“SPRE”), (the “Seller”), pursuant to a Land Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of August 5, 2022 
and amended on August 17, 2022. 

Additionally, on August 17, 2022, in connection with the Land Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Company completed the purchase of a mix of S19 and 
S19 J Pro bitcoin miners with a total processing power equal to approximately 341,985 terahashes, pursuant to an equipment purchase and sale agreement 
(together with the Land Purchase and Sale Agreement, the “Acquisition”), from Waha Technologies, Inc., a Georgia corporation (“WAHA”, collectively 
with the Seller "WAHA & SPRE" or the "Sellers"), an affiliate of the Seller. Pursuant to the Land Purchase and Sale Agreement and the Equipment 
Purchase and Sale Agreement the Company acquired substantially all of WAHA & SPRE's assets.   The transaction was accounted for as an acquisition of a 
business.

Total consideration for the Property and miners consisted of (i) $1,961,747 in financing provided by the Seller to the Company at an interest rate of 12% 
per annum, to be repaid in 12 monthly installments of $173,651, (ii) the Company’s assumption of a mortgage with a maximum principal amount of 
$2,158,253 and an interest rate of 13% and (iii) $19,771,610 of cash consideration paid by the Company to the Seller. Acquisition related costs of 
$118,058, consisting primarily of legal and recording fees, were expensed as incurred in accordance with ASC 805 and are reflected in professional fees on 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
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The Company determined the fair value of the consideration given to the Sellers in connection with the transaction and the allocation of the purchase price 
in accordance with ASC 820 were as follows:

 
Consideration:  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 19,771,610  
Financing provided by Seller   1,961,747  
Mortgage assumed   2,158,253  
Total Consideration  $ 23,891,610  

 
 
 

Purchase Price Allocation  

Preliminary
Allocation at
Acquisition

Date  
Land  $ 100,000  
Building/Improvements   14,700,000  
Miners   9,091,610  
Total  $ 23,891,610  

 
The total purchase price was allocated to identifiable assets deemed acquired based on their estimated fair values.  The fair values of the assets have been 
recorded and are reflected in property and equipment, net on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets in this annual report. The useful life for the 
building and improvements is estimated to be 30 years consistent with the Company's policy. The useful life for miners was estimated to be 3 years 
consistent with the Company's policy for depreciating used miners. Land is not depreciated.  Financing provided by the Seller and the mortgage assumed 
have been recorded as loans payable and are reflected in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ATL DATA CENTERS, LLC

On December 9, 2020, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “ATL Merger”) with ATL Data Centers LLC (“ATL”) and its 
members. The Company accounted for the acquisition of ATL as an acquisition of a business under ASC 805 – Business Combination.

At the closing, ATL became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In exchange, the Company issued 1,618,285 shares of restricted common stock to 
the selling members of ATL, of which: (i) 642,309 shares were fully earned on closing, and (ii) an additional 975,976 shares were issued and held in 
escrow, subject to holdback pending satisfaction of certain indemnification claims and future milestones, with all such shares subject to a lock up of no less 
than 180 days and a leak out of no more than 10% of the average daily trading value of the prior 30 days.

The Company determined the fair value of the consideration given to the sellers of ATL in connection with the transaction in accordance with ASC 820 
was as follows:
 

Consideration  

Preliminary 
Allocation at 

Acquisition Date   
Adjustments to Fair 

Value   
Final Allocation at 

Acquisition Date  
642,309 shares of common stock  $ 8,407,826    —   $ 8,407,826  
975,976 shares of common stock – held in escrow   12,775,525    —    12,775,525  
Total Consideration  $ 21,183,351    —   $ 21,183,351  

 
Of the 975,976 shares held in escrow, 515,724 shares were released to the selling members of ATL and 68,194 shares were returned to the Company and 
canceled due to nonsatisfaction of certain indemnification claims during the year ended September 30, 2021. The remaining 392,058 shares held in escrow 
consist of 72,989 shares subject to holdback pending satisfaction of further indemnification claims and 319,069 shares subject to satisfaction of future 
milestones.

F-23



 

In connection with the return of the 68,194 shares held in escrow that were cancelled due to the non-satisfaction of certain indemnification claims, total 
consideration and the related goodwill, decreased by $892,659 during the year ended September 30, 2021.

The consideration remitted in connection with the ATL Merger is subject to adjustment based on post-closing adjustments to closing cash, indebtedness, 
and transaction expenses of ATL within 90 days of closing. The Company also assumed approximately $6.9 million in debts of ATL at closing. As part of 
the transaction costs, the Company issued 41,708 shares of common stock for an aggregate value of $545,916 to the broker which were expensed upon 
issuance of the shares.
 

Purchase Price Allocation  

Preliminary
Allocation at
Acquisition

Date   
Adjustments
to Fair Value   

Final
Allocation at
Acquisition

Date  
Strategic Contract  $ 7,457,970   $ 2,342,000   $ 9,799,970  
Goodwill   14,205,245    (1,264,167 )   12,941,078  
Other Assets and Liabilities assumed, net   (479,864 )   (1,077,833 )   (1,557,697 )
Total  $ 21,183,351   $ —   $ 21,183,351  

 
The Company made measurement period adjustments, primarily to strategic contract and goodwill, to better reflect the facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date.

The goodwill recorded as a result of the acquisition represents the strategic benefits of growing the Company’s service portfolio and the expected revenue 
growth from increased market penetration. Acquired goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. The total purchase price was allocated to 
identifiable assets deemed acquired, and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values.

The strategic contract relates to supply of a critical input to our bitcoin mining business. The other assets and liabilities assumed include $5,670,000 of 
bitcoin mining equipment and approximately $5,475,000 of notes payable related to this equipment, which was settled by the Company in December 2020. 
In connection with the acquisition, the Company had acquired an operating lease related to a rental building, which had a purchase option associated with 
the lease agreement. The Company exercised the purchase option to buy the property in May 2021 and, as a result, terminated the lease.

The amortization period for strategic contracts is estimated to be 5 years. The Company estimated the fair value of the identified strategic contract using a 
discounted cash flow model. These fair value measurements were based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represent a Level 3 
measurement. Key assumptions include the level and timing of expected future cash flows, conditions and demands over its remaining useful life, and 
discount rates the Company believe to be consistent with the inherent risks associated with strategic contract, which is 6.4%. The Company believes the 
level and timing of expected future cash flows appropriately reflects market participant assumptions.

Net sales and net income of this business included in CleanSpark’s consolidated results of operations in fiscal year 2021 were approximately $30,234,683 
and $14,449,160, respectively.

Acquisitions Relating to Discontinued Operations

SOLAR WATT SOLUTIONS, INC.

On February 23, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “SWS Merger Agreement”) with Solar Watt Solutions, Inc. 
(“SWS”) and its owners (the “Sellers”). The Company accounted for the acquisition of SWS as an acquisition of a business under ASC 805 – Business 
Combination.

At the closing on February 24, 2021, SWS became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In exchange, the Company issued (i) 477,703 shares of 
restricted common stock with a deemed value of $15,640,000 calculated based on the five-day average closing price of the Company's common stock for 
the trading days including and immediately 
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preceding the closing date of $32.74 per share to the Sellers, of which (a) 167,685 shares with a deemed value of $5,490,000 would be fully earned on 
closing, and (b) an additional 310,018 shares with a deemed fair value of $10,150,000 were issued to an escrow agent and only earned by Sellers, subject to 
holdback pending Sellers’ satisfaction of certain future milestones with all such shares subject to a lock up of no less than 180 days and a leak out of no 
more than 10% of average daily trading value of the prior 30 days for a period of 36 months following the closing, and (ii) up to $3,850,000 in cash to the 
Sellers, minus the Sellers’ debt, minus the difference between the Actual Amount and Expected Amount consisting of: (a) $1,350,000 (no changes post 
acquisition date) in cash payable on a pro rata basis to Sellers at closing, less payment of $500,000 (no changes post acquisition date) to settle Sellers’ debt 
at closing, which includes (x) $200,000 (no changes post acquisition date) in cash held back by the Company to satisfy potential damages from 
indemnification claims and any amounts owed pursuant to post-closing adjustments, (y) an additional $100,000 (no changes post acquisition date) in cash 
held back by the Company to satisfy any amounts owed pursuant to post-closing adjustments, and (b) up to $2,500,000 (fair valued at $155,000 at 
acquisition date) in cash held back by the Company and only payable pro rata to Sellers upon meeting certain future milestones and subject to satisfaction 
of any amounts owing from SWS to the Company resulting from damages required to be indemnified under the SWS Merger Agreement.

The Company determined the fair value of the consideration given to the sellers of SWS in connection with the transaction in accordance with ASC 820 
was as follows:
 

Consideration:  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 1,350,000  
Contingent consideration   155,000  
310,018 shares of common stock as contingent equity consideration   533,002  
167,685 shares of common stock   4,649,905  
Total Consideration  $ 6,687,907  

 

  

Preliminary
Allocation at

Acquisition Date   

Adjustments
to Fair
Value   

Final
Allocation at
Acquisition

Date  
Customer List  $ 5,122,733   $ (4,932,733 )  $ 190,000  
Goodwill   1,642,409    5,178,126    6,820,535  
Other Assets and Liabilities assumed, net   (77,235 )   (245,393 )   (322,628 )
Total  $ 6,687,907   $ —   $ 6,687,907  

 
The goodwill recorded as result of the acquisition represents the strategic benefits of growing the Company’s service portfolio and the expected revenue 
growth from increased market penetration. Acquired goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. The total purchase price was allocated to 
identifiable assets deemed acquired, and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values.

The amortization period for customer list is estimated to be 1.5 years. The Company estimated the fair value of the identified customer list using a 
discounted cash flow model. These fair value measurements were based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represent a Level 3 
measurement. Key assumptions include the level and timing of expected incremental future cash flows over its remaining useful life, and discount rates the 
Company believe to be consistent with the inherent risks associated with customer list, which is 14%. The Company believes the level and timing of 
expected future cash flows appropriately reflects market participant assumptions.

On January 31, 2022, the Company entered into a Merger Satisfaction and Release Agreement (the "Merger Satisfaction Agreement") with the Sellers of 
SWS. In consideration of fully satisfying the terms under the SWS Merger Agreement, the Company paid the Sellers $625,000 and released from escrow 
77,500 shares of the Company's common stock. Additionally, the Sellers agreed to release back to the Company 232,518 shares of the Company's common 
stock held in escrow.  Upon delivery of such consideration, the parties agreed that the shares and cash holdbacks contained in the original merger 
agreement were fully satisfied.

Pro forma of Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
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The following is the unaudited pro forma information for continuing operations assuming the acquisition of WAHA & SPRE occurred on October 1, 2020:
 
  For the Year Ended  

   
September 30,

2022   September 30, 2021  
Net sales from continuing operations  $ 161,090,831   $ 55,571,697  
Loss from continuing operations  $ (34,488,387 )  $ (5,457,907 )
Loss from continuing operations per common share - basic  $ (0.81 )  $ (0.19 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic   42,614,197    29,441,364  
Loss from continuing operations per common share - diluted  $ (0.81 )  $ (0.19 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted   42,614,197    29,441,364  
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial results have been prepared for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of the results of 
operations that would have actually resulted had the acquisition occurred on the first day of the earliest period presented, or of future results of the 
consolidated entities. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information does not reflect any operating efficiencies and cost savings that may be 
realized from the integration of the acquisition. All transactions that would be considered inter-company transactions for pro forma purposes have been 
eliminated.

5. INVESTMENTS

As of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, the Company had total investments of $3,565,998 and $5,661,040 that comprise of the following:

International Land Alliance, Inc.

On November 5, 2019, the Company entered in a binding Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”) with International Land Alliance, Inc. (“ILAL”), a 
Wyoming corporation, to lay a foundational framework where the Company will deploy its energy solutions products and services to ILAL, its energy 
projects, and its customers.

In connection with the MOU, and to support the power and energy needs of ILALs development and construction of certain projects, the Company entered 
into a Securities Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), dated as of November 6, 2019, with ILAL.

Investment in Debt Securities (Preferred Stock) and related Embedded Derivative Asset

Pursuant to the terms of the SPA with ILAL, the Company purchased 1,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock of ILAL (the “Preferred Stock”) an 
aggregate purchase price of $500,000 (the “Stock Transaction”), less certain expenses and fees. The Series B Preferred Stock accrue cumulative in-kind 
accruals at a rate of 12% per annum and were redeemable on August 6, 2020. The Preferred Stock can be converted into common stock at a variable rate 
(refer the discussion on embedded derivative assets below). This variable conversion ratio will increase by 10% with the occurrence of certain events. Since 
the investments were not redeemed on August 6, 2020, they are now redeemable at the Company`s option in cash or into common stock, based on the 
conversion ratio. The Preferred Stock is recorded as an AFS debt security and is reported at its estimated fair value as of September 30, 2022. Any change
in the fair values of AFS debt securities are reported net of income tax as an element of Other Comprehensive income. 

The Company accrued interest (net of allowance) on our available-for-sale debt securities totaling $0 and $399,863, as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, is included in prepaid expense and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value of our investment in Debt 
Securities is $610,108 and $494,608 as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  The Company has included gain (loss) on fair value of preferred 
stock amounting to $115,500 and ($5,392) for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, as part of other comprehensive loss in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. 
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The Company has deemed this variable conversion feature of ILAL preferred stock as an embedded derivative instrument in accordance with ASC Topic 
No. 815. This topic requires the Company to account for the conversion feature on its balance sheet at fair value and account for changes in fair value as a 
derivative gain or loss. Unrealized gain or loss on fair valuation of this embedded feature is recognized as an income in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss.  

Total fair value of investment in Derivative assets as of September 30, 2022 and 2021 is $2,955,890 and $4,905,660. The Company fair values the debt 
security as a straight debt instrument based on liquidation value and accrued interest to date. The fair value of the derivative asset is based on the difference 
in the fair value of the debt security determined as a straight debt instrument and the fair value of the debt security if converted as of the reporting date. 

Commitment shares - Common stock of ILAL

Pursuant to the terms of the SPA with ILAL, the Company received 350,000 shares (commitment shares) of ILALs common stock. The commitment shares 
were fully earned at the time of execution of the agreement. The Company sold 334,611 shares at various prices and fair valued the remaining 15,389 
shares at the closing stock price of ILAL as of September 30, 2021. During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company sold 15,389 commitment 
shares, and recorded realized gain on sale of shares for $665.  

Investment in Equity Securities- LawClerk 

In February 2020, the Company made a $250,000 strategic relationship investment in LawClerk for 200,000 Series A Preferred Shares of LawClerk. This 
investment is recorded on a cost basis and adjusted for observable transactions for same or similar investments of the issuer (referred to as the measurement 
alternative) or impairment. The Company annually performs impairment analysis on this investment and concluded that the investment was not recoverable 
and accordingly recorded an impairment of $250,000 for the year ended September 30, 2022.    

Refer the table below for a reconciliation of carrying value of all investments for the year ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
 

   

ILAL
Debt

Securities   

ILAL
Derivative

Asset   

ILAL
Equity

Securities   

Law
Clerk
Equity

Securities  
Balance as of September 30, 2020  $ 500,000   $ 2,115,273   $ 210,000   $ 250,000  
Shares sold during the year   —    —    (373,121 )   —  
Realized gain on fair value recognized in other income 
(expense)   —    —    179,046    —  
Unrealized gain (loss) recognized in other income (expense)   —    2,790,387    (5,153 )   —  
Unrealized loss on fair value recognized in Other 
comprehensive income   (5,392 )   —    -    —  
Balance as of September 30, 2021  $ 494,608   $ 4,905,660   $ 10,772   $ 250,000  
Shares sold during the year   —    —    (9,590 )   —  
Realized gain on fair value recognized in other income 
(expense)   —    —    665    —  
Unrealized loss recognized in other income (expense)   —    (1,949,770 )   (1,847 )    
Impairment loss            (250,000 )
Unrealized gain on fair value recognized in Other 
comprehensive income   115,500    —    -    —  
Balance as of September 30, 2022  $ 610,108   $ 2,955,890   $ —   $ —  
 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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Intangible assets consist of the following as of September 30, 2022 and 2021:
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  

   
Intangible 

assets   Accumulated amortization   

Net 
intangible 

assets   Intangible 
assets   Accumulated amortization   

Net 
intangible 

assets  
Software  $ 210,000   $ —   $ 210,000   $ —   $ —   $ —  
Websites   23,115    (11,448 )   11,667    8,115    (8,115 )   —  
Strategic Contract   9,799,970    (3,536,586 )   6,263,384    9,799,970    (1,577,098 )   8,222,872  
Total  $ 10,033,085    (3,548,034 )  $ 6,485,051   $ 9,808,085   $ (1,585,213 )  $ 8,222,872  
 
Amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $1,963,328 and $1,577,098, respectively.

During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company did not incur impairment losses related to   the above intangible assets.

The strategic contract relates to supply of a critical input to our bitcoin mining business at significantly low prices compared to market. During the year 
ended September 30, 2021, the initial allocation of $7,457,970 was adjusted by $2,342,000. 

The Company expects to record amortization expense of intangible assets over the next 5 years and thereafter as follows:
 

Year  
September 30, 

2022  
2023  $ 2,017,494  
2024   2,017,494  
2025   2,014,160  
2026   435,903  
2027   -  
Thereafter   -  
Total  $ 6,485,051  

 

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following as of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021:
 

   September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Land  $ 2,977,619   $ 2,877,619  
Land improvements   1,529,937    —  
Building and improvements   32,332,251    8,170,680  
Leasehold improvements   114,362    59,114  
Miners   356,500,871    120,330,768  
Mining equipment   17,586,847    2,817,074  
Infrastructure   12,421,756    81,868  
Machinery and equipment   1,268,932    239,283  
Furniture and fixtures   331,444    107,660  
Construction in progress   4,816,189    10,498,311  
Total   429,880,208    145,182,377  
Less: accumulated depreciation   (53,098,828 )   (7,560,831 )
Property and equipment, net  $ 376,781,380   $ 137,621,546  

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $47,081,550 and $7,405,025, respectively. During the year ended September 
30, 2022, $4,390,160 of property and equipment was disposed of for 
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a gain of $642,691, which included $411,484 of property and equipment that was written-off resulting in a loss of $278,170. There were no disposals 
during the year ended September 30, 2021.

The Company placed-in service property and equipment of $265,204,734 during the year ended September 30, 2022. This increase in fixed assets primarily 
consisted of miners and mining equipment amounting to $245,706,410.   

Construction in progress: The Company is expanding its facilities in Georgia.

The Company has cancellable purchase commitments for approximately $30 million related to purchase of miners as of September 30, 2022, and the 
Company has paid $3 million towards these commitments as of the end of this period. As of September 30, 2022, the remaining commitment for future 
payments was $27 million.

As of September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, the Company has outstanding deposits for miners and mining equipment totaling $12.5 million and $88 
million, respectively. These deposits are in prepayments paid to premier suppliers and manufacturers to purchase mining ASICs and equipment. The 
prepayments will be applied to the purchase price when the vendor ships the miners.

8. LEASES

On October 1, 2019, the Company adopted the amendments to ASC 842, Leases, which requires lessees to recognize lease assets and liabilities arising 
from operating leases on the balance sheet. The Company adopted the new lease guidance using the modified retrospective approach and elected the 
transition option issued under ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842) Targeted Improvements, allowing entities to continue to apply the legacy guidance in ASC 
840, Leases, to prior periods, including disclosure requirements.

The Company’s operating leases are office spaces and finance leases which are primarily related to equipment used at its data center.

The Company's lease costs recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss consist of the following:
 

  For the year ended  

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Operating lease cost  $ 112,869   $ 10,674  
Finance lease cost:       

Depreciation expense financed assets  $ 379,260   $ 302,359  
Interest on lease obligations  $ 37,886   $ 44,726  

 
(1) Included in general and administrative expenses

Other lease information is as follows:
 

  For the year ended  

   
September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Cash paid for amounts included in
   measurement of lease obligations:       

Operating cash outflows from operating leases  $ 131,425   $ 12,687  
Operating cash outflows from finance leases  $ 38,125   $ 42,992  
Financing cash outflows from finance leases  $ 519,273   $ 181,475  
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September 30,

2022   
September 30,

2021  
Weighted-average remaining lease term -
   operating leases  1.5 years   2.5 years  
Weighted-average remaining lease term -
   finance leases  1.53 years   3.2 years  
Weighted-average discount rate - operating
   leases   4.50 %  4.50 %
Weighted-average discount rate - finance
   leases   5.50 %  5.50 %

 
The following is a schedule of the Company's lease liabilities by contractual maturity as of September 30, 2022:
 

Fiscal Year  
Operating

 Leases   
Finance

 Leases  
2023  $ 135,368   $ 274,651  
2024   139,429    161,766  
2025   143,612    21,607  
2026   147,920    1,853  
2027    50,660    —  
Thereafter   -    —  
Gross lease liabilities   616,989    459,877  
Less: imputed interest   (56,443 )   (19,493 )
Present value of lease liabilities  $ 560,546   $ 440,384  
Less: Current portion of lease liabilities   (112,955 )   (260,387 )
Total lease liabilities, net of current portion  $ 447,591   $ 179,997  

 

9. LOANS

The following table reflects our outstanding loans as of September 30, 2022:
  Maturity Date  Rate  Debt Balance, Net  

Master Equipment Financing Arrangement  Apr-25  13.80%  $ 17,073,111  
SPRE Commercial Group, Inc.  Aug-23  12.00%   1,806,558  
Marquee Funding Partners  Jul-26 - Feb-27  13.00%   2,127,027  
Auto Loans  Oct-28  9.00-9.20%   212,421  

Total Loans Outstanding      $ 21,219,117  

Less: current portion of long-term loans       (7,786,049 )

Long-term loans, excluding current portion      $ 13,433,068  
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The following table reflects the principal amount of loan maturities due over the next five years and beyond as of September 30, 2022:

 
  5-Year Loan Maturities  

Outstanding Loan  FY 2023   FY 2024   FY 2025   FY 2026   FY 2027   Thereafter   Total  
Master Equipment Financing Arrangment  $ 5,677,314   $ 6,508,398   $ 5,221,133   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ 17,406,845  
SPRE Commercial Group, Inc.   1,806,558    -    -    -    -    -    1,806,558  
Marquee Funding Partners   402,179    457,693    520,869    592,766    153,520    -    2,127,027  
Auto Loans   24,662    30,464    33,341    36,489    39,935    47,530    212,421  

Total principal amount of loan payments 
by fiscal year  $ 7,910,713   $ 6,996,555   $ 5,775,343   $ 629,255   $ 193,455   $ 47,530   $ 21,552,851  
Unamortized deferred financing costs and 
discounts on Master Equipment Financing 
Arrangement                     (333,734 )

Total loan book value as of September 30, 
2022                    $ 21,219,117  

 

Description of Outstanding Loans

Master Equipment Financing Agreement 

On April 22, 2022, the Company entered into a Master Equipment Financing Agreement with Trinity Capital Inc., as the Lender (the “Financing 
Agreement”). The Financing Agreement provides for up to $35 million of borrowings to finance the Company’s acquisition of blockchain computing 
equipment. The Company received a loan of $20 million at closing, with the remaining $15 million fundable upon the Company's request, if requested no 
later than December 31, 2022, subject to certain customary conditions. The loan draws have a term of 36 months from issuance with a monthly rate factor 
of at least 0.032198 payable monthly on the total cost of the equipment purchased with such borrowing.  The Financing Agreement contains standard 
financial reporting requirements and certain other affirmative obligations, failure of which to comply with could result in an event of default under the 
Financing Agreement. In such an event, the Lender could exercise certain remedies including, but not limited to, declaring that all amounts outstanding 
under the Financing Agreement, together with accrued interest, be declared immediately due and payable. The Company received funding of $20 million at 
close, which included closing costs of $701,624 and security deposit of $643,960. The loan is collateralized with 3,336 S19j Pro miners and carries and 
effective interest rate of 13.80%.  

The Company recorded a loan discount of approximately $379,000, of which $46,000 was amortized and recorded to interest expense during the year 
ended September 30, 2022.  

SPRE Commercial Group, Inc.

In connection with the acquisition of WAHA, the Company entered into a financing arrangement with the seller.  The loan has a term of 12 months with 
monthly payments of $173,651 and a stated interest rate of 12%.  

Marquee Funding Partners

In connection with the acquisition of WAHA, certain assets were encumbered with mortgages which the Company assumed.   The mortgages assumed have 
a combined balance of $2,158,253 and remaining payment terms ranging from 47-54 months and annual interest of 13%.   

Auto Loans
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In September 2022, the Company purchased vehicles through financing arrangements with combined principal amount of $212,421.   The loans are for a 
term of 72 months with annual interest of 9%.  The loans are secured with the purchased vehicles. 

Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On May 7, 2020, the Company applied for a loan from Celtic Bank Corporation, as lender, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program of the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), as administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the "SBA"). On May 15, 2020, 
the loan was approved, and the Company received the proceeds from the loan in the amount of $531,169 (the “PPP Loan”). The Company applied for and 
received loan forgiveness from the SBA on March 23, 2021. The entire principal balance and interest charges were forgiven. The gain on loan forgiveness 
of $531,169 is included in other income in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2021.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Zachary Bradford Chief Executive Officer, Director and Former Chief Financial Officer

During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid Blue Chip Accounting, LLC (“Blue Chip”) $47,075 and $183,075, respectively, 
for accounting, tax, administrative services and reimbursement for office supplies. Blue Chip is 50% beneficially owned by Mr. Bradford. None of the 
services were associated with work performed by Mr. Bradford. The services consisted of preparing and filing tax returns, bookkeeping, accounting and 
administrative support assistance. During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, $4,575 and $18,300, respectively, was paid to Blue Chip for rent. 
The sublease and engagement for accounting services was terminated on December 31, 2021. 

11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Overview

The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per 
share. As of September 30, 2022, there were 55,661,337 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and 1,750,000 shares of preferred stock issued and 
outstanding. As of September 30, 2021, there were 37,395,945 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and 1,750,000 shares of preferred stock 
issued and outstanding.

Under the Certificate of Designation for the Series A Preferred Stock, holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock  are entitled to quarterly dividends on
2% of our earnings before interest, taxes and amortization. The dividends are payable in cash or common stock. The preferred stock dividend for the year 
ended September 30, 2022 was $335,439, which the Company paid $314,611 and has a preferred stock dividend payable in the amount of $20,828.  The 
preferred dividend was $177,502 for the year ended September 30, 2021 and was paid in the 2021 fiscal year. The holders will also have a liquidation 
preference on the stated value of $0.02 per share plus any accumulated but unpaid dividends. The holders are further entitled to have us redeem their Series 
A Preferred Stock for three shares of common stock in the event of a change of control and they are entitled to vote together with the holders of our 
common stock on all matters submitted to shareholders at a rate of forty-five (45) votes for each share held.

Amendment to Articles of Incorporation

On October 2, 2020, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Articles of Incorporation with the Nevada Secretary of State to increase its
authorized shares of common stock to 35,000,000. 

On March 16, 2021, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Articles of Incorporation with the Nevada Secretary of State to increase its 
authorized shares of common stock to 50,000,000.

On September 17, 2021, the Company filed its First Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (the “Amended and Restated Articles”) with the 
Secretary of State of the State of Nevada, which Amended and Restated Articles became effective upon filing. The Amended and Restated Articles were 
previously approved by the Company’s Board, subject to stockholder approval, on July 16, 2021, and were approved by the Company’s stockholders at the 
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Company’s Annual Meeting and, among other things, increased the Company’s authorized shares of common stock to 100,000,000.

Common Stock issuances for the year ended September 30, 2022 

The Company issued 638,764 common shares in relation to  restricted stock units issued for service.

The Company issued 105,423 common shares in relation to the exercise of stock options with proceeds received of 816,602.

The Company issued 5,238 common shares valued at $60,043 as compensation for Director services.

The Company issued 8,404 common shares valued at $150,011 for settlement of contingent consideration related to business acquisition.

The Company issued 17,740,081 common shares in relation to equity raises through its At-the-Market offering facility, net of offering costs, for net 
proceeds of $125,047,987.

Common stock returned during the year ended September 30, 2022 

The Company had 232,518 shares of common stock returned back to the Company as part of the settlement of contingent consideration and holdbacks 
related to business acquisition.

Common Stock issuances for the year ended September 30, 2021 

The Company issued 4,444,445 shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with its underwritten equity offering at a price of $9.00 per share for 
net proceeds of approximately $37.05 million.

The Company issued 9,090,910 shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with its underwritten public equity offering at a price of $22.00 per 
share for net proceeds of approximately $187.2 million.

The Company issued 236,000 shares of common stock as settlement of accrued bonus compensation related to the year ended September 30, 2020. The fair 
value of these shares was approximately $1.9 million and was fully expensed for in the prior year. The Company issued 327,725 shares of common stock 
for the current year related to bonus compensation. The fair value of these shares is approximately $3.07 million.

The Company issued 1,618,285 shares of common stock in relation to the acquisition of ATL, which includes 809,142 shares held in escrow. The Company 
issued 477,703 shares of common stock in relation to the acquisition of SWS, which includes 310,000 shares held in escrow. (See Note 4 for additional 
details)  

The Company issued 57,045 shares of common stock for services rendered for a total fair value of approximately $815,000 which has been fully expensed 
during the year ended September 30, 2021.

The Company issued 389,745 shares of common stock in relation to the exercise of stock options and warrants. (See Notes 12 and 13 for additional details)

The Company issued 15,577 restricted stock units to certain SWS employees as part of the transaction to incentivize the employees for retention purposes. 
These restricted stock units vest over a period of one year. As of September 30, 2021, 4,582 of the restricted stock units had been forfeited. (See Note 13 
for additional details)

On June 3, 2021, the Company entered into an At-the-Market Offering Agreement (“ATM”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, to create an at-the-market 
equity program under which the Company may, from time to time, offer and sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate gross offering price of up 
to $500,000,000 to or through H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC. During the year ended September 30, 2021, the Company issued 3,443,379 shares of the 
Company’s common stock under the ATM for net proceeds of $46.4 million. The shares were sold pursuant to a prospectus dated March 15, 2021 and a 
prospectus supplement dated June 3, 2021 filed with the SEC.
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Common stock returned during the year ended September 30, 2021 

As a result of an adjustment of holdback shares to actual milestones earned in relation to the p2k acquisition, 8,072 shares were returned and cancelled.

As a result of an adjustment of holdback shares pursuant to Article II and Schedule A of that certain Agreement and Plan of ATL Merger in connection 
with the acquisition of ATL, 68,194 shares were returned and cancelled. (See Note 4 for additional details)

15,000 shares, held in escrow as collateral, were returned from a lender on September 30, 2021.

12. STOCK WARRANTS

The following is a summary of stock warrant activity during the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021.
 

   

Number of
Warrant
Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price ($)  

Balance, September 30, 2020   1,299,065   $ 21.78  
Warrants granted   —    —  
Warrants expired   (432,721 )   15.00  
Warrants canceled   —    —  
Warrants exercised   (250,790 )   11.77  
Balance, September 30, 2021   615,554   $ 30.72  
Warrants granted   —    —  
Warrants expired   (413,334 )   39.38  
Warrants canceled   —    —  
Warrants exercised   —    —  
Balance, September 30, 2022   202,220   $ 13.03  

 
As of September 30, 2022, there are warrants exercisable to purchase 202,220 shares of common stock in the Company and there are no warrants that are 
unvested.   All outstanding warrants contain provisions allowing a cashless exercise at their respective exercise prices.

As of September 30, 2022, the outstanding warrants have a weighted average remaining term of 2.92 years and an intrinsic value of $0.

During the year ended September 30, 2022, there were no exercise of warrants.

Warrant activity for the year ended September 30, 2021

During the year ended September 30, 2021, a total of 173,990 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in connection with the exercise of 
common stock warrants at exercise prices ranging from $3.36 and $20.00, for total consideration of $2,883,623. Additionally, a total of 74,437 shares of the 
Company’s common stock were issued in connection with the cashless exercise of 76,800 common stock warrants at exercise prices ranging from $0.83 to 
$3.67.

 

13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company sponsors a stock-based incentive compensation plan known as the 2017 Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which was established by the Board of 
Directors of the Company on June 19, 2017. On October 7, 2020, the Company executed a first amendment to the Plan to increase its share pool from 
300,000 to 1,500,000 shares of common stock.
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Effective September 15, 2021, following approval by our stockholders, the Plan was amended to (i) increase the number of shares of common stock 
authorized for issuance under the Plan by an additional 2,000,000 shares, resulting in an aggregate of 3,500,000 shares of common stock authorized for 
issuance under the Plan, and (ii) revise Section 19 of the Plan to more closely align with the provisions of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended, and Section 17.2 of the Plan.

As of September 30, 2022, there were 89,889 shares available for issuance under the Plan.

The Plan allows the Company to grant incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, common stock, units of common 
stock, restricted stock, performance shares and performance units. Other than incentive stock options that are granted to participants who owns more than 
10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of the stock of the Company or of its parent or subsidiary corporations (a “Ten Percent 
Stockholder”), stock options are exercisable for up to ten years, at an option price per share not less than the fair market value on the date the option is 
granted. The incentive stock options are limited to persons who are regular full-time employees of the Company or Ten Percent Stockholders at the date of 
the grant of the option. Non-qualified stock options and the other types of awards issuable under the Plan may be granted to any person, including, but not 
limited to, employees, independent agents, consultants and attorneys, who the Company’s Compensation Committee believes have contributed, or will 
contribute, to the success of the Company. The option vesting schedule for options granted is determined by the Compensation Committee at the time of the 
grant. The Plan provides for accelerated vesting of unvested options if there is a change in control, as defined in the Plan.

The Company granted 89,445 non-qualified options pursuant to the Plan during the year ended September 30, 2022.

The Company recognized $31,464,994 and $8,546,712 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and September 30, 2021, respectively, in stock-based 
compensation.

STOCK OPTIONS

The following is a summary of stock option activity during the year ended September 30, 2022 and 2021: 
 

   
Number of

Option Shares   
Weighted Average
Exercise Price ($)  

Balance, September 30, 2020   277,948    6.34  
Options granted   1,469,250    19.32  
Options expired   (12,975 )   10.53  
Options canceled/forfeited   (45,876 )   16.31  
Options exercised   (141,318 )   6.14  
Balance, September 30, 2021   1,547,029    18.35  
Options granted   215,750    14.47  
Options canceled/forfeited   (238,418 )   15.40  
Options exercised   (105,423 )   7.43  
Balance, September 30, 2022   1,418,938   19.11  

 
As of September 30, 2022, there are options exercisable to purchase 784,785 shares of common stock in the Company and 634,153 unvested options 
outstanding that cannot be exercised until vesting conditions are met. As of September 30, 2022, the outstanding options have a weighted average 
remaining term of 3.86 years and an no intrinsic value.

Option activity for the year ended September 30, 2022

During the year ended September 30, 2022, a total of 105,423 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in connection with the exercise of 
common stock options at exercise prices ranging from $4.65 to $15.10, for net proceeds of $816,602. 
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For the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company also granted 215,750 options with a total fair value of  $3,121,350 to purchase shares of common 
stock to employees. 

The Black-Scholes model utilized the following inputs to value the options granted during year ended September 30, 2022:
 

Fair value assumptions Options:  September 30, 2022  
Risk free interest rate  1.04% - 3.65%  
Expected term (years)  4.99 - 7.35  
Expected volatility  187.18% - 533.00%  
Expected dividends   0 %

 
As of September 30, 2022, the Company expects to recognize $14,206,420 of stock-based compensation for the non-vested outstanding options over a 
weighted-average period of 1.63 years.

Option activity for the year ended September 30, 2021

During the year ended September 30, 2021, a total of 141,318 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in connection with the exercise of 
141,318 common stock options at exercise prices ranging from $4.65 to $24.40, for a total consideration of $867,308.

During the year ended September 30, 2021, the Company granted 1,469,250 options with a total fair value of $21,582,485 to purchase shares of common 
stock to employees. The Company offset $953,125 of stock compensation expense against bonuses accrued during the prior year and recognized 
$7,731,606 during the year. The shares were granted at quoted market prices ranging from $7.55 to $34.67 and were valued at issuance using the Black 
Scholes model. 

The Black-Scholes model utilized the following inputs to value the options granted during year ended September 30, 2021:
 

Fair value assumptions Options:  September 30, 2021  
Risk free interest rate  0.10% - 0.41%  
Expected term (years)  1.50 - 5.25  
Expected volatility  140% - 239%  
Expected dividends   0 %

 

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

The Company grants restricted stock units ("RSU"s) that contain either a) service conditions, or b) performance conditions, or c) market performance 
conditions. RSUs containing service conditions vest monthly or annually. RSUs containing performance conditions generally vest over 1 year, and the 
number of shares earned depends on the achievement of predetermined Company metrics.  RSU's that contain market conditions will vest based on the 
terms of the agreement and generally are either 1 year or over the employee's term of employment. 

The Company recognizes the expense equal to the total fair value of the common stock price on the grant date.  The expense is recorded ratably over the 
service period.  
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The following table summarizes the performance-based restricted stock units at the maximum award amounts based upon the respective performance share 
agreements. Actual shares that will vest depend on the attainment of the performance-based criteria.
 

   
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average 

Fair Value
Per Share   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value  

Outstanding at September 30, 2020   —   $ -   $ -  
Granted   579,302    10.53     
Vested   (558,475 )   10.03     
Forfeited   (9,832 )   17.98     

Outstanding at September 30, 2021   10,995   $ 27.73   $ -  
Granted   7,306,250    7.18     
Vested   (1,757,938 )   13.37     
Forfeited   (110,759 )   15.27     

Outstanding at September 30, 2022   5,448,548   $ 4.93   $ 17,326,383  
 
During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company granted 1,176,250 RSUs, which comprised of 120,000 that were service condition based, 146,250 
that were performance condition based, and 910,000 that were market condition based awards. The market condition based RSUs consist of 60,000 units 
that were perpetual in nature, and therefore, are given a derived service period of 5 years. The remaining 810,000 RSUs had a stated service period of 1 
year. The fair value of the market based RSUs are determined using the Monte Carlo simulation and is in the following range: $11.03 - $17.89 per unit. The 
inputs of these market based RSUs are as follows:
 

Fair value assumptions RSUs:  September 30, 2022
Risk free interest rate  0.14% - 1.26%
Expected term (years)  1.00 - 5.00
Expected volatility  111.37% - 172.18%
Cost of equity  20.00% - 21.00%

 
On September 12, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved to immediately vest the 810,000 market based RSUs that were subject to the 1-year stated 
service period.   Accordingly, the Company recorded an incremental stock-based compensation expense of $3.96 million in the fiscal year September 30, 
2022.  
 
Additionally, on  September 12, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved the following modifications and grants, each of which are  pending 
ratification by shareholders:

(1) to grant 2,565,000 service condition based RSUs which will vest over a 3-year period beginning on the grant date, 
(2) to grant 2,565,000 performance based RSUs which are expected to vest within a 12-month period, 
(3) to modify the market condition based 60,000 units that were perpetual in nature, and 10,000 unvested service condition RSUs, and were replaced 
with;

(3a) 120,000 service condition based RSUs that vest over a 3-year period, 
(3b) 120,000 performance based RSUs, which are expected to vest within 12 months from date of modification.   

(4) to grant 760,000 restricted stock units, which shall vest on the later of the grant date and the Shareholder Approval Date.  
 
As of September 30, 2022, the Company had approximately $26 million unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock unit awards that will be 
recognized over a weighted average period of 2 years.

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expenses related to restricted stock units, of $23,661,327 and $3,862,679 for fiscal years ended 2022 
and 2021. The Company recognized $1,904,520 in stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units issued in 2021 related to 2020 bonuses.
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14. INCOME TAXES

The Company provides for income taxes under FASB ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. FASB ASC 740 requires the use of an asset and liability 
approach in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the financial statement and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and the tax rates in effect currently.

FASB ASC 740 requires the reduction of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance, if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than 
not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In the Company’s opinion, it is uncertain whether they will generate sufficient taxable 
income in the future to fully utilize the net deferred tax asset. Accordingly, a valuation allowance equal to the deferred tax asset has been recorded. 

Due to the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 2017, we have calculated our deferred tax assets using an estimated corporate tax rate of 21%. U.S. Tax 
codes and laws may be subject to further reform or adjustment which may have a material impact to the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities.

For the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company's income (loss) from continuing operations before provision for income taxes were as 
follows:
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Domestic  $ (40,089,393 )  $ (8,229,162 )
Foreign   -    -  

Loss before income taxes  $ (40,089,393 )  $ (8,229,162 )
 
The component of the provision for income taxes in the years ended September 30, 2022, 2021, and 2020 were as follows:
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Current:       
Federal  $ -   $ -  
State   -    -  
Deferred:       
Federal  $ -   $ -  
State   -    -  

Provision for income taxes  $ -   $ -  
 
Income tax benefit attributable to loss from continuing operations differed from the amounts computed by applying the statutory U.S federal income tax 
rate of 21% to pretax loss from continuing operations as a result of the following:
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Tax Benefit at Federal statutory rate  $ (8,417,258 )  $ (1,728,117 )
Tax Benefit at State rate   (303,448 )   (62,300 )
Meals and Entertainment   30,339    114  
Stock Based Compensation   2,060,702    -  
Non deductible Payroll expense   -    (231,134 )
ISO - Disqualifying Dispositions   (58,493 )    
Penalties   -    375  
True  Ups   4,407,634    323,497  
R&D Credits   (200,000 )   (200,457 )
Discontinued Operations   (3,750,257 )   (2,955,236 )
Other   (1,569 )   (1,172 )
Change in Valuation Allowance   6,232,350    4,854,430  

  $ -   $ -  
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The significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2022 and 2021  were as follows:
 
  September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Deferred Tax Assets:       
Right of Use - Lease Liability  $ 268,771   $ -  
Charitable Contributions   7,034    507  
Section 1231 Loss Carryforwards   1,183,440    2,995,030  
Tax Credits   400,457    200,457  
Stock Based Compensation   3,740,106    135,366  
Interest Expense Carryforwards   193,804    -  
Net Operating Loss carryforwards   93,052,447    42,880,598  
Gross Deferred Tax Assets  $ 98,846,059   $ 46,211,958  
Valuation Allowance   (28,756,392 )   (22,524,043 )
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  $ 70,089,667   $ 23,687,915  
       
Deferred Tax Liabilities       
Right of Use - Lease Asset  $ (264,566 )  $ -  
Prepaid Expenses   (222,566 )   (187,790 )
Unrealized Gain on Derivative Asset   (85,415 )   (857,243 )
Unrealized Gain on Equity Security   (62,859 )   (63,261 )
Gain/Loss on Sale of Assets not on TR   (25,732 )   (602 )
Fixed Assets & Intangible Assets   (69,428,529 )   (22,579,019 )
Net Deferred Tax Assets  $ -   $ -  
 
For the year ended September 30, 2022, based on all available objective evidence, including the existence of cumulative losses, the Company determined 
that it was not more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets were fully realizable as of September 30, 2022.  Accordingly, the Company established a 
full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
 
As of September 30, 2022, the Company had $417.8 million of federal and  $91.6 million of state net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce 
future taxable income, of which federal net operating loss carryforwards of $358.6 million have an indefinite life. The federal net operating losses began to 
expire in 2007, while state net operating losses begin to expire in 2025.
 
The Company's ability to utilize its federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and federal tax credit carryforwards to reduce future taxable income 
and future taxes, respectively, may be subject to restrictions attributable to equity transactions that may have resulted in a change in ownership as defined 
by Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") Section 382, for which the Company is in the process of completing a study.  In the event that the Company has such a 
change in ownership, the Company's utilization of these carryforwards could be severely restricted and could result in the expiration of a significant amount 
of these carryforwards prior to the Company recognizing their benefit. 
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions.  The 2018-2021 tax years generally remain subject to examination by the 
IRS and various state taxing authorities, although the Company is not currently under examination in any jurisdiction.
 
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted March 27, 2020.  Among the business provisions, the CARES Act 
provided for various payroll tax incentives, changes to net operating loss carryback and carryforward rules, business interest expense limitation increases, 
and bonus depreciation on qualified improvement property.  Additionally, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 was signed on December 27, 2020 
which provided additional COVID relief provisions for businesses.  The Company has evaluated the impact of both the Acts and has determined that any 
impact is not material to its financial statements.  

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
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Purchase of bitcoin mining equipment

The Company has cancellable purchase commitments totaling approximately $27 million related to purchase of miners and approximately $1.5 million 
related to purchase of mining operations related equipment and construction projects as of September 30, 2022, and the Company has paid approximately 
$3 million towards these commitments as of the end of this period. As of September 30, 2022, the remaining commitment for future payments was 
approximately $28.5 million.

Future hosting agreements

On March 29, 2022, the Company entered into a Hosting Agreement (the "Lancium Agreement") with Lancium LLC (“Lancium”). Pursuant to the 
Lancium Agreement, Lancium has agreed to host, power and provide maintenance and other related services to the Company’s mining equipment to be 
placed at Lancium facilities. Pursuant to the Agreement, Lancium will provide 200 megawatts in support of Company’s mining equipment. In addition, for 
a period of two and a half years following the operations commencement date under the Agreement, the Company will have an option to increase the power 
capacity supplied to the Company up to 500 MW or 40% of the aggregate capacity of all facilities owned and operated by Lancium, whichever is lesser. As 
consideration for the Services, the Company shall pay Lancium a power charge fee based on kilowatt hours consumed by the Company’s equipment and a 
hosting fee based on power consumed, subject to service level adjustments and credits, if any. 

The Agreement further provides that through December 31, 2023, Lancium, subject to certain limited exceptions, will not enter into any all-in fixed price 
agreements with other customers with the same or less power draw as the Company that contains more favorable terms for the fixed all-in price than those 
in the Lancium Agreement, unless the Company is provided with the same lower fixed price under the Lancium Agreement. The Agreement has an initial 
term of five years from the operations commencement date (unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the Agreement), after which it will 
renew automatically for two-year periods unless either party provides notice of non-renewal at least ninety days prior to the expiration of the term or 
renewal term, as applicable. As of September 30, 2022, the Company did not have any contractual future payment obligations under the terms of the 
Agreement.

Contractual future payments

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our obligations to make contractual future payments towards our agreements as of  September 
30, 2022:
 
   2023   2024   2025   2026   2027   Total  
Recorded contractual obligations:                   
Operating lease obligations  $ 135,368   $ 139,429   $ 143,612   $ 147,920   $ 50,659   $ 616,988  
Finance Lease obligations   274,651    161,766    21,607    1,853    -    459,877  
Mining equipment   27,000,000    -    -    -    -    27,000,000  
Mining operations related equipment   1,504,093    -    -    -    -    1,504,093  
Total  $ 28,914,112   $ 301,195   $ 165,219   $ 149,773   $ 50,659   $ 29,580,958  

Contingent Consideration

GridFabric, LLC

On August 31, 2020, the Company acquired GridFabric, LLC. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement, additional shares of the Company’s 
common stock valued at up to $750,000 were issuable if GridFabric, LLC achieves certain revenue and product release milestones. On September 30, 
2021, the contingent consideration was re-measured to $500,000.

On November 23, 2021, the Company settled all contingent consideration due to GridFabric, LLC resulting in a payment of 8,404 shares of common stock 
valued at $150,000.

Solar Watt Solutions, Inc.
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On February 24, 2021, the Company acquired Solar Watt Solutions, Inc. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement, additional cash consideration of 
up to $2,500,000 (fair valued at $155,000 at acquisition date) in cash held back by the Company and only payable pro rata to Sellers upon meeting certain 
future milestones and subject to satisfaction of any amounts owing from SWS to the Company resulting from damages required to be indemnified under the 
SWS Merger Agreement. The contingent cash consideration was re-measured to $615,249 at December 31, 2021.

On January 31, 2022, the Company settled all contingent consideration due to the SWS sellers, resulting in a payment of $625,000, 77,500 shares of 
common stock released out of escrow to the SWS sellers, and SWS sellers releasing 232,518 shares of common stock back the Company. 

Legal contingencies

From time to time we may be subject to litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues a liability when a loss is considered 
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. When a material loss contingency is reasonably possible but not probable, the Company does not 
record a liability, but instead discloses the nature and the amount of the claim, and an estimate of the loss or range of loss, if such an estimate can be made. 
Legal fees are expensed as incurred. Based on the opinion of legal counsel and other factors, management believes that the final disposition of these 
existing matters will not have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows of the Company. The 
Company has identified certain claims as a result of which a loss may be incurred, but in the aggregate the loss is expected to be insignificant. This 
assessment is based on our current understanding of relevant facts and circumstances. As such, our view of these matters is subject to inherent uncertainties 
and may change in the future. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the determination as to whether an exposure is 
reasonably estimable. Actual outcomes of these legal and regulatory proceedings may materially differ from our current estimates. For other claims 
regarding proceedings that are in an initial phase, the Company is unable to estimate the range of possible loss, if any, but at this time believes that any loss 
related to such claims will not be material. Risks associated with legal liability are difficult to assess and quantify, and their existence and magnitude can 
remain unknown for significant periods of time. We maintain liability insurance to reduce such risk exposure to the Company. Despite the measures taken, 
such policies may not cover future litigation, or the damages claimed may exceed our coverage which could result in contingent liabilities..

Bishins v. CleanSpark, Inc. et al.

On January 20, 2021, Scott Bishins (“Bishins”), individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated (together, the “Class”), filed a class action 
complaint (the “Class Complaint”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, its Chief Executive 
Officer, Zachary Bradford (“Bradford”), and its Chief Financial Officer, Lori Love (“Love”) (such action, the “Class Action”). The Class Complaint 
alleged that, between December 31, 2020 and January 14, 2021, the Company, Bradford, and Love “failed to disclose to investors: (1) that the Company 
had overstated its customer and contract figures; (2) that several of the Company’s recent acquisitions involved undisclosed related party transactions; and 
(3) that, as a result of the foregoing, Defendants’ positive statements about the Company’s business, operations, and prospects were materially misleading 
and/or lacked a reasonable basis.” The Class Complaint sought: (a) certification of the Class, (b) an award of compensatory damages to the Class, and (c) 
an award of reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Class in the litigation.

On December 2, 2021, the Court appointed Darshan Hasthantra as lead Plaintiff (together, with Bishins, the “Plaintiffs”), and Glancy, Prongay and Murray 
LLP as class counsel.

Hasthantra filed an Amended Complaint on February 28, 2022 (the “Amended Class Complaint”).  In the Amended Class Complaint, Love is no longer a 
defendant and S. Matthew Schultz (“Schultz”) has been added as a defendant (the Company, Bradford and Schultz, collectively, the “Defendants”).  The 
Amended Class Complaint alleges that, between December 10, 2020 and August 16, 2021 (the “Class Period”), Defendants made material misstatements 
and omissions regarding the Company’s acquisition of ATL Data Centers, Inc. (“ATL”) and its anticipated expansion of bitcoin mining operations. In 
particular, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants: (1) were misleading in their various public announcements related to the timeline for expanding ATL’s mining 
capacity; and (2) failed to disclose other material conditions purportedly related to the Company’s acquisition of ATL, including that an ATL predecessor 
had filed for bankruptcy about six months prior to the acquisition, that another bitcoin miner had declined to acquire ATL, and that 
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a related party had performed an audit of ATL for the Company. The Amended Class Complaint seeks: (a) certification of the Class, (b) an award of 
compensatory damages to the Class, and (c) an award of reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Class in the litigation.

To date, no class has been certified in the Class Action.

The Company filed its Motion to Dismiss on April 28, 2022.  The Motion to Dismiss seeks dismissal of all claims asserted in the Amended Class 
Complaint with prejudice and without leave to amend on the grounds that Plaintiffs fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Sections 
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Plaintiffs filed their opposition on June 27, 2022.  
Defendants’ reply in further support of their Motion to Dismiss was filed on August 11, 2022.  The parties are awaiting a decision or oral argument on the 
Motion to Dismiss. 

Although the ultimate outcome of the Class Action cannot be determined with certainty, the Company stands behind all of its prior statements and 
disclosures and believes that the claims raised in the Amended Class Complaint and the Class Complaint are entirely without merit. The Company intends 
to both defend itself vigorously against these claims and to vigorously prosecute any counterclaims.

Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ allegations’ lack of merit, however, the Class Action may distract the Company and cost the Company’s management time, 
effort and expense to defend against the claims made in the Amended Class Complaint. Notwithstanding the Company’s belief that the Company and its 
management have complied with all of their obligations under applicable securities regulations, no assurance can be given as to the outcome of the Class 
Action, and in the event the Company does not prevail in such action, the Company, its business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected.

Ciceri, derivatively on behalf of CleanSpark, Inc., v. Bradford, Love, Schultz, Beynon, McNeill, and Wood (consolidated with Perna, derivatively 
on behalf of CleanSpark, Inc., v. Bradford, Love, Schultz, Beynon, McNeill, and Wood)

On May 26, 2021, Andrea Ciceri (“Ciceri”), derivatively on behalf of CleanSpark, Inc., filed a verified shareholder derivative action (the “Ciceri Derivative 
Action”) in the United States District Court in the District of Nevada against Chief Executive Officer, Zachary Bradford (“Bradford”), Chief Financial 
Officer, Lori Love (“Love”) and Directors Matthew Schultz, Roger Beynon, Larry McNeill and Tom Wood (Bradford, Love and Directors collectively 
referred to as “Ciceri Derivative Defendants.”) On June 22, 2021, Mark Perna (“Perna”) (Ciceri, Perna, and Ciceri Derivative Defendants collectively 
referred to as the “Parties”) filed a verified shareholder derivative action (the “Perna Derivative Action”) in the same Court against the same Ciceri 
Derivative Defendants, making substantially similar allegations. On June 29, 2021, the Court consolidated the Ciceri Derivative Action with the Perna 
Derivative Action in accordance with a stipulation among the parties (the consolidated case referred to as the “Derivative Action”). The Derivative Action 
alleges that Ciceri Derivative Defendants: (1) made materially false and misleading public statements about the Company’s business and prospects; (2) did 
not maintain adequate internal controls; and (3) did not disclose several related party transactions benefitting insiders, questionable uses of corporate assets, 
and excessive compensation. The claims asserted against all Ciceri Derivative Defendants include breach of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of 
control, gross mismanagement, and waste of corporate assets. A claim for contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities and Exchange Act is 
asserted against only Bradford and Love. The Derivative Action seeks declaratory relief, monetary damages, and imposition of adequate corporate 
governance and internal controls. Plaintiffs were given the opportunity to submit an Amended Complaint by November 25, 2021, but elected not to. In 
January 2022, the Parties agreed to stay the entirety of the case pending the outcome of the Motion to Dismiss in the Class Action.  Any of the Parties may 
also terminate the stay on 20 days’ notice.

Although the ultimate outcome of the Derivative Action cannot be determined with certainty, the Company stands behind all of its prior statements and 
disclosures, and believes that the claims raised in that case are entirely without merit. The Company intends to both defend itself vigorously against these 
claims and to vigorously prosecute any counterclaims.

Notwithstanding the Derivative Action’s lack of merit, however, it may distract the Company and cost the Company’s management time, effort and expense
to defend against the claims. Notwithstanding the Company’s belief that the 
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Company and its management have complied with all of their obligations under applicable securities regulations, no assurance can be given as to the 
outcome of the Derivative Action, and in the event the Company does not prevail in such action, the Company, its business, financial condition and results 
of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Solar Watt Solutions, Inc., v. Pathion, Inc.

On January 6, 2022, Solar Watt Solutions, Inc., (“SWS”) filed suit in the Superior Court of the State of California in the County of Santa Clara against 
Pathion, Inc., (“Pathion”) for breach of contract, conversion, unjust enrichment and negligent misrepresentation.  Prior to its acquisition by the Company, 
SWS paid Pathion $418,606 for solar batteries and related equipment for delivery in August 2019, later amended to November 2019. Pathion never 
delivered any of the items purchased by SWS. Pathion’s breach resulted in SWS being unable to complete a separate contract and cost the end-user client 
over $15,000 per month in electricity costs.  SWS is seeking an award of compensatory damages totaling over $500,000. Pathion filed an answer on or 
around February 16, 2022, generally denying the claims asserted by SWS.  SWS served discovery on Pathion in May 2022; Pathion did not serve 
responses. Accordingly, SWS filed a Motion for Order Establishing Admissions and for Sanctions on July 25, 2022, and was awarded $1,750 in sanctions.  
The parties are currently engaged in discovery process. 

 
Darfon America Corp., etc. vs. CleanSpark, Inc., etc., et al.
 
On August 18, 2022, Darfon America Corp filed a breach of contract suit in connection with a purchase contract for batteries. In short, Plaintiff contends 
that the Company ordered batteries and did not pay for them.  Plaintiff is seeking $5.4 million in damages and additional costs and fees. The Company 
contends, among other things, that the batteries did not meet the necessary specifications. This case is in a very early stage as discovery has only just 
commenced.  The Company is confident in its legal position and does not anticipate a loss.  

16. MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND VENDORS

The bitcoin mining business had the following customers that represented more than 10% of revenue. For these purposes customers are defined as the 
Company’s mining pool operators.
 

 Year Ended  
   September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  

Mining Pool Operator A   0.02 %  55.72 %
Mining Pool Operator B   99.98 %  44.28 %

 
The Company had the following significant suppliers of mining equipment.
 
 Year Ended  

   September 30, 2022   September 30, 2021  
Vendor A   75.57 %  49.90 %
Vendor B   21.05 %  2.80 %
Vendor C   1.68 %  37.44 %
 

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We have evaluated events occurring between the end of the most recent fiscal year and the date the financial statements were issued through December 14, 
2022. There were no material subsequent events except as disclosed below:

Mawson Purchase Agreement

On October 8, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of a lease for approximately 16.35 acres of real property located in Sandersville, Washington 
County, Georgia (the “Property”), all personal property located on the Property and 6,349 application-specific integrated circuit miners (the “ASICs”) from 
subsidiaries of Mawson Infrastructure Group, Inc. a Delaware corporation (“Mawson”), who is the selling shareholder named herein (the “Mawson 
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Transaction”), all pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 8, 2022 (the “Purchase Agreement”) and an Equipment Purchase and Sale 
Agreement dated September8, 2022.
  
The Company paid the following consideration to Mawson for the Property: (i) $13.5 million in cash; (ii) 1,590,175 shares (the “Closing Shares”) of our 
common stock, par value $0.001 per share (which had a value of approximately
$4.8 million based upon the closing price of the common stock on October 7, 2022), and (iii) $6.5 million in seller financing in the form of a promissory 
note. We also agreed to pay up to $9.02 million in cash within 15 days of the closing for the ASICs.
 
The following additional consideration may be payable to Mawson following the closing:

 •     up to 1,100,890 shares of our common stock (the “Earn-out Shares” and, together with the Closing Shares, the “Company Shares”) (which have 
a value of approximately $3.3 million based upon the closing price of our common stock on October 7, 2022), based upon the number of modular 
data centers on the Property occupied by Mawson being emptied and made available for our use; and
  
•     up to an additional $2.0 million in a seller-financed earn-out payable at least 60 days post-closing if we are able to utilize at least an additional 
150 MW of power on the Property by the six month anniversary of the closing.

Disposal of Certain Energy Assets

On November 18, 2022, the Company completed the sale of certain assets of its discontinued energy business.   The transaction involved the sale of certain 
software rights and assets for approximately $2.75 million.

 At-the-Market Equity Issuances

Subsequent to September 30, 2022, the Company issued 14,481,208 common shares in relation to equity raises through its At-the-Market offering facility, 
net of offering costs, for net proceeds of approximately $41,344,000.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal 
controls over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report (under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)). Based on that assessment, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures is expressed at a level of reasonable assurance because management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no 
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.
  
MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and CFO and effected by our Board, 
management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting include policies and 
procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our Board and 
management; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that 
could have a material effect on our financial statements.
 
Under the supervision and participation of our management, including our CEO, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting based on the framework set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this evaluation under the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our management 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30, 2022.
 
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report by MaloneBailey, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding internal 
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC 
that permit us to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
 
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred 
during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.
 
INHERENT LIMITATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness for future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. No evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances 
of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.  
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

None. 
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PART III

Item 10 – Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

Information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.

Item 11 – Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.

Item 12 – Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.

Item 13 – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.

Item 14 – Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  

(a)  

1. Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on 
page F-2.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Schedules are not submitted because they are not applicable or not required under Regulation S-X or because 
the required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The information called for by this Item is incorporated by reference from the 
Index to Exhibits included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

  
 Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit Filing Date  Filing Date  

Filed 
Herewith

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between the 
Company and Pioneer Critical Power, Inc., dated 
January 22, 2019

 8-K

 000-53498  2.1  January 24, 2019

   

2.2 †  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 9, 
2020, by and among CleanSpark, Inc., ATL Data 
Centers LLC, CLSK Merger Sub, LLC and the Sellers

 8-K

 001-39187  2.1  December 10, 2020

   

3.1  Articles of Incorporation, dated October 9, 1987  10-12G  000-53498  3.1  November 17, 2008    
3.2  Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, dated October 

9, 1987
 10-12G

 000-53498  3.1A  November 17, 2008
   

3.3  Bylaws, dated October 15, 1987  10-12G  000-53498  3.2  November 17, 2008    
3.4  Amended Bylaws, dated February 5, 2013  8-K  000-53498  3.1  February 12, 2013    
3.5  Certificate of Change, dated February 26, 2013  8-K  000-53498  3.1  February 26, 2013    
3.6  Article of Merger, dated November 14, 2021  8-K  000-53498  3.1  December 1, 2014    
3.7  Certificate of Amendment, dated April 15, 2015  8-K  000-53498  3.1  April 16, 2015    
3.8  Certificate of Designation, dated April 15, 2015  8-K  000-53498  3.2  April 16, 2015   
3.9  Certificate of Change, dated May 6, 2015  8-K  000-53498  3.1  May 13, 2015   
3.10  Article of Merger, dated October 31, 2016  8-K  000-53498  3.1  November 14, 2016   
3.11  Certificate of Designation, dated April 16, 2019  8-K  000-53498  3.1  April 18, 2019   
3.12  Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, 

dated August 9, 2019
 DEF 14C

 000-53498  Appendix A  July 12, 2019
  

3.13  Amendment to Certificate of Designation, dated October 
9, 2019

 8-K
 000-53498  3.1  October 9, 2019

  

3.14  Certificate of Change, dated December 4, 2019  8-K  000-53498  3.1  December 10, 2019   
3.15  Certificate of Withdrawal of Series B Preferred Stock 

Certificate of Designation, dated March 10, 2020
 8-K

 001-39187  3.1  March 10, 2020
  

3.16  Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation 
of CleanSpark, Inc., dated October 2, 2020

 DEF 14C
 000-53498  Appendix A  July 28, 2020

  

3.17  Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation 
of CleanSpark, Inc., dated March 16, 2021.

 8-K
 001-39187  3.1  March 18, 2021 

  

3.18  First Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of 
CleanSpark, Inc., dated September 17, 2021 

 8-K 
 001-39187  3.1  September 17, 2021 
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000043/ex2_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000458/ex2_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000107878208001626/smartdata10110408ex301.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000107878208001626/smartdata10110408ex301a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000107878208001626/smartdata10110408ex302.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000107878213000280/f8k020613_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000107878213000381/f8k022513_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000125529414001243/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000125529415000289/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000125529415000253/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000125529415000289/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357716000380/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000170/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000305/mainbody.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000370/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000416/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000062/ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000241/clsk_def14c.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000110465921038067/tm219449d5_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357721000508/ex3_1.htm


 
3.19  First Amended and Restated Bylaws of CleanSpark, 

Inc., 2017 Incentive Plan, dated September 17, 2021 
 8-K 

 001-39187  3.2  September 17, 2021 
  

4.1  Description of Registered Securities          X
10.1+  CleanSpark, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan  S-8  333-218831  10.12  June 19, 2017   
10.4  Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, 

dated January 22, 2019
 8-K

 000-53498  10.2  January 24, 2019
  

10.5  Indemnity Agreement, dated January 22, 2019  8-K  000-53498  10.3  January 24, 2019   
10.6  Contract Manufacturing Agreement, dated January 22, 

2019
 8-K

 000-53498  10.4  January 24, 2019
  

10.9†  Memorandum of Understanding, dated as of November 
5, 2019

 8-K
 000-53498  10.1  November 12, 2019

  

10.10  Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 
6, 2019

 8-K
 000-53498  10.2  November 12, 2019

  

10.16  Promissory Note, dated as of May 7, 2020  8-K  001-39187  10.1  May 20, 2020   
10.17+  First Amendment to CleanSpark, Inc. 2017 Equity 

Incentive Plan, dated as of October 7, 2020
 DEF 14C

 000-53498  Appendix B  July 28, 2020
  

10.21+  Employment Agreement, entered into by and between 
CleanSpark, Inc. and Zachary K. Bradford, dated 
October 26, 2020

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  October 28, 2020

  

10.25+  Employment Agreement, entered into by and between 
CleanSpark, Inc. and S. Matthew Schultz, dated October 
26, 2020

 8-K

 001-39187  10.5  October 28, 2020

  

10.26†  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 23, 
2021, by and among CleanSpark, Inc., CLSK SWS 
Merger Sub, Inc., Solar Watt Solutions, Inc., and the 
Sellers.

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  February 24, 2021

  

10.27  Non-Fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement 
between CleanSpark, Inc. and Bitmain Technologies 
Limited, dated April 14, 2021 

 10-Q 

 001-39187  10.1  May 6, 2021 

  

10.28  Form of Hardware Purchase & Sales Agreement  10-Q  001-39187  10.2  May 6, 2021   
10.29  Form of Future Sales Agreement  10-Q  001-39187  10.3  May 6, 2021   
10.30  Form of Agreement for Sale of Equipment  10-Q  001-39187  10.4  May 6, 2021   
10.31+  Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between 

CleanSpark, Inc. and Zachary K. Bradford, dated April 
16, 2021 

 10-Q 

 001-39187  10.5  May 6, 2021

  

10.33+  Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between 
CleanSpark, Inc. and S. Matthew Schultz, dated April 
16, 2021 

 10-Q 

 001-39187  10.7  May 6, 2021

  

10.34  At the Market Offering Agreement, dated June 3, 2021, 
between CleanSpark, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., 
LLC

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  June 3, 2021

  

10.37†  Coinmint Collection Mining Services Agreement, by 
and between CleanBlok, Inc. and Coinmint, LLC date 
July 8, 2021 

 10-Q

 001-39187  10.11  August 16, 2021 

  

10.39+  Second Amendment to CleanSpark, Inc. 2017 Incentive 
Plan, dated September 17, 2021

 8-K 
 001-39187  10.1  September 17, 2021

  

10.40†  Electrical Services Agreement between CleanBlok, Inc. 
and Georgia Power Company, dated October 1, 2021 

 10-K
 001-39187  10.40  December 14, 2021

  

10.41  Form of Future Sales and Purchase Agreement  10-K  001-39187  10.41  December 14, 2021   
10.42  Lease Agreement, by and between CleanSpark, Inc. and 

ANC Corporate 
 10-K

 001-39187  10.42  December 14, 2021
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357721000508/ex3_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357717000194/ex10_12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000043/ex2_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000043/ex2_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000043/ex2_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000394/ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357719000394/ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000156/ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000241/clsk_def14c.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/827876/000166357720000389/ex10_1.htm
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  Center & Paseo Verde, LLC, dated August 26, 2021           
10.43  Employment Agreement with Chief Financial 

Officer dated December 15, 2021
 10-Q

 001-39187  10.3  February 9, 2022
  

10.44  Master Equipment Financing Agreement by and 
between CleanSpark, Inc. and Trinity Capital Inc. 
dated as of April 22, 2022

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  April 26, 2022

  

10.45  Form of Equipment Financing Schedule by and 
between CleanSpark, Inc. and Trinity Capital Inc.

 8-K
 001-39187  10.2  April 26, 2022

  

10.46  Hosting Agreement by and between CleanSpark, 
Inc. and Lancium LLC, dated as of March 29, 
2022

 10-Q

 001-39187  10.3  May 10, 2022

  

10.47  Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between 
CSRE Properties Washington, LLC, SPRE 
Commercial Group, Inc. F/K/A, WAHA, Inc. and 
WAHA Technologies, Inc., dated as of August 5, 
2022

 10-Q

 001-39187  10.3  August 10, 2022

  

10.48  Equipment Purchase and Sale Agreement by and 
between CleanSpark DW, LLC and WAHA 
Technologies, Inc., dated as of August 5, 2022

 10-Q

 001-39187  10.4  August 10, 2022

  

10.49  First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement 
by and between CSRE Properties Washington, 
LLC and SPRE Commercial Group, Inc. f/k/a 
WAHA, Inc., dated as of August 17, 2022

 

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  August 23, 2022

  

10.50  Sales and Purchase Agreement entered into by and 
between the CleanSpark, Inc. and Crypt Solutions, 
Inc. on September 1, 2022

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  September 7, 2022

  

10.51  Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of 
September 8, 2022, by and among CSRE 
Properties Sandersville, LLC, Luna Squares LLC, 
Mawson Infrastructure Group, Inc. and the 
Company

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1†  September 9, 2022

  

10.52  Equipment Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as 
of September 8, 2022, by and among CleanSpark 
GLP, LLC, Cosmos Infrastructure, LLC and 
Mawson Infrastructure Group, Inc.

 8-K

 001-39187  10.2†  September 9, 2022

  

10.53+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement  8-K  001-39187  10.4  September 14, 2022   
10.54+  Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Award 

Agreement
 8-K

 001-39187  10.5  September 14, 2022
  

10.55+  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated 
September 13, 2022, by and between CleanSpark, 
Inc. and Zachary K. Bradford.

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  September 14, 2022
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10.56+  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated 

September 13, 2022, by and between CleanSpark, 
Inc. and S. Matthew Schultz.

 8-K

   10.2  September 14, 2022

  

10.57+  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated 
September 13, 2022, by and between CleanSpark, 
Inc. and Gary Vecchiarelli.

 8-K

 001-39187  10.3  September 14, 2022

  

10.58  First Amendment to Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2022, by and 
among CSRE Properties Sandersville, LLC, Luna 
Squares LLC, Mawson Infrastructure Group, Inc. 
and the Company.

 8-K

 001-39187  10.3  October 11, 2022

  

10.59  Secured Promissory Note of CSRE Properties 
Sandersville, LLC dated October 5, 2022.

 8-K
 001-39187  10.4  October 11, 2022

  

10.60  Amendment No. 1 to the At the Market Offering 
Agreement, dated December 14, 2022, between 
CleanSpark, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., 
LLC

 8-K

 001-39187  10.1  December 14, 2022

  

21.1  List of Subsidiaries          X 
23.1  Consent of Malone Bailey, LLP          X
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002

  

      

 X 

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002

  

      

 X

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002

  

      

 X 

101 INS*  Inline XBLR Instance Document           
101 SCH*  Inline XBLR Taxonomy Extension Schema Document           
101 CAL*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 

Linkbase Document
  

      
  

101 LAB*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document

  
      

  

101 PRE*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase Document

  
      

  

101 DEF*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document

  
      

  

104*  Cover Page Interactive Data File
(formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101
attachments)

  

      

  

     
* These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not being filed for purposes 
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant, whether made before or 
after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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 ** The XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, or otherwise subject to liability of that section and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing or other document pursuant to the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing or document.

 + Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

 † Portions of this exhibit have been redacted in compliance with Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CLEANSPARK, INC.
  
By: /s/ Zachary K.Bradford
  Zachary K. Bradford

Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer and Director
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ Gary A. Vecchiarelli
  Gary A. Vecchiarelli

Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer
  December 14, 2022
  
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant 
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
  
By: /s/ Zachary Bradford
  Zachary Bradford

Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer and Director
  December 14, 2022

By: /s/ Gary A. Vecchiarelli 
  Gary A. Vecchiarelli

Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ S. Matthew Schultz
  S. Matthew Schultz

Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Board
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ Larry McNeill
  Larry McNeill

Director 
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ Roger Beynon
  Roger Beynon

Director 
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ Dr. Thomas Wood
  Dr. Thomas Wood

Director
  December 14, 2022
  
By: /s/ Amanda Cavaleri
  Amanda Cavaleri

Director
  December 14, 2022
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Exhibit 4.1

Description of Securities 

CleanSpark, Inc. (“CleanSpark,” “we” or “our”) is incorporated in the State of Nevada. The following description sets forth 
certain general terms and provisions of our common stock.  This description is summarized from, and qualified in its entirety by 
reference to, the applicable provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”) Chapters 78 and 92A and our articles of 
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended, which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
of which this exhibit is a part.

General

Our articles of incorporation authorize us to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share.

Common Stock

Voting rights.  Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted to a vote of the 
stockholders, including the election of directors.  Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of 
directors.  Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the meeting of stockholders.

Dividends.  Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then-outstanding preferred stock, holders of common stock are 
entitled to receive ratably those dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our Board out of legally available 
funds.  We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock.  We currently intend to retain future earnings, if 
any, to finance the expansion of our business.  As a result, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future.

Liquidation.  In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock are entitled to 
share ratably in the net assets legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other 
liabilities and the satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted to the holders of any then-outstanding shares of preferred 
stock.

Rights and preferences.  Holders of common stock have no preemptive, conversion or subscription rights and there are no 
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.  The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of 
common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred 
stock, including any series of preferred stock that our board of directors may designate in the future.

Fully paid and nonassessable.  All of our outstanding shares of common stock are, and the shares of common stock to be issued 
in this offering, if any, will be, upon payment therefor, fully paid and nonassessable.

Preferred Stock
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Under our articles of incorporation, as amended, our Board has the authority, without further action by the stockholders (unless 
such stockholder action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or market on which our securities are 
then traded), to designate and issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to 
time the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the designations, voting powers, preferences and rights of the 
shares of each wholly unissued series, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, and to increase or decrease the 
number of shares of any such series, but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding.

Nevada law provides that, unless such right to vote is specifically denied in the articles of incorporation (including any applicable 
certificate of designation), any proposed amendment to our articles of incorporation that would adversely alter or change any 
preference or any relative or other right given to any class or series of outstanding shares, then, in addition to any approval 
otherwise required, the amendment must be approved by the holders of shares representing a majority of the voting power of 
each class or series adversely affected by the amendment regardless of limitations or restrictions on the voting power of the class 
or series. 

Series A Preferred Stock

On April 15, 2015, pursuant to the authority granted under our articles of incorporation, our board of directors designated a series 
of preferred stock as Series A Preferred Stock, consisting of up to one million (1,000,000) shares, par value $0.001.  Under the 
certificate of designation for the Series A Preferred Stock, holders of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to quarterly 
dividends on 2% of our earnings before interest, taxes and amortization.  The dividends are payable in cash or common stock.  
The holders will also have a liquidation preference on the stated value of $0.02 per share plus any accumulated but unpaid 
dividends.  The holders are further entitled to have the Company redeem each share of Series A Preferred Stock for three shares 
of our common stock if a change of control event (as defined in the certificate of designation) occurs, and they are entitled to vote 
together with the holders of the Company’s common stock on all matters submitted to stockholders at a rate of forty-five (45) 
votes for each share of Series A Preferred Stock held.

On October 9, 2019, the certificate of designation for the Series A preferred Stock was amended to increase the number of shares 
of preferred stock designated as Series A Preferred Stock from one million (1,000,000) shares to two million (2,000,000) shares.

Anti-Takeover Laws

The NRS contain provisions governing the acquisition of a controlling interest in certain Nevada corporations. Nevada’s 
“acquisition of controlling interest” statutes (NRS 78.378 through 78.3793, inclusive) contain provisions governing the 
acquisition of a controlling interest in certain Nevada corporations. These “control share” laws provide generally that any person 
that acquires a “controlling interest” in certain Nevada corporations may be denied voting rights, unless a majority of the 
disinterested stockholders of the corporation elects to restore such voting rights. These laws will apply to us as of a particular date 
if we were to have 200 or more stockholders of record (at least 100 of whom have addresses in Nevada appearing on our stock 
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ledger at all times during the 90 days immediately preceding that date) and do business in the State of Nevada directly or through 
an affiliated corporation, unless our articles of incorporation or bylaws in effect on the tenth day after the acquisition of a 
controlling interest provide otherwise. These laws provide that a person acquires a “controlling interest” whenever a person 
acquires shares of a subject corporation that, but for the application of these provisions of the NRS, would enable that person to 
exercise (1) one-fifth or more, but less than one-third, (2) one-third or more, but less than a majority or (3) a majority or more, of 
all of the voting power of the corporation in the election of directors. Once an acquirer crosses one of these thresholds, shares 
which it acquired in the transaction taking it over the threshold and within the 90 days immediately preceding the date when the 
acquiring person acquired or offered to acquire a controlling interest become “control shares” to which the voting restrictions 
described above apply. These laws may have a chilling effect on certain transactions if our articles of incorporation or bylaws are 
not timely amended to provide that these provisions do not apply to us or to an acquisition of a controlling interest, or if our 
disinterested stockholders do not confer voting rights in the control shares.

Nevada’s “combinations with interested stockholders” statutes (NRS 78.411 through 78.444, inclusive) provide that specified 
types of business “combinations” between certain Nevada corporations and any person deemed to be an “interested stockholder” 
of the corporation are prohibited for two years after such person first becomes an “interested stockholder” unless the 
corporation’s board of directors approves the combination (or the transaction by which such person becomes an “interested 
stockholder”) in advance, or unless the combination is approved by the board of directors and sixty percent of the corporation’s 
voting power not beneficially owned by the interested stockholder, its affiliates and associates. Furthermore, in the absence of 
prior approval certain restrictions may apply even after such two-year period. For purposes of these statutes, an “interested 
stockholder” is any person who is (1) the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of the 
outstanding voting shares of the corporation, or (2) an affiliate or associate of the corporation and at any time within the two 
previous years was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding shares 
of the corporation. The definition of the term “combination” is sufficiently broad to cover most significant transactions between a 
corporation and an “interested stockholder”. These laws generally apply to Nevada corporations with 200 or more stockholders of 
record. However, a Nevada corporation may elect in its articles of incorporation not to be governed by these particular laws, but 
if such election is not made in the corporation’s original articles of incorporation, the amendment (1) must be approved by the 
affirmative vote of the holders of stock representing a majority of the outstanding voting power of the corporation not 
beneficially owned by interested stockholders or their affiliates and associates, and (2) is not effective until 18 months after the 
vote approving the amendment and does not apply to any combination with a person who first became an interested stockholder 
on or before the effective date of the amendment. We have not made such an election in our original articles of incorporation and 
we have not amended our articles of incorporation to so elect.

Further, NRS 78.139 also provides that directors may resist a change or potential change in control of the corporation if the board 
of directors determines that the change or potential change 
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is opposed to or not in the best interest of the corporation upon consideration of any relevant facts, circumstances, contingencies 
or constituencies pursuant to NRS 78.138(4).

Listing

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Securities Transfer Corporation.  Its address is 2901 N. Dallas Parkway, 
Suite 380 Plano, Texas 75093.
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Exhibit 21.1
 
Subsidiaries
      
Name Jurisdiction   
ATL Data Centers LLC Georgia   
CleanBlok, Inc. Georgia   
CleanSpark DW, LLC Georgia  
CleanSpark GLP, LLC Georgia  
CleanSpark, LLC California   
CleanSpark II, LLC Nevada   
CleanSpark Critical Power Systems, Inc. Nevada   
Solar Watt Solutions, Inc. California   
p2klabs, Inc. Nevada   
CSRE Properties, LLC Georgia  
CSRE Properties Norcross, LLC Georgia  
CSRE Properties Washington, LLC Georgia  
CSRE Properties Sandersville, LLC Georgia  
 



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-3 (File Nos. 333-228063 and 333-248975), S-3 (File No. 333-
254290), and S-8 (File Nos. 333-218831, 333-249959, and 333-259917) of our report dated December 14, 2022 with respect to the audited consolidated 
financial statements of CleanSpark, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company 
for the year ended September 30, 2022.

/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP
www.malonebailey.com
Houston, Texas
December 14, 2022



Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Zachary Bradford, certify that;

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2022 of CleanSpark, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: December 14, 2022
  
/s/ Zachary Bradford
By: Zachary Bradford
Title: Chief Executive Officer
 



Exhibit 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Gary Vecchiarelli, certify that;

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2022 of CleanSpark, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: December 14, 2022
 
/s/ Gary Vecchiarelli
By: Gary Vecchiarelli
Title: Chief Financial Officer
 



 Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CleanSpark, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2022 filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Zachary Bradford, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and I, Gary Vecchiarelli, Chief Financial Officer 
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition of the Company as of the dates 
presented and the consolidated result of operations of the Company for the periods presented.
   

By: /s/ Zachary Bradford
Name: Zachary Bradford
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: December 14, 2022
    
By: /s/ Gary Vecchiarelli
Name: Gary Vecchiarelli
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: December 14, 2022
  
This certification has been furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.




